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Always learning

Pearson is the world's leading
learning company. We have 48,000
people in more than 70 countries,
helping people of all ages to make
progress in their lives through

all kinds of learning.

‘WE HAVE THAEE WORLD LEADING BUSINESIES

PEARSON Graphic removed Graphic removed
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iconi global brand
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Finanaial highlights

In financial terms, Pearson’s goal is to achieve 100 3ases
sustainable growth on three key financial goals

— earnings, cash and return on invested capital,
and rehable cash returns to our investors through . I |

healthy and growing dividends. Over the past

five years, we have produced consistent and O
considerable growth on all measures In 2012, _|_5 /
though we performed well competitively in tough O

market conditions, headline earnings and cash
were lower than the previous year Our return
on invested capital was level at 9 1% and we are
proposing a 7% dividend increase.

2012 1011 HEADLINE CER  UNDEALYING 1011 ADJUSTED OPERATING PROFIT
im Lm GROWTH GROWTM GROWTH
Business performance®
Sales 6112 5862 1% 5% (% I ' \
Adjusted operaung profic 936 942 (1)% 1% %

Adjusted earnings

pershare B42p 865p )% O
Operaung cash flow 788 983 (20)y%
Free cash flow &57 7 (15)% o

Free cash flow per share Bl7p %65 (15)%
Return on mvested capital %1% 91% -
Net debt (918 (499 (BH)%

Statucory results

Sales 5059 4817 5% OUR FIVE YEARAECORD
Operaung profit 515 1,18 {(59% Average annual growth in
Profit befors tax 434 1 047 (59)% headhne terms 2007-2012
Basic earnings per share 405p 1196p {66)% Adjusted earrungs per share
Cash generated from + O
operations 96 1093 (1% O
d 4 7%

Dividend pershare 50p 410p Operaung cash flow
*Totad business (tncludes Panguin whuch it nour Y ] o
Pows "3 /
Pearson 5 2011 statutory resutts inch.de 3 £412m prafin on the sale of our S0% stake o FTSE O
[ 1 The 2012 y resuls ndude £113mn dosure ooits related oo Pearton in Pracoce.
Throughout this document Dividend
8) Growth rates are stated on a constant exchange raze (CER) basa onfess otherwase sated

Where quoted underinng growth rites excude body anrency movements and porciolo changes —t o

Sales and operaung profit are stated on a contrwing basis unlesy ocherwise stated O
b) The buunes:performance Metirds are non, GAAP measures and reconalugons (o the eguivalent

staturory heacng under IFRS are iscludedm notes 2 B and 34 to the annual report,
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Chairman’s introduction

Graphic removed

Watchanintervwiew with Glen Mareno
Chairman of Pearson

ar2012 pearsan com

The basic direction of

our strategy is unchanged,
and we are travelling faster
in our transformation.

Dear shareholders,

2012 was a year of significant leadership transiuon at
Pearson Marjore Scardino retred on 31 December,
after a remarkable 16-year tenure as chief execuuve,
and John Fallon assumed the role on | January of
this year

Marjorie’s contribution to Pearson has been defining

» she led the transformation of a tradwional famity
holding company into a modern global enterprise,

» she established a clear company purpose to help
people improve their lives through learnng,

» she developed a company culture — to be brave,
tmaginative and decent — which will be a lasting legacy,

> and she leaves behmnd a thriving company which
has benefited customers, staff and shareholders

We all are hugely grateful for her efforts and
accomplishments

CEQ succession

CEO succession 15 a very importamt board responsibility,
and one that we have been working on for several
years In 2012, the nomination committee spent a
great deal of ume evaluaung candidates and planning
for a seamless handover of duties

We are confident that John Fallon is the right person
to lead Pearson in its next phase of development, and
his leadership over the past few months has reinforced
that confidence

We are now focused on the future development of
our board, which | address in the Governance section
of this report

Pearsan’s transformacuon so far

Over the past decade or so, Pearson has focused
on three fundamental transformations

~

from a media holding company to an ntegrated
education company,

» from a fargely Anglo-American company to a truly
global enterprise,

» from an analogue print publisher to a dignal content
and services company




Graphs remaved

Graphs removed

Section | Overview o5

The drving forces behind these transformauons are
budding They mclude the recognised need for more
effecuve and affordable educaton, especially from
the growing middle dtass across the globe, and the
inexorable yde of "disruptive” technologies which
are transforming education models

These forces provide Pearson with huge opportuniues,
but also challenges

A challenging 2012

As CFO Robin Freestone outlines n his reporton our
financral performance, 2012 was a challenging year for
many of our businesses, offset by encouraging growth
in our newer global and digital nitiatives

These challenges were reflected in our share price
performance, which underperformed our indices

On a longer-term bass, our share price and total
shareholder return continue to reflect outperformance
(See charts opposite )

Transformation and acceleration

As John explains inhis CEO report, the basic direction
of Pearson’s strategy will not change Indeed, our
efforts to transform the company will accelerate

Significant cestructuring (including the Penguin
Random House merger), accelerated technology
investment and increased operanng efftciency wall
enable usto reach our strategic goals more rapidly

As a shareholder, | am very confident about
Pearson's future

All great businesses are based on fundamental
customer demand, and the global demand for
aflordable, eflectve education is huge and growing

We believe that Pearson, as the world’s leading
education company, 1s uniquely posmoned to help
meet that demand ~ and we are rapidiy transforming
the company to do so effecuvely and profitably

We are determined o succeed. and our efforts will
be of great benefit to both our customers and our
shareholders

Signawre removed

Glen Moreno Chairman
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Pearson’s strategy: John Fallon, Chief executve

Graphic removed

u Watch an interview with John Fallon,
Chief executive of Pearson

ar2012 pearson com

As the world’s leading
learning company,

Pearson has a once-in-a-
generation opportunity.

To seize it, we must

transform the company

again. Qur strategy is
settled and sound; we

are now accelerating its

implementation.

Dear shareholders,

| really do consider 1t to be a great privilege to be
writing to you for the first ume as Pearson’s chief
executive | had the good fortune to join the company
16 years ago since then I've worked for Pearson in
London, New York and Harlow and travelled o all
corners of the world as we've built our education
business | ve learned many things in that ume, but
above all that this 15 a very special company, with

a great sense of purpose and many talented and
dedicated peaple

In the months since my appointment was announced,
I've spent a good deal of ume tatking to a wide range
of stakeholders — customers, shareholders, colleagues
and partners - about the company

Faster into digical, services and emerging markets

My conclusion — based on what I've heard in recent
months and learned first hand over the past 16 years —
15 very straghtforward The Pearson strategy Is
settled and sound, and we need to accelerate its
implementation We need to move faster in our
dignal wransformatton, our move Into services and

the building of our presence in emerging markets

OUR STRATEGY

I Four global businesses

We are focusing on school higher educanon Enghsh
language learning and business education We are
taking anincreasingly globa!l view of educanonal needs
and rends

2 Four types of geographic market

We will carefully evaluate when we offer globat
products and services when we custonuse for local
needs and whenwe require a true local approach
We will focus our investment on markets with the
beggest growth appartureues

3 Four business models

We will channel our investment imto four proven
business models direct-toc consumer ‘Pearsen
Inside” {our shorthand for insututional seraces
to schools and universities) assessmant, and

learreng systems




| want to use this letter to explain why we need
to accelerate, and how we will do it

If you've read Marjone’s letters over the years. you'll
be familiar with the key tenets of our strategy and the
progress that Pearson has already made Under her
leadership, Pearson set out to become a world-leading
education company, and that is a privilege and
responsibiity we now enjoy We wanted to make a
radical shift from tradwional print products to digital
and services businesses, and, for the first ume n
Pearson’s history, those now account for half of our
revenues V¥e atmed to become a significant player
in the world's most dynamic educatuon markets, and
Pearson 1s now a meaningful education company In
China, Inda, Braz! and Southern Africa And we've
achieved this transformation while sustaining a
disciplined approach to capital allocation

Structural change in the world of education

This 15 a powerful set of advantages with which to
tackle a changing external enwironment We continue
1o see sigmficant structural change, including a shift
from prnt to digital content and from classroom
mstrucuen te enline learning Spending on textbooks
1s flat or declining, while mobile devices,

Secvon | Overview o7

personalised learning and MOOCs (massive open
online courses) are on the nse Thus shift to digital 1
profoundly changing the business model for content
tt means one-off sales will direresh while subscription
sales, most bundled with services, will grow That
same shift to digital causes considerable change and
conschidation in the retail channel, wath a dramatic
shift to online sales and different sales patterns for
phystcal and digizal formats

'm not going to dwell on the 2012 results here,
because Robin Freestone covers them in detail in the
next section Butin 2012 we saw plenty of evidence

to suggest that those structural changes ara gathering
speed and force In many of our traditional publishing
markets, we posted another excellent competitive
performance Yet the reward for those efforts was
that in some markets we declined at a slower rate than
our rivals At the same ume, we draw confidence from
strong growth in some of our ‘emerging” markets

(We see our fast-growing markets as categories as
much as geographres — they are digital products and
services, learning systems, the direct delivery of
effecuve education and learning, as well as fast-
growing econormes )

Graphe removed
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Pearson's strategy John Fallon, Chief executive
contnued

Graphs removed

Qur motto, as you might know, 1s “abways learning’
and there are some lessons for us to leamn from all
this We have to manage disruption n our tradittonal
businesses while building direct relationships with
learners and leading the digrtal transformation of
education Qur future customers will be consumers,
or learners, just as much as the institutions that serve
them We have (o tit the company more quickly
toward the biggest sources of future demand We
have to work ever harder to help our customers do
more, and better, with less And we have to focus less
on what we make and much more on the measurable
impact our products and services can actually delrver

Global educavon is a once-in-a-generatton opportunty

If that all sounds a little daunting, there 1s anather side
to the Pearson story We think education will turn out
to be the great growth industry of the 2Ist Century

People the world over increasingly understand the
fundamenta! truth perhaps best expressed by
Benjamun Frankhin "An investment in knowledge
always pays the best interest’

The economic returns to education are very clear
For example, 90% of the fastest-growing jobs in the
US economy require a college degree and a college
graduate will earn, on average over thewr career
lifetime, one million dollars more than a high-
school drop-out

Qur growth prospects are also fuzlled by a
remarkable socio-economic trend n this decade.

the global middle class will almost double in size to
more than three bilion people Nearly all of that
growth will be in the developingworid That's
important to many industries but especaally to ours,
because as consumers join the middle class and earn
higher incomes, they tend to invest more in education
— aither to advance their careers or give their children
a good startn life

We draw two conclusions from those kinds of trends
The first s that global education is a once-in-a-
generation opportunity and Pearson is uniquely placed
to grasp it The second is that, to seize that opportunity,
we need to transform the company again




Graphs removed
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Transforming the company again

Digital learrung services now account for around one-
third of our sales They are growing at more than 20%,
but we need to make them a much bigger part of
Pearson Emerging markets are another 15% of our
sales But they already account for more than one-
third of the world economy and are forecast to
produce more than two-thirds of global growth

over the next decade So, we must radically shift

our focus, attention and resources to those very big
opportunities And that is the reason for the changes
n the company that we announced with our 2012
results We need to shift resources more quickly from
textbook publishing activiies, primarily in the
developed world, where demand is flat or declining,
50 we can invest more quickly In our fast-growng
dgital and services businesses, with a special emphasis
on emergng markets

Our transformation includes a focus on four global
businesses School, Migher Educauon, English and
Business Educauon We are taking an increasingly
global view of educational needs, consumer trends
and product development for these businesses

We are applying a new model where we group
markets, or countries, i four categories and allocate
capital accordingly ‘growth’ markets where we see
the biggest oppartuniues, ‘watch’ markets where we
see potential for big growth, ‘'maintam’ markets where
we have good businesses but see more modest future
growth, and ‘drive’ markets where we will work
through local partners to meet those countries’

needs more effecuvely

Our framework also involves shifting an increasing
proportion of investment into our faster-growing and
proven service-onented models They are direct to
consumer, building on the success af iInwatives such
as our language schools mn Cluna, ‘Pearson Inside,
shorthand for comprehensive institutional services
such as our virtual schools in the LS and school
systems in Brazil, assessment and certificauon of
students and professionals, and personalised learning
systems, which deliver indrvidual learning through
systems of instruction combmned with measurement
frameworks and diagnosuc assessment
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Pearson’s strategy John Fallon, Chief executive
continued

An important part of that transformation is the
merger of our consumer publishing business, Penguin,
with Bertelsmann’s Random House, which we expect
to complete this year Penguin has been part of
Pearson for more than four decades Itisa special
company that 1s deeply intertwined with Pearson’s
culture and operavons Butit had become increasingly
clear that, n a rapidly-changing consumer books
industry, Penguin's creative and financial success could
best be secured in combination with Random House,
which we viewed as the xdeal partner This will be an
excellent business and we will be active long-term
partners n it

Another mportant component will be business
education, which we see as part of our once-m-a-
generation opporwunity There s a substantial market
for learning for globally minded, highly aspirational
business people, and if there 1s one brand in the world
that could turbo-charge our ability to capture that
market, itis the Financial Times We are actively
exploning this opportunity

A focus on outcomes

There 15 one other major component to the changes
we are making For decades, Pearson has provided
mnputs into the process of education a textbook an
assessmernt, a course, a qualification We would put all
of those things in the hands of an experienced teacher
or an enthusiasue student In most cases, we would
not be able to predict or measure learning outcomes

Under the leadership of cur chief education adwisor,
Sir Michael Barber, we have spent the past two years
developing a framework and a set of tools that will
change that The Pearson efficacy frameworkis a
unique, rigorous and scalable quality assurance system
that checks that the necessary conditions are in place
for an education programme to deliver the intended
learming outcomes We have reviewed almost 100
Pearson programmes under this framework, and we
are improving our products and services by acung

on the findings We also are now making an efficacy
review a requirement for any new product investment
of $3m or more, and for any acquisition propasal
Over time, this will 2lso improve our rate of mnovation
and inventton

Building on our record of strong performance

Those measures on efficacy complement our more
traditional financial measures and goals but they

do not. of course, replace them We wll build on
Pearson’s record of consistently strong financial
performance, because profits and cash will fuel the
transformational investments that we need (o make
Meeting those financial measures will require us to
make hard choices about where we choose to invest
and what we have to do less of or stop daing altogether

For, 2012 was tough, then there are many reasons ~
cychcal, structural, competitive, consumer led — why
2013 15 likely to be tougher stil Many of our markets —
especially in the developed economies and where we
are parucularly dependent on our more traditional
product models — have been in dechne for some

years now

All this change 1s going to be challenging for Pearson
It 1s ot a revolution Marjorie’s own leadership of
the company was characterised by constant, restless
change However, we do need 1o accelerate that
change - into emerging markets, into services and

in our digital ransformacon — very quickly now

As we do that, we very much appreciate and rely on
the support of our shareholders By investing in
Pearson, you've made an investment in knowledge and
educatron We will be working as hard as we possibly
can to be sure that Benjamm Frankhn's words apply to
your investment, too And we'llbe inspired, too, by
Marjorie’s great achievement —demonstraung ume
and time again that the best and most sustainable way
for 2 company to prosper 1s to meet an important need
in soctety and to do it really well We'll be striving very
hard to live up to her example

Signawure removed

John Fallon Chief execuuve
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Our performance: 2012 financial overview

Graphic removed

Watch aninterview with Robn Freestone,
Chief financial officer of Pearson

ar2012 pearson com

In 2012, Pearson increased
sales by 4% in headline terms
to £6.1bn generating a total

adjusted operating profit
of £936m (2011: £942m).

The headline growth rates were reduced by currency
movements and helped by acquisitions Currency
movements reduced sales by £27m and operaung
profits by £1lm This was the resuft of non-dollar
currency depreciation relative to sterling At constant
exchange rates (1e stripping out the impact of those
currency movements), our sales and adjusted
operaung profit grew 5% and 1% respectively

Acquisitions, primarily in our education company.
contributed £3!18m to sales and £39m to operating
profits This includes integrauon costs and mvestments
related to our newly-acquired companies, which

we expense The disposal of our 50% stake i FTSE
International in 2011 reduced operaung profits by £20m

Qur underlying revenue and adjusted operating profit
(1 e stripping out the mpact of both portfolio changes
and currency movements) declined by 1% and 2%
respecuvely

Qur tax rate in 2012 was 23 1% compared to 22 4%
n 2011 reflecting movements in tax settlements with
revenue authoriues i each year

Adjusted earnings per share were 84 2p (2011 86 5p)

Graphs removed

Cash generation

Headline operaung cash flow dectined by £195m due
to longer debtor days, currency fluctuations and
mcreased investment in new educauon programmes
Free cash flow dedined by £115m to £657m,
addwmonally refiecung from lower tax paymems

Cur average working capital to sales rano improved
by a further 0 4 percentage points to 13 8% reflecung
the benefits from our shift to more digital and service-
orientated businesses

Return on invested capital

Qur return on average invested capital was 9 1%, well
ahead of our cost of capital and level with 2011 ROIC
was affected by profit decline at Pearson in Practice
and the sale of FTSE International (one of our least
capital-intensive businesses). offset by a lower cash
tax charge
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Our performance 2012 financial overview
conunued

Statutory results

Qur statutory results show a decrease of £603m

in operaung profit to £515m, from £1,118mn 2011,
reflecting the absence in 2012 of the £412m profit on
the sale of FTSE International in 201! and the £113m
closure-related ¢costs on Pearson m Pracuce in 2012
Basic earnings per share similarly fell te 40 5p in 2012,
downfrom 119 é6p in 2011

Balance sheet

Qur net debt increased to £918m (£499m in 2011)
reflecung acquisition investment of £759m and
sustaned organic investment in our business, partly
offset by cash generation Since 2000, Pearson’s net
debt/EBITDA ratio has fallen from 3 9x to 0 9x and
our nterest cover has increased from 3 Ix to {8 0x

Dividend

The board 1s proposing a dividend increase of 7% to
45 Op. subject to shareholder approval 2012 will be
Pearson's 21st straight year of increasng our dividend
above the rate of inflavon Over the past ten years
we have increased our dvidend at a compound
annual rate of 7%, returning more than £2 5bn to
shareholders We have a progressive dwvidend policy
we intend to sustain our dividend cover at around

2 0x over the long term, increasing cur dwidend
more in line with earmings growth

Graph remaved

Outlook: 2013

Ve expect the external environment 1o remain
challenging for our developed world and publishing
businesses in 2013 owing to a combination of cyclical
and structural factors pressures on education budgets
and college enrolments, retail consohdation, the shift
in our business mode! from print sales to digital
subscriptions, changing consumer behavioyrand a
dynamic competitive landscape In general, we expect
market conditions to remain favourable for our
businesses in developing econonues and education
software and services

In order to reshape the company to take advantage
of significant growth opportunites, we will expense
approxamately £150m of restructuring costs in 2013
{the restructuring cost will be approximately £100m
net of cost savings achieved in the year) This
nvestment has two objectives

I to accelerate our transstion from print o dignal
business models and from developed to developing
economies, and

2 to separate Pengun activities from Pearson central
services and operations, and to reduce fixed cost
mfrastructure 0 Pearson, in preparation for the
Penguin Random House merger

We expect this transformation programme to
generate approxumately £100m of annuat cost savings
from 2014 In 2014 we intend to reinvest the £100m
of cost savings in the organic development of our
fast-growing digial, services and emerging markets
businesses and further restructuring, including the
Penguin Random House integration We expect these
businesses to contribute to faster organic growth,
WMProving margins and improved cash flow and
capital intensity from 2015 The precise phasing of
restructuring costs and benefits will depend on
uming of completion of the Penguin Random House
combinatron, which remains subject to regulatory
approval and which we expect to complete in the
second half of 2013




Ax this early stage in the year we expect Pearson 2013
operating profits and adjusted EPS to be broadly leve!
with 2012 before expensing these restructuring costs
(compared to 2012 adjusted EPS of 82 &p under
revised IAS 19 which we will adoptin 2013) and
incleding Penguin for the full year

This guidance s struck at the 2012 average exchange
rate of £1 $| 5% and reflects the following outlook

Educauon

In Education, we expect to achieve madest revenue
growth n 2013 with margins similar to 2012

North Amenca

In North America, we anucipate modest growth with
chailenging cychcal and structural market conditions
in publishing offset by growthn digital and services

fnternauonal

We expect our International education business (o
show good growth Austerity measures will continue
to affect educavon spending in much of the developed
world and we expect a slower year for UK examinations
and quahfications However, we see significant
opportunity in emerging markets m Asia, Latn
America, the Middle East and Sub-Saharan Africa —
which together accounted for 45% of our International
education revenues in 2012

Professional

Our Professional educatton business will reflect

the closure of our UK professional training business
and continued growth from our professional
certfication business

FT Group

We expect the FT Group to benefit from continued
growth in digital and subscription revenues in 2013
but adverusing to remain weak and volatile with
profits reflecting further actions to accelerate the shift
from print to digital Mergermarket will benefit from
its high subscripuon renewal rates, with market
actraty hikely to boost its core product offerings

Secuon 2 Our performance 13

Pengun

As previously announced, subject to regulatory
approval we expect Penguin's combinaucn with
Random House tobe completed in the second half
of 2013 We believe that the combined organisauon
will have a stronger platform and greater resources
to invest in rich content, new digital publishing models
and high-growth emerging markets The orgarusation
will generate synergies from shared resources such
as warehousing, distnbuuen, pninting and central
functions We expect market conditions to remain
stmilar to 2012 with a tough environmentin the
physical bookstore channel but helped by good
growth in digital

Interest and tax

In 2013, our net interest charge to adjusted earnings
will exclude pension income and charges following the
adoption of IAS 19 revised and be similar to the £65m
reported m 2012 on a comparable basis We anucipate
our P&L tax charge against adjusted earmings to be in
the 23-25% range with our cash tax rates arcund the
same level

Exchange rates

Pearson generates approximately 60% of us sales in
the US Afive cent move i the average £ $ exchange
rate for the lull year (which in 2012 was £1 $1 59) has
an impact of approximately ! 4p on adjusted earnings
per share
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North American Education

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

North American
Education is Pearson’s

largest business, with
2012 sales of £2.7bn and
operating profit of £536m.

CASE $TUDY

Online learning

Pearson’s pioneering ‘Mylab’ digital learning,
homework and assessment programmes grew
well with student registrauons in North Amenca
up 1i% to almost [0 mulkon, with graded
submissions up 12% to almost 320 million across
the globe Evaluation studtes show that the

use of MyLab programmes can significantly
improve student test scores and institutional
effictency htep //bit ly/ymMMA
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Sales Adpsted operating profic
2012 £2,658m R £536m
201 £2,584m 2011 €493m
Headline growth IX  Headine growth 9%
CER growth 2%  CERgrowih 8%
Undertying growth ()%  Undertying groweh %

Total number of MyLab ;eglstranons

89m
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99m
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tn 2012, qur strength in digital and services businesses
and night cost control enabled us to perform ahead of
our more traditional print pubhishing markets, which
deciined by 10% for the industry as a whole and were
adversely affected by state budget pressures and
declines in college enrolments

Higher Education highlights in 2012 include

In Higher Education, the publishing market declined
by é% natin 2012, according to the Association of
American Publishers Total US College enrolments
were 2% lower in 2012 than in 20!), affected by rising
employment rates, state budget pressures and
regulatory change affecting the for-profit sector

In a difficult trading environment Pearson ganed share
for the I4th consecutive year, agam benefiung from
our lead in technology and customisation

We launched Pearson Workforce Education which
defivers more than 60 online courses in high demand
occupational raing areas from IT and Healthcare

to management and soft skills courses, and Propero,
which combines on-demand tutoring, student support
and online courses to expand access to higher education
and support degree completton

We announced the acquisition of a 5% stake in NQOK
Media for $89 5m i December 2012 wiath the option
to purchase up to an addiuonal $%, subject to certain
conditions This strategic nvestment will help
accelerate customer access to digrtal content by
paring the company's leading expertise in online
learning with NOOK Media’s expertise in online
distribution and customer service This will facilitate
wnproved discovery of avadable digital content and
services, as well as seamless access

Secuan 1 Our performance 15

CASE STUDY

eCollege registrations

Graphics removed

Student registrauons at eCollege grew 3% 1o 87
milllon despite pressure in the for-profit college
market We won new online enterpnise learming
contracts with Cahfornia State University and
Rutgers University Our strong managed
enrolment services and student marketing
product offering, coupled with continued strong
growth at Arizona State University, helped our
online enterpnise learning business to grow 150%
to almost 44,000 enrolments (n November 2012,
we acquired EmbanetCompass for $650 milhon
which provides a full range of services targeted
towards online graduate programmes
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North Amencan Education
contnued

Assessment and Informaten highbghts in 2012 include
At our Assessment and Informaoion business,
revenues were flacin 2012 State funding pressures
and the transiton to Common Core assessments
conunued 1o make market condimons tough for our
state assessment and tezcher testing businesses

The Partnership for Assessment of Readiness for
College and Careers (PARCC), a consortium of

23 states, awarded Pearson and Educational Tesung
Service (ETS) the contract to develop test items that
will be part of the new Enghsh and mathematics
assessments to be administered from the 20142015
school year The assessments will be based on what
students need ta be ready lor college and careers, and
will measure and track their progress along the way

CASE STUDY
Connections Education

Connecuons Education, which operates onhne
K-12 schools in 22 states and a nationwide
charter school programme, served more than
43,000 students in 2012, up 31% from 2011

and broadened its product offering to include
virwwal classrooms for public schoo! campuses
Connections Academy Schools have
consistently high performance ratings.
parucutarly in states focused on measuring
growth n student learning

» We continued to produce strong growth in secure
onhne tesung, an important market for the future
We increased online tesung volumes by more than
10%. delivering 6 5 mdhon state accountability tests,
4 5 milion constructed response items and 21 miflion
spoken 1ests We now assess ora) proficiency in
Englsh, Spanish, French, Dutch, Arabic and Chinese
We also launched the Onfine Assessment Readiness
Tool for the PARCC and the Smarter Balance
Assessment Consortium (SBAC) Common Core
consortia ta help 45 states prepare for the transition
to online assessments

We won new state contracts in Colorado and
Missoun and a new contract with the College Board
to delver ReadiStep, a middle school assessment that
measures and tracks college readiness skills 'We
extended our contract with the College Board wo
deliver the ACCUPLACER assessment, a computer-
adaptive diagnestic placement and online intervention
systemn that supports 1,300 insututions and 7 milhon
students annually

-
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» We won five Race To The Top (RTTT) state deals
(Kentucky, Flonda, Colorado, North Carolina and
New York) led by Schoolnet PowerSchool won three
state/province-level contracts {(North Carohna, New
Brunswick and Northwest Territories) We launched
our mobile PowerSchoo! applicauons and grew our
thurd-party partner ecosystem to over 50 partners
PowerSchool supports more than 12 million students,
up more than 20% on 2011 while Schoolnet supports
8 3 midlion students, up almost 160% on 2011

-

Our chnical assessment business was boosted by
strong growth at AlMSweb, our progress monitoring
service which enables early intervention and
remediation for struggling students AlMSweb
delivered 58 million assessments in 2012, up 12%

School highlights 1n 2012 include

In School, the textbook publishing market declined
15% 1 2012, according to the Assocauon of American
Publishers There were several pressures on the
ndustry including weakness in state budgets, a lower
new adoption opportunity {total opportunity of
$380m 1n 2012 aganst $650m in 2011) and delays

in purchasing decisions during the transinon to the
new Common Core standards

-

CASE STUDY

-
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Pearson ganed share in very tough market conditions,
taking an estmated 31% of new adoptions where we
competed enVisionMATH conunued to perform
strongly, with a recent What Works Cleaning House
study showing that students using the programme
outperformed peers by between spc and erght
percenulesin maths across a broad range of student
populavions 1Lit, our new digual reading intervenuon
programme, was successfully implemented in 20
drstricts with early results showing strong reading gans

Graphics removed

OpenClass

COpenClass, Pearson’s free learning management
system, has been installed by almost 1,300 K-12

and college insututions in the US and now serves
approximately 100,000 users In November 2012,
we launched Project Blue Sky, a cloud-based content
service that allows collegé mstructors to combine
Open Educauonal Resources (OER) with instructor-
created and Pearson content
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International Education

Our businesses in emerging
markets continued to
perform strongly, supported
by good enrolment trends
and sustained investment.

CASE STUDY

Businesses iIn China

In China, student enrolments at Wall Street
Enghsh increased 15% to almost 61,000, boosted
by good underlying demand and the launch of
ten new centres taking the total to 66 Cur
studencs rapidly acquired hugh-level English skills
with average grade levels achieved nsing by 8%
durmng 2012 Enrolments at Global Educaton,
our test preparaton services for English language
qualfications, increased 6% to more than

I million, through 73 owned and 372 franchised
learming centres

Graphi removed

Sales Adjusted operating profic
2012 £1 568m 2012 £216m
pidll £1424m 2011 £196m
Headhne growth 10%  Headline growth 10%
CER growth 13%  CERgrowth 16%
Underlying growth 7% Undertyinggrowth L%

Wall Street English student enrolments inChina

61,000

53,000

01

012
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Our businesses in emerging markets continued to
perform strongly, supported by good enrolment
trends and sustained investment Qur UK business
was resthent during the year despite significant
regulatory and policy changes across vocational and
general qualifications, apprenuceships and higher
education In the rest of the world, a recovery in Japan
followmng the 2011 tsunami and a strong competitive
performance in ltaly more than offset weak market
condrtions 1 Span

Key highlights in 2012 include

In English Language Learming, Wall Street Enghish
(WSE), Pearson’s worldwide chain of Enghsh language
centres for professionals, opened anet of 1} new
centres around the world, bringing the total number
to 460 Student numbers fell by 2% to more than
191,000, primarily due to the closure of a large
franchise centre in Chile with approximately 7.000
students MyEnghshLabs enroiments grew 60% to
263,000 supported by the launch of our next
generation platform which supports 13 languages

and 43 new courses We acquired GlobalEnglish, a
leading provider of cloud-based, on-demand Business
English learming, assessment and performance support
software, for $90m in cash in July 2012

CASE STUDY
Sistema success in Brazil

in Brazil, we ended 2012 with 533,000
students in our public and pnvate
sistemas (or learning systems) and
added 24,000 students in our two
largest private sistemas, COC and
Dom Bosco, up 8% on 2011 Qur public
sistema, NAME, includes the top
performing lower secondary school in
Brazil and test scores for all our public
school students are on average, 20%
above the 2011 naucnal IDEB standard
for 4th and 8th grade students

Secton 2 Our performance L]

» More than | | mdlion students registered for our
MyLab dwgiat learning, homework and assessment
programmes, an Increase of 18%, with good growth in
school, ELT and mnstitutional selfing in higher education

United Kingdom highlights in 2012 include

> In the United Kingdom, we marked more than
6 3 millon GCSE, A/AS Level and other examinations
with 90% using onscreen technology and more than
3 8 million test scripts for over half a million pupils
taking Natonal Curriculum Tests at Key Stage Two
n 2012 We launched our Next Generauon BTECS
which are now the leading vocational quatification
on the new funding and accountability frameworks in
schools Our vocauonal qualifications business grew
well with the conunued popularity of BTEC amongst
employers and unwversities and a strong performance
in work-based learning (with registrations now up to
170,000) further boosted by a good performance
from EDI
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Internauonal Education
continued

In South Africa we held share in school publishing n
market conditions which were tougher than expected
despite a year of major curncuturm reform Student
enrolments grew strongly at CT1, up 19% to more
than 10,000 We partnered with UNISA, South
Africa's largest university and the largest distance
learning provider in Africa, to provide 30,000 students
with access to our MylLabs software, digital resources
and custamised eBooks

In Indsa, TutorVista is now managing 35 schools and
its mulumedia teaching solution Digiclass 1s installed

in approxsmately 17,000 classrooms ActveTeach, our
digital learning platform for schools, was adopted by
200 schools serving approximately 100,000 students

CASE STUDY

New online university launch
in Mexico

In Mexico, we partnered with local curriculum
and technology experts INITE to launch
UTEL, a new university enabling Mexicans to
enrol in online degree courses i management,
IT, marketing, engineering and computer
science UTEL enrolled 2,500 undergraduate
students and 4,000 learners in shorter
carporate training or cantinuing professional
education courses UTEL's services arm, Scala,
signed s first contract to provide onling
learning services to an existng higher
educauion Institution

» In the Middle East, the Abu Dhabi Educatuon Councit
purchased our print and digital Maths and Science
resources for all schools from grades 6 to 10, the
American University of Sharjah adopted Mylabs for
four mathematics courses and three science courses,
and we are providing access to digital course content
for 5,000 students at Abu Dhabi's Higher Colleges of
Technology through our Pearson e-texts 1Pad app

Graphics removed
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Professional Education

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

Our Professional
Education business is
focused on publishing,
training, testing

and certification

for professionals.

Sales Adjusted operating profit
2012 £390m 2012 £37m
01 £382m 2011 £66m
Headhne growth 2%  Headline growth (44)%
CER growth 2% CER growth (44y%
Underlying growih ($)%  Underlynggrowth  (54)%

Our Professional Education business is focused

on publishing, traiming, tesung and certfication

for professionals The weakness in our UK training
business, Pearson in Practice, had a significant negauve
impact on our 2012 performance and resulted in our
decision to exi the business Other parts of the
Professional division performed well

Professional testing highlights in 2012 include
Professional testing continued to see good revenue
and profit growth with test volumes at Pearson VUE
up 7% on 2011 to almost 8 milion with Certiport
adding an additronal 2 3 million tests, up 13% on 2011
There were key renewals of the National Council of
State Boards of Nursing contract runmng unul 2019
and the Computing Technolegy Industry Assocauon
contract was secured with Pearson VUE as the single
vendor running through to 2017

Secvon 2 Our performance A

~

We won anumber of new contracts incduding a
ten-year contract to adrminster ali computer and
paper-based tests for the Australia CPA Professional
exams and five-year contracts with the Nauonal
Center for Assessment in Saudi Arabia and the
Natwonal Council of State Boards of Nursing to
provide the NCLEX-RN 1 Canada begmning in

2015 for ten Canadian registered nurse (RN}
regulatory bodies

~

The partnership with the American Council on
Education to develop an online General Educauonal
Development {GED) test aligned with new Common
Core standards has now launched computer-based
testing in 37 junisdicuons

-

Continuing our digital transformauon, we adapted
our booking service for the Driving Standards Agency
(DSA) to work on mobile devices We also introduced
one-to-many biometric matching technology into
testing centres to enhance fraud detectian

Professional wraining

Professional training was very weak with our UK
adult tranng business, Pearson in Practice, facong a
drarmatic fallin demand a5 a result of changes to the
apprenuceships programme We believe this business
no longer has a sustanable model and announced in
January that we are 1o exit Pearson in Practice The
cost of exst and imparment 1s £113m and 1s reported
as a loss on dosure in Pearson’s 2012 statutory accounts

w

-

TQ continues to make significant progress in the
direct delvery of training services overseas In Saudi
Arabia, we extended the contract to operate the
Saudi Petroleum Services Institute for five years and
won a five-year contract 1o run a new Insttute at Af
Khafji In Oman, a TQ-led consortium wen the bid

to provide trasrung to BF, including a wide range of
technical and anllsh language training for 8P workers
as they prepare to open up the Khazzan oilfield for
full scale productionin 2016

Professional publishing highlights in 2012 include

» Professional publishing grew modestly with good profic
growth Inthe US, growth of eBock sales and other
digital preducts and services continued 1o outpace
ongoing challenges in the tradiuonal retail channe!
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Financial Times Group

.

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

The FT Group is a leading
provider of essential
information in attractive
niches of the global business
information market.

CASE STUDY

Growth in digital readership

The Financiaf Times digital readership continues to
grow strongly with digital subscriptions increasing
18% to almost 316,000 and with 3 5 million FT
web app users

Sales Adjusted operatng profict
2012 {443m 2012 {49m
1 £437m  20H £76m
Headline growth 4%  Headline growsth (36)%
CER growth 4%  CERgrowth (39)%
Underlying growth 4%  Undertynggrowth  (7)%

Financigl Times digital subscrptions

“Reflects the absence in 2012
of the {20m 201 | prafit
from Pearson sstake in FTSE
Internaucnat followang its sale.

316,000

267000

Graphics removed

2011

2012
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Digital and services revenues accounted for 50% of
FT Group revenues (31% in 2008) Content revenues
camprised §1% of revenues (48% in 2008), while
adverusing accounted for 39% of FT Group revenues
(52% 1n 2008)

Financial Times highlights in 2012 include

The Financial Times digital readership continues to
grow strongly with digital subscriptions increasing 18%
to almost 316,000 and with 3 5 million FT web app
users The FT's total paid circulation was more than
602,000 across print and online, modesuly up on 2011,
with digital subscriptions exceeding print circulation
for the first ume The FT now has almost 2,800 direct
corparate licences up 40% on 2011

We continued to invest in new products and
innovation, including launching a Windows 8 app and
the FT web app on Chrome for Android, a bespoke
web app for Latin America, a rebrand of the
conferences division, FT Live, with the introduction
of live strearming at key events, and the launch of
GatekeeperlQ, a new subscription service to track
large, retail mvestment platforms

Adverusing was generally weak and volaule with
poor visibility but the FT grew market share wath
maobile, luxury and business education showing good
growth Digital revenues benefited from the launch
of FT SmartMatch, which automatically puts chent
content such as articles, white papers and videos in
front of FT com users while they're reading related
FT news stories

FT Live, our events business, continued to grow
strongly and launch new events including the Global
Commodities Summit, delivering more than 200
events that attracted over 17,000 delegates

We launched a digital portal that offers on-demand
webinars, livestreamed events and social media tools

CASE STUDY
Growth in mobile

Mobile devices now account
for 30% of FT com traffic and
15% of new subscripuons

Graphic removed
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Secuon 1 Our performance 2]

Educauonal services are an important area of
expansion The FT Non-Executrve Director
Ceruficate (in partnership with Pearson Learning
Studio and Edexcel) was attended by over 150
candidates across five intakes FT Newslines, an
annotations tool on FT com that allows students and
faculties from around the world to create and share
annotations on FT artcles. 1s now being used at many
business schools The new FTChinese MBA Gym App,
which features tailored training courses categorised
by topic, has ranked among the top paid-for educauon
apps on the Tunes Store and was recognised as one
of the App Store Best of 2012’ by Apple in China

Money-Media revenues and profits continued to grow
well boosted by a strong subscription performance,
with the number of individual users growing 6% year
on year 10 220,600, and new product launches,
including lgrutes Retirement Research which broadens
Money-Media’s product offering into the investment
industry research sector

Economist Group highlights in 2012 include

In The Economist Group (50% owned by Pearson),
The Economist launched three HTMLS-powered
apps in collaborauon with FT Labs The Economist's
worldwide print and digital circulauon increased by
2% o 1 67 mdlion (at 31 December 2012) of which
150,000 customers bought digtal-only copies The
Economist Intelligence Umit acquired Clearstate in
Singapore and Bazan, a London-based healthcare
research company, as part of its strategy to build a
healthcare information business

Mergermarket highlights in 2012 include
Mergermarket grew well, despite challenging markets,
due to a good performance from Debtwire,
mergermarket, Xtract and Remark underpinned by

a strong offertng following investment in its product
breadth, strong editorial analysis and global presence
We launched severa! new products and services,
including a new mergermarket Andrord app, a
Debtwire Analytics platform in Europe and Policy
and Regulatory Report (PaRR), a global intethgence,
analysis and proprietary data product focused on
competition law, |P and trade law, and sector-specific
regulatory change We also expanded our coverage in
faster growth markets such as Lauvn Amerxca, China
and the Middle East, generating new business and
extending our international reach
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Penguin
Penguin is one of the most Sales — Adused opertrg pofe
. 2012 O53m
famous brands in book o o
pUinShing' known around Headline growth 1%  Headine growth
. . CER growth I%  CERgrowth
the world for the quality of its e

publishing and its consistent
record of innovation.

CASE STUDY

Graph removed

Graph removed

eBook sales % of sales

eBook revenue grew
strongly 1n 2012 and

Graphic removed

accounted for 17%
of Penguin’s global

revenu Q,
enue 1 2%

20H
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In October 2012, Pearson and Bertelsmann
announced an agreement to create the world’s leading
consumer publishing company by combining Penguin
and Random House Pearson will own 47% of the
combined organisauon, which is subject to regulatory
approval and 15 expected to complete in the second
half of 2013 We believe that the combined
arganisation will have a stronger platform and greater
resources to invest In nich content, new digital
publishing models and high-growth emerging markets

In market conditions that remained challenging,
Penguin had a solid year with momentum and share
improving in the second half of the year It also made
several moves to offer a broader range of services to
more authors across more platforms in more markets

Key highlights in 2012 include

In the United States, we published 255 New York Times
bestseliers (254 in 201 1) including No Easy Day The
Firsthand Account of the Misston that Killed Osama bin
Laden by "Mark Owen’, Bared to You by Sylwa Day and
Nate Silver’s The Signal and the Nose as well as new
titles from bestselling authors including Ken Follett,
Nora Roberts, Tom Clancy and Harlan Coben

Strong publishing hst for 2013

Penguin has a strong publishing st for

2013 with major new books from authors
mctuding Khaled Hosseini, Ehzabeth Gilbert,
Sylvia Day, Nora Roberts, Nathanel
Philbrick and Sarah Dessen n the US,

and Jarme Qliver, John Le Carré, Jennifer
Saunders, Malcolm Gladwell, Steven D Levitt
& Stephen | Dubner, Jeremy Paxman,
jonathan Coe and John Green in the UK DK
will launch mere LEGO® utles, including the
LEGO® Play book. and Mary Benry's Cookery
Course New apps for 2013 include Anne
Frank. The Diary of a Young Girl, 'm Ready

to Spell and Poems by Heart

Secuon 2 Our performance 2%

» In the UK, we published 90 Bookscan bestsellers,
our best year on record (and compared to 7810 2011)
including Sylvia Day’s Bared te You, Jarmie Oliver’s
15 Minute Meals, Clare Balding’s My Ammalks and Other
Farmuly and Daniel Kahneman's Thinking, Fost and Slow

» eBook revenue grew strongly in 2012 and accounted
for 17% of Penguin's global revenue (12% in 2011),
and almost 30% in the US (20% 10 2011} We
continued to invest in digital pubhshing programmes,
making eBooks available i new markets including
Australia, India, Brazl and China, launching a number
of digital-only imprints around the world and
expanding our eSpecials list Glabal app sales grew
by more than 200% driven by brands including Wreck
this App, Mad Libs, Moshi Monsters and LEGO®
DK was Apple’s only trade publisher launch partner
for the January launch of the 1Books Author 2 platform
and now has more than 50 mteractive titles avaslable

Graphi removed
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Penguin
conunued

> In Brazil, we acquired 45% of Companhia das Letras,
aleading trade book publisher Inindia, we launched
a local eBook programme and enjoyed considerable
success in commercaal fiction with bestselling authors
including Ravinder Singh and Shobhaa De In China,
we expanded our local publishing programmes in both
Chinese and English with mare than 100 ttles now
avarlable, including a first local language top ten title,
tennis player Lt Na's autobrography, and we launched
our first st of eBooks

CASE STUDY

Pick of the year

» DK performed strongly and grew share giobally led
by our LEGO® pubhshing ist Inthe UK DK
celebrated a number one bestseller with Mary Berry's
Complete Cookbook, which has sold more than one
million copres worldwide BradyGames had
bestsellers with Borderlonds 2, Skylanders Grants
and Call of Duty Black Gps il

L]

Author Sclutons, which we acquired in July 2012 for
%116m, had a good start It s the world’s leading
provider of professional self-publishing services and
broadens our expertise in online marketing, consumer
analytics, professtonal services and user-generated
content In February 2013 Penguin India launched
Partridge, a new self-publishing mprint, in partnership
with Author Solutions

In 2012, Penguin enjoyed bestseller success around the world, including publishing 255 New York Times
bestsellers and 90 top ten bestsellers in the UK Here's a taste of the highlights

Graphics removed




Other financial information

o 101
tm &m

Net finance costs
Netinterest payable (45) (55)
Finance tncome in respect
ofemployee benefit plans 13 3
Net finance costs reflected
in adjusted earnings (52) (52)
Other net finance costs (29) (19)
Total net finance costs a0 (71

Net finance costs reported in our adjusted earnings
comprise net interest payable and net finance income
relating to post-retirement plans

Net interest payable in 2012 was £65m, up from £55m
in 2011 Although our fixed rate policy reduces the
impact of changes in market interest rates, we were
still able to benefit from low average US dollar and
sterling interest rates duning the year Year-on-year,
average three month LIBOR (weighted for the
Group's net borrowings in US dollars and sterbing at
each year end) rose by 0 2% to 0 5% This increase

in floating market interest rates combined with an
increase In the Group’s average net debt helped drive
the Group's higher interest charge These factors
combined with a decrease in Interest income on
deposits and the impact of new notes issued n 2012
created an ncrease in the Group's average net interest
payable from 6 5% to 70% The Group's average net
debt rose by £92m, largely reflecting the acquisition
activity durning 2012

Net finance income relating to post-retirement plans
was £13m i 2012 compared to £3m in 2011 Also
ncluded in the statutory definition of net finance costs
are finance costs on put options and deferred
consideration associated with acquisitions, foregn
exchange and other gains and losses Finance costs for
put opuons and deferred consideration are excluded
from adjusted earmings as they relate to future earn
outs and similar payments on acquisitions and
therefore do not reflect cash expended Foreign
exchange and other gains and losses are excluded
from adjusted earnings as they represent short-term
fluctuations in market value and are subject to
significant volaulity These other gains and losses may
not be realised in due course as wis normally the
intention to hold the related instruments to maturty
In 2G12, the total of these items excluded from
adjusted earnings was a loss of £29m compared

Section 2 Our performance 27

toaloss of £19min 2011 The majority of the loss in
2012 relates to movements in the valuauon of put
options associated with acquisitions in 2011 the loss
relates manly to foreign exchange differencesona
proportion of the unhedged US dollar proceeds
from the Interacuve Data salen 2010

Funding position and fiquid resources

The Group finances is operanons by a mixture of
cash flows from operatiens, short-term borrowings
from banks and commercial paper markets, and
longer-term loans from banks and capital markets
Our objective 1s 1o secure continuity of funding ata
reasonable cost from diverse sources and with varying
maturites The Group does not use off-balance sheet
special purpose entittes as a source of hquidity or for
any other finanang purposes The net debt position

of the Group 1s set out befow

Cash and cash equivalents 1 062 1,369
Marketable securities & 9
Net dervative assets 178 174
Bonds (2.200) (1.955)
Bank loans and overdrafts {55) (78
Fmance lzases 7 (18)
Net debt ~ conunuing (1026) (499)
Net cash classified as held for sale 108 -
Total netdebt {918) (499)

Acquisition activity n 2012, s 2 large contributor to
the increase in the Group's net debt Reflecting the
geographical and currency split of our business, a large
proportion of our debt 1s denormunated in US dollars
(see note |9 for our policy) The strengthening of
sterhing aganst the US dollar dunng 2012 (from $1 55
to $1 63 {1) decreases the sterling equivalent value

of our reported net debt
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Other financial information
continued

The Group’s credit raungs remamed unchanged
during the year The long-term raungs are Baal

from Moody's and BBB+ from Standard & Poor’s,

and the short-term ratings are P2 and A2 respectively
The Group’s policy 15 to strive to maintam a raung

of Baal/ BBB+ over the long term

In May 2012, the Group accessed the capital markets,
raising $500m through the sale of notes matuning in
May 2022 and bearing interest at 3 75% The notes
were swapped to floating rate to conform with the
policy described in note 19

The Group has a $1,750m committed revolving
credit facility which matures in November 2015

At 31 December 2012 this facdity was undrawn
The facility 15 used for short-term drawings and
providing refinancing capabilities, including acung as
a back-up for our US commeraial paper programme
This programme Is primarily used to finance our
US workung capital requirements, in particular our
US educational businesses which have a peak
borrowing requirement in June Ar 31 December
2012, no commercial paper was outstanding

The Group also mamntains other committed and
uncommitted facilities to finance short-term working
capital requirements in the ordinary course of business

Further detas of the Group’s approach to the
management of financial risks are set out in note |9
to the financial statements

Taxation

The effective tax rate on adjusted earmingsin 2012
was 23 {% as compared to an effectiverate of 22 4%
in 2011 Our overseas profits, which arise mainly in the
US, are largely subject to tax at higher rates than that
in the UK (which had an effective statutory rate of

24 5% in 2012 and 26 5% n 2011) These higher tax
rates were offset by amorusauon-related tax
deductions and by prior year adjustments including
those arising from settlements with tax authorities

The reported tax charge on a statutory basis was
£148m (34 1%) compared to a charge of £162m

(15 5% 2011 The increase 1n the statutory rate is
largely due to the lack of tax relief on the loss on
closure of Pearson in Pracuce together with the effect
of alow tax charge n 2011 on the gain on disposal of
FTSE Internauonal

Tax paid in 2012 was £65m compared to £15Im in
2011 The reduction in the 2012 tax paid 1s fargely the
result of the permitted deferrat of US tax payments
into 2013 following Hurricane Sandy

Disconunued operations

In Qctober 2012, Pearson and Bertelsmann
announced an agreement to create a new consumer
publishing business by combirung Penguin and Random
House The transaction is expected to complete in
2013 and, at that point. Pearson will no longer control
the Penguin Group of companses but will equity
account for its 47% associate interest The loss of
control results in the Penguin business being classified
as held for sale on the Pearson balance sheetat

31 December 2012 and the results for both 201} and
2012 have been included in discontinued operations
Also included i discontinued operations are the costs
associated with the formation of the Penguin Random
House venture including provision for the settement
of htigation associated with the agency arrangements
for ebooks

Non-controlling interest

There are non-controlling interests in the Group's
busmesses in South Africa, Chma and Inda although
none of these are material to the Group numbers

Qther comprehensive income

Included in other comprehensive income are the

net exchange differences on translavon of foreign
operauons The loss on translation of £238m in 2012
compares to a loss in 20t | of £44m The Group 15
principally exposed to movements in the US dollar as
a significant proportion of the Group's operauons are
based nthe US In 2011 the US dollar strengthened
anly shightly from an opening rate of £1 $1 57 wo

a closing rate at the end of dhat year of £1 $1 55
Other currency movements were relatively more
significant n 2011 causing a small loss In 2012 the US
dollar has weakened to close at £1 $1 63 and was the
most sgnificant contributor to the increase In the loss

Also included i other comprehensive Income in
20125 an actuanal loss of £122m in relayon to post-
reurement plans This loss arose largely because of
unfavourable changes in the discount rate and other
assumptions used in the actuanal valuauon that offset




the effect of conunuing asset returns and deficit
funding in the UK plan In 2011 the loss of £64m
was also due ta discount rate and other assumption
changes outweghing improved asset returns and
defiat funding

Dividends

The dwidend accounted for in our 2012 financial
statements totaling £346m represents the final
dividend in respect of 2014 (28 Op) and the interim
dvidend for 2012 (15 Op) We are proposing a final
dividend for 2012 of 30 Op, bringing the total paid and
payable in respect of 2012 1o 45 Op, 2 7% mncrease on
20} This final 2012 dividend was approved by the
board in February 2013, 15 subject to approval at the
forthcormng AGM and will be charged aganst 2013
profits For 2012, the dividend 1s covered | 9 times
by adjusted earmings

Ve seek to maintain a balance between the
requirements of our shareholders for a rising

stream of dividend income and the reinvestment
opporwumues which we identfy around the Group
and through acquisiions The board expects to raise
the dividend above inflation more in ine with earnings
growth, thereby maintaining dividend cover at around
two umes earnings in the long term

Pensions

e - - - a=--

Pearson operates a varety of pension plans Qur UK
Group plan has by far the Jargest defined benefit section
We have some smaller defined benefit secuons i the
US and Canada but outside the UK, most of our
companies operate defined contnbutron plans

The ¢charge to profit mn respect of warldwide
pensions and post-reurement benefits for conunuing
operations amounted to £84m in 2012 (2011 £82m)
of which a charge of £97m (2011 £85m) was reported
in operaung profit and a net benefit of £13m (2011
£3m) was reported against net finance costs In
addiion to these amounts, in 2012 a charge of £11m
(201] £}Im) has been reported in operating profit

in respect of disconunued operations

The overall surplus on the UK Group plan of £25m
at the end of 2011 has become a defiaitof £19m

at 31 December 2012 The deficit has ansen due

to unfavourable movements in the discount rate and
other assumptions used to value the habiliues, offset

Secuon 1 Our performance »

by continuing asset returns and deficit funding In otal,
our woridwide deficn in respect of pensions and post-
reurement benefits increased from £141m in 2011 to
£198m atthe end of 2012, this amount includes a
deficn of £26m which specfically relates to Penguin
and has been classified as a hability held for sale

Acquisitions

In May 2012, the Professtonal business acquired
Certiportinc for ${40m Ceruport s based in

the US and is a leading provider of certfication and
assessment programmes in [T and digital hteracy

In july 2012, the tnternational Education business
completed the purchase of GlobalEnglish
Corporation, a leading provider of cloud-based,

on demand business Enghsh learring, assessment
and performance support software for a net cash
considerauon of $30m Also in july 2012, Pengun
acquired Author Solutions, Inc, the world's leading
provider of professional self-publishing services, for
$116min cash The $650m acquisition of
EmbanetCompass by the North American Education
business was completed 1n November 2012
EmbanetCompass partners with leading non-profit
colleges n North America to provide online learning
salutions for university programmes

Net cash consideration for all acquisitions made n
the year ended 3 December 2012 was £759m and
provisional goodwill recognised was £505m n total,
acquisitions completed in the year contributed an
additional £45m of sales and £5m of operaung profit
before acquisition costs and intangible amortsation

Return on invested capital (ROIC)

Qur ROIC 15 calculated as total adjusted operating
profit less cash tax, expressed as a percentage of
average gross invested capital ROIC remained flat at
9 1% in both 2011 and 2012 The impact of lower cash
tax payments in 2012 has been offset by slightly lower
profit and increased nvestment in new acquisiions
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Other finanoial informaton
conunued

Capnal expenditure

Net capital expenditure in the year on property,
plant equipment and software amounted to £152m
The analysis of capital expenditure and details of
capital commitments are shown in notes 10, 1| and
36 of the financial statements

Related party transacuons

Transactions with related parues are shown in note 37
of the financial statements

Post balance sheet events

In January 2013, the Group completed the purchase
of a 5% equity ivestment n NOOK Media, LLC for
$89 Sm NOOK Media i1s 2 new company consisting
of Barnes & Noble's digital bustnesses including s
NOOK e-reader and tablets, the NOOK dignal
bookstore and its 674 college bookstores across
America

In February 2013 the Group completed the purchase
of the remaining minority interest in Tutorvista,

the Bangalore-based tutonng services company

for £17m

Supplier payment policy

Operating companies are responsible for agreeing

the tarms and conditions under which business
transacuions with thew supphersare conducted

These suppher payment terms vary by operatng
company, reflecting the different industries and
countries in which they operate It 1s company policy
that suppliers are aware of such terms of payment and
that payments to them are made in accordance with
these, provided thatthe supplieris also complying
with all the relevant terms and conditons Group
trade creditors at 3| December 2012 were equivalent
to approximately 34 days of purchases during the year
ended on that date The company does not have any
significant trade creditors and therefore 1s unable to
disclose average supplier payment terms




Principal risks and uncertainties

Qur princaipal risks and uncertanties are outhned
below These are the most significant risks that may
adversely affect our business strategy, financial
posiuon or future performance The risk assessment
process evaluates the probabihty of the rsk
materialising and the financial or strategic impact of
the risk Those risks which have a higher probabdity
and significant impact on strategy, reputation or
operations or a financial mpact greater than

£40 milhon are Wdentified as prinapal risks The nsk
assessment and reporung criteria are designed to
provide the board with a consistent, Group-wide
perspective of the key nsks The reports to the board,
which are submutted twice per year, include an
assessment of the probabiity and impact of risks
matenalising, as well as risk mitigation initiatives and
their effecuveness

PRINCIPAL RISKS - IMPACT AND PROBARILITY

~

IMPACT

BRANDI

REPUTATION

PERCEPTION

’
INTELLECTUAL

DATA PRIVACY e
BREACH

TESTING

FAILURES
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We conduct regular rsk reviews to dentfy risk
factors which may affect our business and financial
performance and to assist management in prioritsing
their response to those risks Qur Group internal
audit and risk assurance function facilitates nsk
reviews with each business, shared service operations
and corporate functions, identfying measures and
controls to mitigate these risks These reviews are
designed so that the different businesses are able

to tallor and adapttheir risk management processes
to suit thewr specific corcumstances Managernent

1s respansible for considering and executing the
appropniate action to mimigate these risks whenever
possible Itis not possible to idenufy every risk that
could affect our businesses, and the actions taken

1o mutigate the risks described below cannot

provide absolute assurance that 2 risk will not
matenalse and/or adversely affect our business

or financal performance

EDUCATION
REGULATION
TECHNOLOGY
AND FUNDING CHANGES
ECONOMIC

UNCERTAINTIES

ACQUISITIONS
AND MERGERS

EMERGING MARKETS

" e m o e om e e - — —— s

PROBABILITY
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Principal nsks and uncertainues
conunued

Principal risks
TECHNOLOGY CHANGES

Our educaucn business informauvon and book publishing
businesses will be impacted by the rate of and state of
technological change, including the digital revoluton

and other disruptive technologres

We operate in markets which are dependent on Informavon
Technology (IT) systems and technological change

EOUCATION REGULATION AND FUNDING

Cur US educatronal solutions and assessment businesses
and our UK training businesses may be adversely aflected
by changes in government funding resulung from either
general economic conditions changes in government
educational funding, programmes, policy decisions,
legislation and/or changes in the procurement processes

ECONOMIC UNCERTAINTIES

Global economic conditions may adversely impact our
financial performance

A stgntficant deterorauon in Group profitabidity and/
or cash flow caused by prolonged economic instability
could reduce our hquidity and/or impasr our financal
ravos, and trigger a need to raise additronal funds from
the capital markets and/or renegotate our banking
covenants

We generate a substanual proportion of our revenue
in foreign currencres, partucularly the US dollar and
foreign exchznge rate fluctuation could adversely aflect
our earmings and the strength of our balince sheet

Miugaung factors

We are transforming our products and services for the
digital emvronment along with managing our print inventores
Our content is being adapted to new technologes across
our businesses and 15 priced to drve demand We develop
new distribution channels by adaptmg our product offering
and investing m new formats We continue to monrtor
contraction in the consumer book market to minimise

the mpact of customer bankrupicy

We mitigate | T rsks by establishing strong IT policies

and operaucnal controls employing project management
techniques to manage new software developments and/or
systemns implementanons and have implemented an array
of secunty measures to protect our IT assets from attacks
or faures that could impact the confidentiality availlabiity
or integrity of our systermns

Inthe US we acuvely monror changes through partcpation
in advisory boards and representation on standard setting
committees Qurcustomer relauonshp teams have detaded
knowledge of each state market We are investing in new and
nnovative ways to expand and combine our product and
services 10 provide a superior custorner offering when
compared to our competitors, thereby reducing cur relance
on any parucularfunding stream in the US market We work
through our own government relavons tearn and owr ndustry
urade associatons Inchsding the Assocranon of Amencan
Publishers We are also monitaning municipal funding and the
mpact on our educaton recerables

In the UK we maintatn relavonships with those government
departments and agencies that are responsible for policy
and (unding We work proactrvely with them to ensure our
education, training and apprenticeship programmes meet
existing and new government objectives at the nght quality
Changes in the UK government's funding policy for
apprenticeships aflected the business model for the Pearson
in Pracuice adukt traiming bustness  As aresult in January 2013
we announced that we will exit this particular business We
will conunue to provide training and support for young adults
who wish 1o develop skills and enter the UK workforce
through our quakficaucns and curriculum businesses

The Group's approach to funding 1s described on page 27 and
the Group's approach 1o the management of financial risks 1s
set outin note 19 1o the financial statements




Principal risks

INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY RIGHTS

If we do not adequately prowect our intellectual
property and propretary rights our
compettive positon and results may be
adversely affected and lirmt our ability

10 grow

EMERGING MARKETS

Qur investment inte inherently risker
emerging markets i1s growing and the returns
may be lower than anucipated

OATA PRIVACY BREACH

Failure to camply with data privacy
regulations and standards or weakness tn
internet secunty could result in 3 major data
privacy breach causing reputational damage
te our brands and financial loss

TESTING FAILURES

A comrol breakdown or service faflure m our
school assessment businesses could result n
finanoial loss and reputauonal damage

Qur professional services and school assessmemt
bustnesses involve complex contractual
relatonships with both government agencies

and commeraal customers for the prowision

of various tesung services Our financal results,
growth prospects and/or reputation may be
adversely affected if these contracts and
relatonships are poorly managed

ACQUISITIONS AND MERGERS

Failure to generate anticipated revenue
growth, synergies and/cr cost savings from
acquisitions, mergers and other business
combinations could lead to goodwill and
ntanghle asset impairinents

BRANDIREPUTATIONM FERCEPTION

Our business depends on a strong brand, and
any failure to mamtam, protect and enhance
our brand would hurt our ability to retam or
expand our business

Secuon 2 Our performance

Miugaung factors

We seek to mitigate this type of risk through general wigilance,
co-operation with other publishers and trade associations, advances
n technology as well as recourse to law as necessary Digital nghts
management standards and monitoring programmes have been
developed We have a piracy task force to identfy weaknesses and
remediate breaches We monitor acuviues and regulauons i each
market for developmems in copynight/intellectual property law and
enforcement and take legaf action where necessary

We draw on our experience of developing businesses outside

our core marksts and our exrsting international infrastructure

1o manage specrfic country nsks We conunue to strengthen our
financial control and managenal resources in these markets to manage
expansion The diversification of our International portfolio, and relatve
size of emerging markets' in relaton to the Group further minimises
the effect any one territory could have on the overall Group results

Through our global securttyteam we have estabbshed vanous data privacy
and secunty programmes We constantly test and re-evaluate our data
sacunty procedures and controls across all our businesses with the aim of
ensuring perscnal data is secured and we comply with relevant legrslaton and
contractual requirements We pursue appropriate privacy accreditatons

e g. TRUSTe Privacy and Safe Harbor Seal We regularly monnor regulavon
changes to assess MPact on existing processes and programmes

We seek to minumise the nsk of a breakdown in our student marking with
the use of robust quality assurance procedures and controls and oversight
of contract performance combined with our investment in technology,
project management and skills development of our people

in addwon wo the internal business procedures and controls implemented
to ensure we successfully deliver on our contractual commimments, we also
seek to develop and maintan good relavonships with our customers to
murumise assoctated risks

We alse look to dversify our portfolio to mimmise reliance on any
single contract

We perform pre-transaction due diligence and closely monitor actual
performance to ensure we are meetng operational and financial targets
Any drvergence fram these plans will result in management action to
improve performance and mimmise the nsk of any impairments
Executive management and the board recetve regular reports on the
status of acquisition and mergers

n Qcrober 2002, we annaunced an agreement with Bertelsmann ta
combine our respectve consumer publishing businesses 1n a newly-
created venture named Pengumn Random House The combinauon is
subject to customary regulatory and other approvals and s expected
to complete in the second half of 2013

We mitigate this nsk through the development of comprehensive
processes 1o enable our business units 1o effectively manage relauonships®
with stakeholders, customers, commumues and employees We have an
ongoing process to understand and evaluate potential brand threats and
monrtor and evaluate information about our brand across media sources
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Qur impact on society

We believe our
commercial goals and
our social purpose are
mutually reinforcing.

Across many industries, a strong sense of fundamental
purpose is a characteristic shared by many leading
businesses Pearson’s purpose s to help peaple make
progress in thewr Iives through learning

This purpose informs and shapes our company strategy
and s the starting pownt of our responsibility framewark

PEARLION S PURPQSE

Qur purpose 1s to help people make progress in
thewr lives through learning

QUR FOCUS

In 2010, we defined three key 1ssues as the focus

of Pearson’s corporate responsibifity suategy
Ineracy learning outcomes and contribuning to
competitiveness These three key i1ssues are where
Pearson can make a unigue contnbuuon to people’s
social and economic wellbeing on a global scale

RESPONSIBLE BUSIHESS PRACTICE

Beyond these three 1ssues, we have a wider agenda
of responsible busmess practuce This covers areas
such as nurturing and developing talent and
diversity, environmental responsibility and
supporting the work of the Pearson Foundation

QUR VALUES

Qur approach 1o ethics and how we behave 15
grounded by our culture and values — to be brave,
imagiratve and decert

~

~

-

w

We continue to be recognised in external benchmarks
as a leader in corparate responsibility — a testament to
the commutment and efforts of our people We were
(for a fourth year) ranked gold inthe Dow lones
Sustainability Index

2013 will be a year of considerable change as we
merge Pengun with Random House and develop
our global education strategy

Qur commitment to helping people make progress
i their lives through learning 1s enduring However,
agamst that wider backdrop of change, we will ask
some key questions about our responsibility
framework this year

What are the big unmet educational needs which
we can help tackle?

How should we measure and report the educational
impact of our products and services?

Are the three key issues sull the night ones for us
to focus on’

What commitments and targets should we set
ourselves?

If you have thoughts on these four questions or would
like to play a part in helping us find the answers, please
let us krnow and contact our head of corporate
responsibility at peter hughes@pearson com

Signature removed

Robin Freestone Chief financial officer
{(and board member responsuble for corporate
responsibility)
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Overview

We have developed our own responsible business framework to reflect what we do, where we can have the
most impact and the expectations that our investors, customers and the people who work at Pearson have of us
It s unique to Pearson ltis also dynamic — we will update the framework to reflect how we change as a company
and the views and priorities of our stakeholders

QUR PURPOSE

To help people make
progress i their lives ALWAYS LEARNING
through learning

CUR FOCUS
Three priority Issues I RAISING IMPROVING CONTAISUTING
where we can make the LITERACY LEVELS LEAANING OUTCOMES TO COMPETITIVENESS
most difference
Graphic removed Graphic removed Graphic removed
AT HOME QUR PROGRAMMES PERSONAL FROGAESS
IN THE CLASSROOH CLOSING ACHIEVEMENT Gars INFORMED BUTINESS
WITH QUR PARTNERS SHARIN G WHAT WORKS
BULSINESS STRATEGY ~
LONG TERM ORGANIC OIGITAL FAODICTE AND INTERNATIONAL EFRCTENC Y
INVESTMENT IM CONTENT SEAVICES BUSINESIES EXPANSION

To learn more about our busness surategy visi the Oue wrategy secuon pages 04 i thureport

RESPONSIBLE BUSINESS PAACTICE '

ENVIRONMENT oyt b o rEOME OUR CusTOMIRS COMMUN TIES

Graphics removed

OUR VALUES

BRAVE IMAGINATIVE DECENT
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Our impact on society
continued

|  RAISING LITERAGY LEVELS

The economic and social cast of iliteracy 1s immense -
affecting as many as two billion people - it may be as
high as one trifhion US dollars per year

fiteracy 1s a global challenge affecting both developed
and emerging countnies For example, inthe UK, 22%
of the populauon are deemed as functionally ilizerate,
strugghng wath basic tasks, such as applying for a job
by e-mail or reading thew child’s school report The
cost to the UK alone is estimated at £8 billion a year

Our approach

Raising Iteracy levels s one of our three locus
areas because

» Good reading skils are the basic cornerstone essential
for people to learn

» All our businesses depend on the premise that people
can read and enjoy doing so

» Our mix of businesses means that we can make a
unique contribution to tackling illiteracy

We play a part in three mamn ways

» Our reading programmaes — both print and digital -
are found in classrooms the world over

> For many, the first story that they read or that s read
aloud to them will be a Penguin utle

3 We partner with others to run projects and
campaigns to give books and to inspire reading

Reading in the classroom

We have a full range of reading programmes designed
1o help students learnto read Whether print or
online, whole school or for students that need a lttle
extra help, they all share a commitment to improving
the reading standards of individual learners

CASE STUDY
iLit (inspire Literacy)

it s the first reading programme built and delwvered
completely on the IPad Launched in the United
Stares, it targets readers aged 9 o 16 and supports,
rewards and mstructs based around the needs of
the indmdual reader it 1s currentty avalable for
readers aged |4 to 16 For more information about
1Lit and the research evidence that underpins it, visit

www redefiningliteracy com

Graphic removed

Reading in the home

Enthus@suc readers are inspired by great stores
Our Penguin books for chidren ~ Puffin, Frederick
Warne and Ladybird books - all provide plenty

of options

In this digital age, how we read and wnite may change
radically, but the abihty to do so1s more important
than ever We believe in offering stortes that are
engaging and fun, regardless of format, for parents
and their children to read at home or on the move




CASE STUDY

Ladybird I'm ready for phonics app

Giving a child a reading head-start
before they start school helps

buikd confident readers New apps
such as Ladybird’s ‘I'm Ready for
Phonics" gives parents new ways
to help prepare a child for synthetic
phonucs learning at school

Graphic
removed

Graphuc removed

Partnering with others to eéntourage reading

Tackhng dlteracy demands that we work together inan
open and collaborative way We have focused en
bulding partnerships that extend access to books and
opportunities for shared reading Highlights include

> We gave our eight millionth book under our Booktime
programme which sees every child starting school In
England and Wales recewve a book pack contaiming two
free books to take home and keep

» We Give Books, the digital reading challenge run by
the Pearson Foundauon, exceeded | 5 million books
donated to literacy chanties around the world as
chosen by online readers

> We gave our one millonth book to Book Ad. the
charity that supports the development of ibrartes
in scheols and communities in Sub-Saharan Africa
We were the largest book donor te Book Aid in 2012

-

-

-

-

-
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2 IMPROVING LEARNING OUTCOMES

Our responsibility as a company 1s to play our

full partininforming, shaping and making learning
effecuve for people of all ages, abiliues and locations
This focus on learmng outcomes is a critcal part of
our responsibility vision

In the past, there were himitations on the extent
to which a textbook publisher selling products to
education mstautions could measure their impact
on learnung cutcomes

Our strategy 15 to become an education technology
and solutions provider with global reach As the
strategy gathers pace, so do the opportunit:es to help
understand what works best to help students succeed
We recognie that as we become more drectly
involved in the process of learning, we are more
accountable for cutcomes

We have

Conducted nearly 50 reviews to assess and mprove
learmng outcomes and traned over 100 people in
the process

Run a series of events reaching over 1,200 people

and presented on ocur approach at the company senior
strategy conference and to the next generation of

our leaders

We will

Conductat least 100 additional reviews to assess
the learning outcomas from our programmes
and services

Make 1t a precondition of any new investment of
US$3m or more that it 1s assessed for its impact
on learning

Make a series of commitments around how we will
deepen and accelerate our approach to assessing
learning outcomes

|
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Our impact on soaety
continued

CASE STUDY
Pearson Affordable Learning Fund

A global challenge 1s how we can all ensure that every
child can benefit from learrung, but with over

60 million children not in school, there s 2 need for
urgent innovauon We believe that low-cost private
educauon is part of the answer and that there is

a need to encourage new ideas, models and ways

of working So, we have launched the Pearson
Affordable Learming Fund whose purpose is to make
minority equity investments in for-profit companies
that help meet a burgeoning demand for affordable
educaton services n Afnica, Asia and Latin America
The fund Jaunched in July 2012 wath $15 million of
initsal Pearson capital, and made its first investment
i a chain of private schools in Ghana See more at
www affordable-learning com

Graphic removed

CONTRIBUTING TO COMPETITIVENESS

3

The connection between education and long-term
ecanomic growth is well-documented and increasingly
well understood

Helping indinduals get ready for work

Getting a job depends on having relevant skills As
many countries continue to wrestle with the economic,
social and personal cost of unemployment, partcularly
for the young, it 1s even more important that we help
people develop the skills they need for work

Securing a professional or vocational quakfication
15 an important factor in getung a job We create
and adrminister millions of admissions, tests
cerufications, vacational assessments and general
qualifications including

» BTEC., the vocational qualification recognised by
schools, colleges, universities, employers and
professional bodies across the United Kingdom and
m over |00 countries worldwide

» The Graduate Management Admission Test (GMAT)
the leading test for entrance to business schools and
management programmes worldwide

» NCLEX Nursing examination, required to obtan a
licence necessary to apply for work as a nurse in the
Unsted States

Next Generauon BTECs

Pearson taunched Next Generation BTECs, which
meet new regulator and Department for Education
critera to make BTEC the best represented
vocauonal qualification on the new accountability
framework for schools in England

Sharing knowledge and investing in research

Few companies parucipate in educaton on a global scale
so we have a responsibility to support educational
improvement and to actively share our experience on
models that work and those thatdo not

We have

Mapped current research activity and laid the
foundation o launch our oniine research portal

~

» Convened aPearson Executive Research Councit bringing
together the research professionals within Pearson

-

Launched two publications with intermational acclaim
~ The Learning Curve and Oceans of Innovation
www pearson com/oceans

We will

» Invest in research to help advance education as well
as inform the products and services we develop

» Partner with a range of organisauons to conduct
educauonal research and promote the dissemmation
of knowledge

» Promote open discussion through participating
in and convening conferences and events

» Make research outcomes publidy available via
www pearson com/research




CASE STUDY
The Learning Curve

This year, we supported the Economist Intelligence
Uni (EIU) in the development of The Learning Curve
The tnitiative brought together in one place a wide
range of data sets designed to enable researchers
and policymakers to correlate educaton outcomes
with wider social and economic impact more easily
than ever before As international benchmarking of
educaton systems has become ever more prevalent,
the Learning Curve has the potental to add to

our understanding of what successful educaton
systems look Iike and how success can be achieved
thelearningcurve pearson com

Graphic removed

Conenbuung to debate

We are commutted to playing an active role in helping
shape and infarm the global debate around education
and learning pohcy

‘With the 2015 deadline for achieving the Mllennium
Development Goals and Education for All Goals fast
approaching, it 1s certanly ume to take stock on the
role that education has played and should play for the
future We have joined with a range of organisations
as an active member of the Global Compact on
Learmng Ways we are helping inciude contributing
to developing and agreeing common metncs to
measure the success of the Global Compact

www brookings edu/learmingmetrics

Woe are active participants in the Globa! Partnership
for Education, having been one of the first companies
to jom the initiative and make a pledge at its
replenishment conference GPE brings together over
50 developing countries, donor governments,
international organisations, the private sector,
teachers and civil society/NGO groups to support
developing countries with thetr education sector plans
through financial assistance and technical experuse
www globalpartnership org

Section 3 Qur impact on socety 19

We also believe that the wider private sector has
an important contnbution to make in developing
education and learming policy VWe supported and
helped fund in 2012 the Global Business Coaliion
for Educauon The aim s to help focus the wider
business community on helping tackle the challenges
faced by developing countries to promote learning
hetp //gbc-educauon org/about-us

Doing informed business

The FT Group 15 the leading provider of essenual
information, insight and analysis to the global business
and opinion-forming community Access to trusted
and mformed information 1s the basis on which
businesses make effecuve deasions The FT plays a
unique global role in providing that informauion

RESPONSIBLE BUSINESS PRACTICE

Under the current responsible business framework

at Pearson, we focus on the three areas where we
believe we have a unique opportunity to make a positive
impact — Iteracy, learming outcomes and competitiveness

In addiuion, we adopt a broad and holisuc definition of
‘responsible busmness’ that captures a seres of priorities
that are common across many ndustries and indviduat
companies These include commitments to

-

Deliver against stakeholder expectations on the key
area of chmate change and to seek to make better use
of resources

~

Extend our principles on labour standards, human
rights and environmental responsibdiy to melude
our suppliers and business partners

» Ensure that our products and services are inclusive to
those with reading disabiliues, appropriate in content to
the age and location of the student and are safe to use

~

Provide a safe, healthy workplace, where our
employees are able to realise their awn mdrvidual
potenual and aspiravons and where there 15 respect
for their pnivacy, dignity and life outside work

» Provide opportunites for Pearson people 1o be good
atizens and to get involved i their local communities

MIIANIAD

JINVHYOINII WNO

ALIIDOS NO LOVIWI IO |

IINVYNIIADD I

SLNIWILVLS VIDNYNH |




40 Pearvon plc Annual report and accounts 2012

Our impact on society
conunued

Highlights of our actvities in 2012 include

Environment. Climate change and avoiding deforestation

Chmate change remains a focus for us as one of the
most serious 1ssues facing the planet Minimising our
own environmental impact 1s not just the right thing
to do, it1s fundamental to our future as a sustainable
business and helps deler cost savings

We conunue to be chimate neutral, a commitment
which focuses the company on carbon reduction

Pearson i1s preparing for the mtroduction of mandatory
Greenhouse Gas reporting in 2014 We have just

been accredited agamst the Carbon Trust Standard
globally — one of anly two companies that currently
hold that status

Our second focus area 15 forests As a purchaser
of paper and newspnnt for our books, magazines
and newspapers, security and sustanability of
supply are very important to us We have focused
onactively encouraging responsible forest
management and being more efficient in how

we use paper

-

Pearson was named the 32nd largest purchaser

of renewable energy in the United States in the

US Environmental Protection Agency Green Power
Partnership list We offset 100% of the eleccricity
we use in North America through the purchase

of wind power credits from across the United States
and have invested In 2 project to install solar panets
in schools in Calformia Qur UK buldings — where
we are responsible for purchasing utlines — are alse
powered by green electricity

» Pearson came top in the 2012 Corporate Renewable
Energy Index (CREX) produced by Bloomberg New
Energy Finance We were one of 35 global compantes
to achieve 3 maximum score of 100%

» Pearson businesses in the UK and Australia are
certiied agamst 1ISO 14001, the environmental
management standard

» In the US, Pearson faciliues are focusing on securing
LEED - Leadership i Energy and Environmental
Design certdficavon LEED recognises excellence
in the design, construcuon, and operanon of high
performance green buildings Over 800,000 sq ft
across six Pearson buildings are LEED ¢ertified

» We now have 2 3MW in on-site renewable energy
assets [solar panels and wind) at our faciities

» Pearsen and the FT committed to a $Im three-year
ramnforest partnership in Colombia We also
continued to mvest in Woodland Carbon offsets
offered by the Woodland Trustin the UK and in a
Nature Conservancy Councd forest offset project
in the United States

-

The Financial Times has reduced the volume of
newsprint and maganine papers i uses by over 50%
in five years A key imtiauve has been to reduce the
base weight of the papers used

CASE STUDY

Tom Delay,
Chief Executive, Carbon Trust

“As only the second organisation ;
ever to achieve global certificaton G:’: ':
to the Carbon Trust Standard - remove

by no means an easy task — Pearson
is demonstrating real leadership in
how to measure, manage and reduce
carbon emissions year-on-year”

Qur customers, our people and our communities

Responsible business practice cuts across all aspects
of our company and our focus & te integrate this into
the way we manage our businesses This benefits our
customers, suppliers, the people that work at Pearson
and the commuruties in which we operate

Highhghts of our activities in 2012 are

-

Pearson continued with its programme of Student
Advisory Boards, providing an opportunity for
students to npur and influence our strategy i return
for mentoring and company internships

-

Building on Pearson operations in the UK becoming
accredited against ISO 18001, the international health
and safety standard. a two-year project to review
and update our global approach to health & safety
management was started in 2012

v

Pearson in the US has been nduded in Working
Mother magazine's 100 Best Companies list for its
twelfth year

-

The Pearson Diversity Summer Internship Programme
won the ‘Widening the Talent Pool’ category in the
Race for Opportunity awards




» Providing an opportuniy for our employees to share
n the success of the company through owning a part
of itis mporiant to us Over 37,000 pecple in

98 countries have the oppornity 1o acquire and hold

Pearson shares through participation in our employee
share programmes | in 5 employees participate

» Pearson, alongside chanty partner Bookurust, won
a 2012 Lord Mayor's Dragon Award in the educaton
category for the Booktime programme

» The Financial Trmes seasonal appeal raised $4 89m
onbehalf of The Global Fund for Children, a charity
working to transform the lives of the world’s most
vulnerable children

CASE STUDY
The Pearson Foundation

The Pearson Foundation is an independent charity
that aims o make a difference by promoung Iiteracy,
learning, and great teaching The Pearson Foundaton
15 the charity partner of chowe for Pearson and we
are its major funder Three highhghts from the
Pearson Foundation year in 2012 were

» The launch of ‘Five Things I've Learned’ The
project shares the thoughts of education leaders
drawn from decades of real-world experience
and insights about learning, teaching, and helping
others Available at www thefvethings org

Read for the Record broke two world records
Nearly 2 4 milhon people read Lady Bug Girl
and the Bug Squad on the same day wath almost
400,000 of them reading the book anhne at
www wegivebooks org Read for the Record

15 run in partnership with the chanty Jumpstart

-

-

BridgelT, a partnership between the Pearson
Foundation and Nokia has reached over | miflion
children and ther teachers across ten developing
and emerging countries BridgelT uses mobile
phanes to defiver professional development
materials and educational resources to teachers

Graphx removed
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Values, principles and behaviour

The bedrock of corporate respensibility s the culture
of the company We are defined by our values - mn
everything we do, we aspire to be brave, imaginatwe
and decent

OQur values are underpinned by our Code of Conduct
that covers, among other things, individual conduct,
the environment, employees, community and society
We make sure everyone 1s aware of and understands
the code Once a year, everyone working for Pearson
gets a copy from the CEO enther electronically or on
paper and s asked to read t  Everyone s asked to
confirm that they have read it, understood it and that
the company complies with it 2nd, as a further check,
1t1s mandatory for over 2,000 of our most senior
people to respond to that request The code forms

a part of nducuon and an online traning module 1s
avallable Ifanyone has concerns, these can be raised
with a line manager or through a free, confidential
telephone lme /website

Pearson has a zero tolerance policy towards bribery
and carruption Qur pehcy intreduced in 2011 sets out
our standards, we carry out risk assessments and have
a network of designated managers across the business
responsible for comphance with our policy

We are committed to making sure our people
understand how we are doing as a company, including
how world trends rmight affect both them and the
businesses This means providing comprehensive
relevant wformauon in a variety of ways — including
regular presentations from senior executives —and
consulting where appropnate so that we can learn
and take Into account the views of our pecple

We will always aim to seek the best candidate for
arole career progression will be without regard for
race, gender, age, physical ability, religion or sexual
orentation, and we will continue to momitor and
benchmark our progress on diversity and inclusion
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Our impact on society

contunued

External benchmarks

- [ - e e

One way we assess how we are doing as a responsible business s to mantain our position in key indices and
benchmarks of social responssbility

2001 001 2000 1009

Dow Jones Suscainabilicy Indexes Gold class Gold ¢class and global sector leader

BITC Corporate Responsibility Index Plaunum {retaned} Platinum Platinum {retained)
Inglusion in FTSE4Good Yes

Seven commitments

Last year, we set out seven challenging aspirations and targets to help focus the business on achieving
our responsible business vision while minimising our environmental impact We believe this s a responsible
and sustanable approach We report on our progress agamst these and other commitments as part of our

online Impact on Soctety report at http //¢r2012 pearson com

EMYINONMENT
Challenges Qur commitment How we measure progress
Chmate change Through carbon
reduction, purchase
of renewa ble
To matntain our energy renewable
commautment energy generauon
toclimate neutrality  atour sites and the Graph removed
In 2013 Last year purchase of carbon
marked our third offsecs
year of chmare
neutrabty
Resource use We track the 1otal
2 metric tornes of
paper we use and
To be ever more how that compares
eficientinhow Lo revenue Graph -
weuse ras raph remo
themos;:.ﬂs?:ruﬂunt The paper used per
natural resource £1m of non-hgtal
forus revenue increased
n 2012 reflecong
a shifi to digreat

Sefvices
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Section I Ourmpact on society

1]

Challenges Our comavtment How we measure progress
Avoiding global We track and
deforestavon 3 reportthe FSC
volume we
To use FSC papers purchase and the
where we can and grading systemwe
our own grading use Lo meet our Graph removed
system requirement to
purchase from
known responsible
squrces
SOCIAL

Invesung in content

4

Pre publcauon

expeénditure
and authors
To make sustaned advances
INVESTMENL (M New
content Graph removed
Access o learning 5 One way we extend
bteracy and great our reach is through
teaching partnerships with
To maintain our kteracy and learning
total commurity chartues We
mvestment at report on our Graph removed
1% or more of community
operating profit investment spend
Lieracy Number of books
6 donated 1o schools
ibrares and hteracy
Using 2010 asour chanues
base, 1o expand
our book gifung Graph removed
aAcuvitres
Unlke tradwonal
7 vt
we can track the Graph removed
Growing take-up number of users of
of digital based our digrial reading
reading programmes
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Board of directors

Pearson’s board brings a
wide range of experience,
skills and backgrounds.

CHAIRMAN

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Graphic removed

Graphic removed

Graphic remaved

Glen Moreno Chasrman
aged 69 apponted | October 2005

Chairman of the nomination committee
and member of the remunerauon
commitee

Glen has more than three decades

of expenience in business and finance
and s currently deputy chairman of
The Financial Reporung Counal Limited
i1 the UK and non-executve director
of Fidelty Internavonal Limited
Prewousty, Glen was deputy charman
and semior independent director at
Uayds Banlang Group plc, sencor
independent director of Man Group
plc and acung charrman of UK Financial
Irvestments Lirmited the compary
setup by HM Treasury to manage

the government’s shareholdings in
Brush banks

John Fallon Chief executive
aged 50 apponted 3 October 2012

Member of the nominatan committes

john became Pearson s cheef executve on
| January 2013 Since 2008 he had been
responsible for the company's educaton
businesses outside North Amernca and

a member of the Pearson management
commuttee He pouned Pearson in 1997

as director of communcatons and was
appointed president of Pearson Ine  arole
he combined with s communicauons
responsibilites n 2000 In 2003, he was
apponted CEQ of Pearson s educabonal
publishung businesses for Europe Middle
East & Afnca (EMA) and gradually took
on a broader ntermavonal educason
bref Prior o joineng Pearson, john was
director of corparate affars at Powergen
plc, where he was 2ko a member of the
company s exacutive commutiee Earlier
in hus career John held servor public pobcy
and communications rodes in UK local
government

Wil Ethridge Chief executive
Pearson North Amencan Educavon
aged 61, appointed 1 May 2008

Will has three decades of expenence

n educanon and educavonal publishing
induding a decade and a half at Pearson
where he formerly headed our Higher
€ducavon Internauonal and Professional
Publishing business Pror to joining
Pearson in 1998 Wil was a semor
execuuve at Prenoce Hall and Addison-
Wesley, and before that an editor au
Little Brown and Co where he published
in the fields of economacs and pohucs
‘Wiilis a board member and former
chairman of the Associauon of Amencan
Publishers (AAP) and board ¢chairman of
CourseSmart, aconsoruum of electronic
taxtbook publishers
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Graphic removed

+ Graphic removed

Graphic removed

fom Fairhead Charman of
the Financaal Times Group
aged 51 appointed | June 2002

Rona who has headed the Finanzial
Times Group since 2006 and is a former
finance director of Pearson will step
down from the Pearson board and

leave the company at the anrual general
meetng in Apnl 2013 She previousty
held senior management roles at
specralty chemucals company ICI pk, and
i aerospace with Bombardier/Shorts
She has an MBA from Harvard Business
School Rena currently serves as non-
execybve director of The Cabtenet O fice
of UK government and of HSBC Holdings
pic where she chairs the nsk commuttee
She s also 3 member of the Cambndpge
University Library Vissting Commuttee
She was made a Commander of the
Britsh Empire in 2012

Robin Freestone Chief financral officer
aged 54 appointed 12 june 2006

Rabins expenence in management

and accourting includes a previous

role as group knancial controller of
Amersham pk (now part of General
Electnc) and senior financial positons
with ICl ple Zeneca and Henkel UK

He joined Pearson in 2004 as deputy
chieffinancial officer and became chief
financaal officer v June 2006 Robxn
qualtfied as a chartered accountantwith
Touche Ross (now Deloute), and s
currently a non-executive directorand
founder sharehotder of eChem Limted
Robin sits on the Advisory Group of the
ICAEW s Finanaal Reporting Faculty and
1s chairman of The Hundred Group of
Finance Dhirectors

john Makinson Charenan and chief
executve of The Pengun Group
aged 58 appoanted I5 March 1996

John s diverse background spans business
consultancy financial pournabism and
publishmng Hewas finance director of
Pearson before heading Penguin and
previously served as managng director
of the Fmancial Times newspaper where
he had earlier served as ednor of the
papular Lex ¢column John co founded
Makmnson Cowell an nternational
financial consultancy, and was vice
chairman of the US holding company

of adverusing frm Saatchs & Saarchs

John 15 chairman of the Mational Theatre
and has been named chairman-designate
of Penguin Random House the consumer
publishing venture planned by Pearson
and Bertelsmann
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Board of directors
contnued

HNON EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Graphuc removed

Graphic removed

Graphic removed

Dawd Arculus Non-execuove director
aged 66 apponted 28 February 2006

Chairman of the remuneraton comruttee
and member of the audit and nomination
commttees

Oawid has expenence in banking
telecommunications and publishing in a long
career inbusiness Currentdy he is chairman
of Aldermore Bank pl¢ Numus Corporavon
plc and the Advisory Board of the Brtish
Library Dawid's previous roles include the
charmanship of Q; ple Severn Trent plc and
IPC Group as well as chief operaung officer
of Ursted Business Media plc group
managing director of EMAP plcand a non-
exeastve director of Teleforica s A Dand
served from 2002 to 2006 as chairman of
the Bnush governmen s Better Regulavon
Tatk Force, which worked on reducing
burdens on business

Viwenne Cox Sevior independent director
aged 51 appointed | [anuary 2012

Member of the audw remuneration
and nominaton comemattess

Vivienine has wide expersence in energy
natural resources and business inngvation
She worked for BP plc for 28 years in Britain
and conunental Europe in posts ncluding
executve vice president and chief executive
of BP’s Gas Power & Renewables business
and s Alternative Energy umit She s non-
executve director of mimng company Rio
Tino plc energy company BG Group ple
and Vallourec which supplies tubultar
systems for the energy industry Shais ako
lead independent director 3t the UK
Department for Internanional Development
Vivienne sits on the board of INSEAD and
1s 2 commssioner of the Awports
Commission which was set up by the UK
gOvernment (O EXamine any requirerments
far additional UK airport capacity

Graphk removed

Graphic removed

Ken Hydon Non-execuave drector
aged 63 2ppointed 28 February 2006

Chairrnan of the audit committee
ang membar of the remuneration
and NOMENALCN COMITYTIRES

¥en s expenence n finance and business
mchudes roles in electronics consumer
procucts and healtheare He s anon-
executve director of Recknt Bencluser
Group pk one of the world s leading
manufacturers 2nd markegers of branded
products n household clearung and health
and personal care From 2004 10 2013 he
was a non-executive director of Tesco phe
Prewvcusly Kan was chief financial officer of
Vadafone Group plc and financial director
af subsidiarses of Racal Electromes

Josh Lewns Non-executive director
aged 50 appomnted | March 2011

Member of the audit and nomenauon
ommittees

Josh s experence spans finance education
and the development of digital encerprises
He s founder of Saimon River Capical ULC,
aMNew York based prvate equity/venture
capual firm focused on technology enabled
businesses in educaven finanaal services
and other sectors Overa 25 year career
macuve principal ivestng he has been
wvolved in a broad range of successful
companies, including several pioneenng
enterprises In the edvcation secior
Inaddiuon he has kong beenactive In the
non profit educauon sector with assoaauons
mcluding New Leaders, New Classrooms
and the Bil & Mehinda Gates Foundaton
He s also 2 non executve director of
evVestment and Axioma both financral
technology companies, Parchment an
educavon data company and PenGen a
healthcare information technology prowder

Susan Fuhrman Non-executive director
aged 6B, appomnted 27 July 2004

Muember of the qudyt and neminauon
commuttees

Susan s extensive expenence i education
includes her asrrent role as president of
Teachers Coltege at Columbia Universay,
Amencas oldest ind largest graduare school
of education She s presidenc of the
MNational Academy of Education and was
previously dean of the Graduate School of
Education at the University of Pennsybania
and on the board of trustees of the Carnege
Foundation for the Advancement of Teaching
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Chairman’s letter

Dear shareholders

This year, we are reporting, as 1s required, agamnst the
2010 edwion of the UK Corporate Governance Code
(the Code) WVe have endeavoured, where possible,
to report in the spint of the 2012 Code which wall
enly apply for reporung penods beginning on or after
| October 2012

As | have highlighted elsewhere withn this report,
Pearson 15 currently undergoing a pened of transition
 its leadership following the appointment of John
Fallon as our new chief executive, and | would bke to
take this opportunity to share with you further details
of the recent and forthcoming changes to our board
as well as providing an insight nto how the

board operates

The Pearson board consists of senior executive
management alongside a strong group of non-executive
directors drawn from successful international
businesses and education institutions with experience
of corporate strategy, education consumer marketing
and technology

We are continually assessing and refreshing the board
to ensure we mamtan an appropriate balance and
diversity of skills and experience

In additton 1o Marjorie Scardino’s departure as chief
execuuve, at the end of 2012 we also said goodbye to
Patrick Cescau, who served on the board for over ten
years, ncluding three years as our sentor independent
director The board joins me i thanking Patnck for his
commitment and invaluable contribution to Pearson
as we have navigated our international expansion

Following Patrick’s departure, we are pleased to
confirm that Vivienne Cox has been appomnted as
senior independent director We welcome Vivienne
to the role and believe that her broad commercial
knowledge and expenence both as an executive and
non-executive director make her highly suitable for
this positton

As announced late last year, Rona Farrhead will be
stepping down from the board, and from her role as
chairman of The Financial Times Group, to pursue
other opportuniues Rona handed over her
responsibiiies as chief execuuve of the FT to

John Ridding at the end of 2012 Rona has played

an mportant rale during her 12-year career at Pearson
having held a number of senior roles within the group,
and we wish her conunued success in the next phase
of her career

Section 4 Governance 47

Pearson has a wealth of talent within tts workforce
with a diverse and expenenced serior management
team heading the company’s operations To
complement gur strong Management structure.,

we believe that the most effective board s one which
maxumises the contributions of non-executive
directors, adding a wide range of valuable external
perspectives and encouraging robust, open debate
over signficant business 1ssues Qur geal 1s to Improve
the balance of iIndependent nan-executive directors on
the board, while retanmg an overall board sze which 1s
manageable and effective To this end, we are actvely
seeking addisonal non-executive directors who bring
expervise n education, emerging markets and digital
technologies to continue to dnve our strategy and
vision, whilst ensuning the board adheres to Pearson’s
core values YWe are keen to mantain the gender
diversity of the board m hght of recent and forthcoming
departures and, consequently, the nomination
committee Is actvely seeking to identify suitable

femnale candidates

The board 15 deeply engaged in developing and
measuring the company’s long term strategy,
performarnce and value 'We organise our work around
four major themes where we believe the board can
add value governance, strategy, business performance
and people Our board calendar and agenda provide
ample ume to focus on these themes and we have set
out some examples of the business consdered by the
board, as well as the governance pracuices to which we
adhere, onthe pages that follow

We hope this report cleary sets out how your
company is run, and how we align governance

and our board agenda with the strategic direction

of Pearson VWe always welcome questions or
comments from shareholders, ether via our website
{www pearson com) or In person at our annual
shareholders’ meeting

Signamure removed

Glen Moreno Charrman

|
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Board governance

Carporate governance

Introduction

The board beheves that during 2012 the company was
in full comphance with the UK Corporate Governance
Code (the Code) A detailed account of the provisions
of the Code can be found on the FRC's website at
www frc org uk and we encourage readers to view
our complance schedule on the company website at
www pearson com/investors/shareholder-
information/govermnance

The board embraces the Code’s underlying principles
with regard to board balance and dversity and the
nominaton committee, led by the chairman, is actively
seeking addiional sunable candidates who possess the
right mux of knowledge, skills and experience
enhance debate and decision-making

Composiuon of the board

The board currently consists of the chairman,

Glen Moreno, five executive directors including the
chief executive, John Fallon, and five independent
non-executive directors

As reported, Rona Farhead will step down from the
board at the forthcoming AGM Addstronally, subject
to completion of the Penguin Random House venture,
John Makinson will be appointed as chairman of
Penguin Random House and it 1s intended that he will
step down from the Pearson board at that ume

Chairman and chiel executive

There 15 a defined splt of responsibdities berween the
chairman and the chief executive The chairman is
primanly responsible for the leadership of the board
and ensuring its effectiveness, the chief executive 1s
responsible for the operational management of the
business and for the development and implementation
of the company’s strategy as agreed by the board
The roles and responsibiuies of the chairman and
chief executive are clearly defined, set out in writing
and reviewed and agreed by the board annually

Chairman

In May 2012, Glen Morenc stood down frons his role
as deputy chairman and senior independent director
of Lloyds Banking Group Apart fram this, there were
no changes to the charman’s significant commitments
dunng the course of 2012

Senior independent director

Vmenne Cox s the company’s semor independent
director. havng been appomted to the role on

I january 2013 following Patrick Cescau's resignation
from the board

Vivienne's role will include meetng regularly with the
chairman and chief executive to discuss specfic 1ssues,
eg swategy antending meeungs with major
shareholders to understand any issues or concerns
they may have, as well as being avallable to
shareholders generally If they should have concerns
that have not been addressed through the normal
channels !n her first year with Pearson, Vivienne has
been instrumental in the introduction of the board's
reputation and responsibiity committee, which she
charrs, and i improving the quality of health and safety
reporung to the board

During 2012, Patrick Cescau held separate sessions
with the other non-executive directors and the

chief executive to apprase the performance of the
charman, including 1 relauon to the effecuveness of
the nominaton committee Following his departure in
Oecember, Patnck was mwited back in February 2013
to conduct similar sessions in respect of the chairman's
performance during 2012 as part of the annual board
evaluation process Vivienne, as senior independent
director. will then take responsibility for apprasing the
chairman s performance during 2013 and beyond

The sentor independent director would be expected
to chair the nommation committee in the event that

it was consdering succession to the role of charman
of the board

Independence of directors

All of the non-executive directors were considered by
the board to be independent for the purposes of the
Code dunng the year ended 3| December 2012

The board reviews the independence of each of

the non-executive directors annually This includes
reviewtng their external appointments and any
potenual conflicts of interest as well as assessing thewr
indwidual circumstances in order to ensure that there
are no relationships or arcumsiances likely to affect
their character or judgement

Susan Fuhrman has now served on the board for more
than eight years Throughout that ume, Susan, as

a leader in educauonal reform and efficacy, has made a
very posiuve contnbution to our board and commuttee
work Susan has indicated that she intends to stand
down from the board at the 2014 AGM
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Conflicts of interest

Since October 2008, directors have had a statutory
duty under the Companies Act 2006 (the Act) to avod
conflicts of interest with the company The company’s
Arucles of Association (Articles) allow the directors

to authorise conflicts of interest The company has
established a procedure to denufy actual and potential
conflicts of interest, including all directorships or other
appomuvments to or relauonships with, compares
which are not part of the Pearson Group and which
could give rise to actual or potential conflicts of
interest Once notified to the charrman or company
secretary, such conflicts are considered for
authonisation by the beard at its next scheduled
meeting The relevant director cannot vote on an
authonsation resolution, or be counted in the quorum,
in relauon to the resolution relating to his/her conflict
or potenual confict The board reviews any
authonsations granted on an annual basis

Board meeungs

The board held six scheduled meetings in 2012, with
some meetngs taking place over two or more days

In recent years, we have developed our board meeung
agenda to ensure that board discussion and debate s
centred on the key strategic issues facing the company
Over the course of 2012 the major tems covered

by the board included

BUSINESS PERFOAMANCE. 23 FEBAUARY 20121, LONDON

2011 report and accounts and dwdend
recommendaton

2012 operating plan

Risk assessment and review of mitigating actions
Annual review of authonsed conflicts

Review of dwision of responsibilities between
chairman and chief executive

Review of treasury policy

Presentavon by Sir Michael Barber on efficacy.
research and educational reform
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GOVERNANCE AND SHAREHOLDER MATTERS
16 AND 27 APRIL 2012, LONDON

» Focus on forthcoming AGM and review of
shareholder issues

» Findings of external report on shareholders’ views

» Review of corporate social responsibility

» Board eflectiveness review

» Acquisiuon of Ceruport

» Acquisition of Global English

STRATEGY 4 5AND & JUNE 2012 SAO PAULO

» Strategy discussions — review of Brazilan
education business

» Review of Pearson’s ‘Leading on Standards’ pubhcation
on the future of examinations in Britain

» Acquisiuen of Author Soluuons In¢

BUSINESS PERFORMANCE 15 AND 26 JULY 201 2. LONDON

» Interim results and dividend approval

» Post-acquisition reviews

» Discussion on formation of reputation and
responsibility committee

» Acquisition of Inframation Group

STRATEGY 4 OCTOBER 2012 LONDON

» Trading update

» Five-year strategic plan

» Review of standing committee terms of reference

» Acquisiton of EmbanetCompass

» Discussion of Penguin Random House venture

» John Fallon’s first meeting following hus appointment
to the board

STRATEGIC PLAN & DECEMBER 1012, NEW YORK

> Strategic plan — India business

» Options for Pearson in Practice business

» Risk assessment and review of mitigating acuons

» Trennial valuation of UK defined benefit pension fund

» Annual review of chief executive authonsauon himits
and procedures

» Review of chief executve transibon

In addition o the six scheduled meetings, the board
held one further full meeung 1o approve the Penguin
Random House venture and undentock

discussions as reqired to consider the terms

of corporate transacuons
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Board governance conunued

The following table sets out the attendance of the
¢ompany's directors at board and committee meetings
dunng 2012

At Rem Nom
Board coMWTEILES <OMTELIDE COMSTRLLSG
(rax 6 (maxd)  {maxs)  (max§)
Chairman
Glen Moreno 6 - [ [
Execuuve directors
Marjorie Scardino & - - 6
Will Ethndge 6 - - -
John Fallon* 2 - - -
Rona Farrhead 5 - - -
Robin Freestone 6 - - -
John Makinson [ - - -
Non-executive
directors
David Arculus 6 4 6 6
Patnck Cescau** [ 2 3 6
Vivienne Cox 5 4 5 5
Susan Fuhrman [ 4 - 6
Ken Hydon 6 4 6 -]
Josh Lews [ 4 - 6

*appointed to the board on 3 October 2012

“*stoad down from audit and remuneration commettees
on 30 Apnl 2012

The role and business of the board

The board 15 deeply engaged n developing and
measuring the company’s long-term strategy,
performance and value We believe that «t adds

a valuable and diverse set of external perspectives
and that robust, open debate about significant
bustness issues brings a valuable additional disciplne
to major decisions

A schedule of formal matters reserved for the board’s
decision and approval is available on our website,

at www pearson com/investors/shareholder-
informaton/governance

A standing committee of the board has been
established 1o approve certain ordmary course of
business items such as bankung mateers, guarantees,
intra-group transactions and employee share plan
matters The commuttee has written terms of
reference reviewed and approved annually, which
clearly set out its authonty and duties These can be

found on the company website at
www pearson ¢om/ mvestors/shareholder-
information/govenance

The board receives umely, regular and necessary
financal, management and other informauon to fulfil its
duties Comprehensive board papers are circulated to
the board and commuttee members at least one week
m advance of each meeung and the board recerves
monthly reports from the chiefl executive in addition
to meeung papers. a lbrary of current and histonc
corporate information is made available to directors
electronically to support the board’s decision-making
process Directors can obtain independent professional
adwice, at the company's expense, in the performance
of their duuies as directors All drecters have access to
the advice and services of the company secretary

Non-executve directors meet with local senior
management every time board and commuttee
meetings are held at the locations of operaung
companies This allows the non-executive directors

to share therr experience and expertise with senior
managers and also enables the non-executive directors
to better understand the abihues of senior
management, which in turn will help them assess the
company’s prospects and plans for succession

Succession planning

The board views succession planning — not only at
board and executive committee level but for all key
posittons throughout the business — as one of s prime
responsibilites This 15 especially the case in a creative
business ke Pearson which 15 heavily dependent on
talented people

It 1s our intention to devote one full meetmg each year
to organisaton struciure and succession planning, and
how they support the delivery of our strategic goals
During 2012, the board’s succession planning activities
focused on the role of chief executive In a typical year
however, we look in detad at 20 to 30 of the most
semor roles in Pearson, ensuring that there are several
credible candwdates for each role Those candidates will
be well known to the board ~ who spend considerable
ume visiting our businesses and people outsile the
regular schedule of board meeungs — and will have
development plans in place to round out their
experience and skils and give them every possible
chance of progressing their careers
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Board evaluauon

The board conducts an annual review of its
effecuveness For the review of 2011, conducted
duning the early part of 2012, the chairman met with
each of the directors, executive and hon-executive, on
a one-to-one basis to discuss the board s effectveness
and progress made against objecuves He also took the
opportunity to discuss with each director ther
ndwdual tranmg and development needs

Following that review, the chairman presented his
findings at the April 2012 board meeting He noted
that from his one-to-one sessions with each of the
directors he was able to conclude that the board
members believe that they work well together, that the
board culture 1s good, that they add value as a board,
focus on the right things and that they have a good mix
of both pecple and skdls He also detalled how the
board might improve its effectrveness, and explained
that a common theme in his discussions related to the
board's understanding of reputational and other nsks

Following that review the senior management team
was tasked with thinking about how the board might
gam a deeper understanding of the reputational risks
that affect the business and later in the year, as a direct
result of thewr recommendaton, the board formed the
reputaven and responsibility committee The purpose
of this commnttee 1s to have oversight of Pearson’s
strategy and our plans to build and protect our
corporate reputation, and the reputation of our major
brands The committee membership includes two
non-executive directors, the chief executive and the
director of communicauons, it reports regularly to the
board and meets on a quarterly basis The committee
held its first meeting in December 2012, and the
agenda for that meeting included a consideration of
Pearson’s major reputational nsks, and a focus on the
public affairs team tn North Amenca

During the course of the year the executve directors
were also evaluated by the chief executive on their
performance against personal objectives under the
company's appraisal mechanism A proportion
{whach for 2012 may be up to 20%) of the total annual
Incentive opportunity 1s based on functional,
operational, strategic and non-financial objectives
relevant to the executves’ specific area of
responsibiity The chairman leads the assessment of
the chief executrve and the non-executive directors,
led by the senior Independent director, conduct a
review of the chairman s performance

Secuon 4 Governance 5l

In addition to the review of the board and mdmidual
directors, the audit and remuneratton committees each
undergo an annual evaluauon process to review their
performance and eflectiveness The process covers
areas such as roles and responsibilities, quality and
umelness of meeting materak, opportunity for
discussion and debate, dialogue with management

and access to independent advice

For the board effectiveness review of 2012, the
chairman is planning to spend time with the semor
independent director talking about their plans for the
board in terms of structure and focus for the commng
year as well as reviewing the previous board evaluauon
to ensure that recommendations have been followed
through They wall also start to plan a more structured,
external evaluation of 2013

Last year, we reported that the board's evaluation
process had highlighted a need to deepen the board's
knowtedge of emerging markets Budding on this, the
board visited Braz)l in 2012 1o leam first hand about
the Group's Latin American operations and strategy

CASE STUDY

Brazl
Graphic removed

In june 201 2, the Pearson board held a three

day meeting 1n Sio Paule, Brazil The purpose

of this board meeting was to review our
businesses in Brazil, and to better understand

the opporturuties i the Latin American education
market During their three day stay, the board
met with key local management of all cur
businesses operaung in Brazil, including the
recently acquired Companhia das Letras business
(Pearson acquired 45% in January 2012), as well
as with senior executives and the regional heads
of Pearson's Latin America operation

The board also met wath former President Lula to
discuss Brazifian education policy Whilst in Brazil,
the board wisited a school to learn first-hand
about the benefits of the Brazilian sistema method
of educatron, and a university where an interactive
panel session was held involving university
professors, business students and certain board
members During 2013 the board plans to have
similar meetings with local businesses in Scuth
Africa and the US
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Board governance continued

Drrectors’ training and induction

Directors recerve a signuficant bespoke induction
programme and a range of mformanon about Pearson
when they join the board This includes badkground
information on Pearson and details of board procedures
directors’ responsibilities and vanous governance-related
issues, incuding procedures for dealing in Pearson shares
and their legal obligauons as directors The inducton also
includes a senes of meetngs with members of the board,
presentations regarding the business from semor
executives and a briefing on Pearson’s nwvestor

relations programme

Tha directors’ traning 15 supplemented wath
presentations about the company’s operations by
heolding board meetings at the locations of operatng
companies and by encouraging the directors to visit
operating companies and local management as and when
therr schedule allows The company secretary monitors
developments in governance and directors’ fiduciary
duties and updates the board on such matters as agreed
with the chairman Directors can also make use of
external courses

Durectors’ indemnruies

In accordance with secuon 232 of the Act, the company
grants an indemntty to all of its directors The ndemnity
relates to costs incurred by them i defending any el or
cnmmal proceedings and in connecton with an
apphcauon for relief under sectons 661(3) and (4) or
secuons | 157(1)-(3) of the Act, so long as monies are
repaid not later than when the cutcome becomes final
(i) they are convicted in the proceedings, (1) judgment s
gven agamst them, or (m) the court refuses w grant the
relief sought

The company has purchased and mantains directors’
and officers’ nsurance cover against certan legal labiliues
and costs for daims 1n connecuon with any act or
omssion by such directors and officers in the execuuon
of therr duties

Shareholder engagement

Pearson has an extensive programme of communication
with all of its shareholders — large and small, insttuvonal
and prvate

in 2012, we conunued with our shareholder outreach
programme, seeing approxmately 650 nsttuponal and
private investors at more than 350 different insututions in
Australa, Canada, China, Conunental Europe fapan,
Malaysia, Singapore, South Korea, the UK and the US

There are five rading updates each year and the chief
executive and chief finanaral officer present our
preliminary and intenm results updates They also attend
regular meetngs throughout the year with investors both
m the UK and around the world, tadored to investor
requirements, to discuss the performance of the
company, the company’s strategy, structural changes in
our markets and nsks and opportunities for the future

The charman meets regularly with significant
shareholders to understand any ssues and concerns they
may have The 15 m accordance with both the Code and
the UK Stewardship Code The non-executive directors
meet nformaly with sharehalders both before and after
the AGM and respond to shareholder quenes and
requests as necessary The charrman ensures that the
board 15 kept nformed of principal investors” and
advisers’ views Qn strategy and corparate govemance

We also have an establshed programme of educational
sermmars for our insttunonal shareholders focusing

on indmadual parts of Pearson These seminars are
available to alf shareholders via webcast on

WWW PEarson com

Private investors represent over 80% cf the shareholders
on our register and we make a concerted effort o
engage with them regularly Shareholders who cannot
attend the AGM are rvited to emarl questions to the
chawrman in advance at glenmareno-agm@pearson com

We encourage our pnivate shareholders to become
more irformed investors and have provided a wealth of
informauon on our website about managing Pearson
shareholdings, see

www pearson com/investors / shareholder-informaucn
for further nformavion, or turn to p 181 of this report.
VVe also encourage all shareholders who have not
already done 5o, to register ther email addresses through
our website and with our registrar This enables them to
recerve emad alerts when trading updates and other
important announcements are added to our website

We post all company announcements on our webste,
Ww'w Dearson com, as soon as they are released, and
major shareholder presentauons are made accessible
via webcast or conference call Qur website conzains

a dedicated investor reliuons secuon with an extensive
archive of past announcements and presentations,
historkal financial performance, share price data and

a calendar of events kt also mcudes information about
all of our busmesses, Imks to their websnes and details
of our corporate responsibdity policies and actvities
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We are committed to .ensuring that ail our
shareholders recerve thewr dvidends and dunng 2012
we informed any shareholder who had cutstanding
unclaimed divdends of the amounts owed to them
and how they could clamm these To this end, during
the year, we also reminded shareholders of our
dvdend mandate service which enables UK and many
averseas shareholders to receive dvidends directly
into their nominated bank account, and we invite any
shareholders who have not yet dene so to consider
using this method for dividend payments

We recently provided shareholders with smaller
holdings the opportunity to use our registrar’s low-cost
share dealing service, giving them the chance to add to
or reduce therr stake in Pearson at signdicantdy reduced
deahng rates or to donate shares to charity with ease
This service proved very popular with shareholders,
and consequently we intend to offer this service agan
at a future date

We beleve it 1s important that our employees have
a shared interest in the direcuon and achievements
of Pearson and are pleased to say that a large number
of our employees are shareholders in the company

Our AGM — which will be held on 26 Apnl this year
—1s an opportunity for all shareholders to meet the
board and to hear presentations about Pearson’s
businesses and results

BOARD AND COHHMITTEE FRAMEWORK

BOARD

—Chairman
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Board committees

The board has established three formal comrmittees
the nomination committee, the remuneration
committee and the audit committee The charmen
and members of these committees are appointed
by the board on the recommendauon (where
appropriate) of the nominaton committee and In
consultation with each relevant commuttee chairman

In addivon to these board committees, three further
committees operate with board input. the Pearson
management committee (PMC), the standing
committee and the recently-established reputation
and responsibility committee

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Chairman Glen Moreno

Members David Arculus, Vivienne Cox, john Fallon,
Susan Fuhrman, Ken Hydon, Josh Lewis and Glen Moreno

The nominanon committee meets at least once a year
and as and when required The committee primarily
monitors the composition and balance of the board
and its committees, and dentfies and recommends to
the board the appointment of new directors and/or
committee members

= Free executive directors
- Frve non executive

deirectors

AUDIT COMMITTEE REHUNERATION COMMITTEE

NOMINATION COMMITTEE CHIEF EXECUTIVE

Chaired by Glen Moreno

Charred by KenHydon Chared by Dawd Arcubus
—Five non execytive = Chairman
directors —Three nan executive
directors

STANDING COMMITTEE

REPUTATION AND
RESPONSIBILITY COMMITTEE

—Charman

— Chief executive

- Frve non-executve
directors

PEARSON MANAGEMENT
COMNITTEE

The schedule of matters reserved for the boird and the terms of reference of the audit remuneration
nominanon and standing comimittees are avalable at www pearson comIlme’smnlshzraho!der-mfurmanonl governance
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During 2012, the committee’s primary focus was the
appoinument of Pearson s new chief executve
following Marjorie Scardino’s decision to step down at
the end of 2012, and consequently the commuttee met
s imes dunng the course of the year At s February
meeting, the committes reviewed succession planming
for non-execuuve and executive board positions and
sentor management, as well as board committee
membership

The committee ensures that the directors of Pearson
demonstrate a broad balance of skills, experence,
independence, knowledge and diversity (including
gender dversity) There are currently three female
directors on the board, one aof whom is an executive
director The committee and the board always take
account of diversity when considering board
appointments and will conunue to do so, whilst
ensuring that appomtments are made based on ment
and refevant expenence

The plan for 2013 i1s to continue to develop
programmes and refationships that help attract
talented diverse people into our business and retan
them and to continue to track our progress

In particular, Pearson intends 1o commence work

on a comprehensive gender diversity strategy, and to
develop a global diversity strategy focusing on the key
emerging markets of India. China and Brazil

Pearson continues to show ewidence of progress

in relation ta the retention of people with dverse
backgrounds for both entry level and management
positions and has made significant progress over the
years n advancing women and culturally diverse
pecple As at December 2012, 25% of Pearson’s top
managers were women, and 41% of successors for
such roles were female, including an mcreasing number
of business leaders as well as funcuonal roles such as
HR and finance, ensunng that the pipeline of talented
women within Pearson remans strong To support this
pipeline, a dversity toolkit for managers was launched
in the UK, to provide managers with adwice and
guidance on developing their diversity management
skills We hope to launch a US version during 2013

Graph removed

Whilst the charman of the board chairs the
nomination committee, he is not permitted to chair
meeungs when the appointment of his successor 1s
being considered or during 3 discussion regarding hrs
performance At such umes, the senior independent
director will chair the meetings

The committee has written terms of reference
which clearly set out its authonty and duues
These can be found on the company website
at www pearson com/nvestors/shareholder-
informaton/governance

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Chairman Dand Arcutus

Members Dand Arculus, Vinenne Cox, Ken Hydon
and Glen Moreno

The remuneraton commintee reports 1o the full board
and a letter from the chairman of the remuneration
committee and its report on directors' remuneration,
which has been considered and adopted by the board,
Is set out on pages &4 to 92

The committee met six times during the year,

and has written terms of reference which clearly
set out s authonty and duties These can be found
on the company website at www pearson com/
investors/shareholder-information/governance
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

Chawrman Ken Hydon

Members Dand Arculus, Yivienne Cox, S-unn Fulwrenan,
Ken Hydoa and Joth Lews

As 1 descnbed last year, n my role as
‘ ‘audnt commutee chairman, { consider

the key role of the committee to be m
providing oversight and reassurance to the board,
spectically with regard to the integnty of the
company’s financial reportmg, accounting policees,
nsk management and internal control processes and
governance framework

Fundamental to this rale is the commuttee’s access to
local management Onge again, committee meetings
have been attended by the chief financial officer and
tead of Group mnternal audit and risk assurance, and
often by the chief executive and chairman Indondual
managers have joined meetngs for specific topics,

e g treasury, tax or busmess continuity planning

In total, 16 managers attended one or more meetings
during the year Dunng the board's visit 1o 530 Paulo,
members of the committee met with local semor
financial management to discuss risk management,
financial control and the Pearson code of conduct

In July, the commuttee met with the company's chief
nformation officer and director of dgral strategy to
discuss the approach taken to dat protecuon

Finally, in December, m its first risk deep-dive’
session aimed at making the risk review process
more tangble, the committee met with the president
of the US assessment and informauon group to
discuss risks and miuganon strategy related to the
tesung and assessment business This approach
worked well, and | am keen that the committee holds
additonal sessions in 2013 focusing on key nsks
within Pearson, as well as continuing to meet local
management throughout the year and whenever the
board s scheduled to meet in gverseas locauons

The committee has a healthy interacuon wath group
wnternal audit and PwC, who attend all of our regular
commitiee meetngs Agam, | see this as fundamental
to the role of the commutiee and to my position

as chairman

We always need to be learmung, as the business
progresses and the environments n which we
operate change

Signawre removed

Ken Hydon

Section 4 Governance §5

Members

All of the audit committee members are ndependent
non-executve directars and have financial and/or
related business experience due to the sentor positions
they hold or have held in other bisted or publicly traded
companies and/or simiar public organisations

Ken Hydon, chairman of the committee, s the
company's designated financial expert He s a Fellow
of the Chartered Insutute of Management

Accountants, the Association of Chartered Cerufied
Accountants and the Assocrauon of Corporate
Treasurers He also serves as audua committee
chatrrman for Reckitt Benckiser Group plc, and until
recently for Tesco plc and Royal Berkshire NHS
Foundation Trust

The qualffications and relevant experience of the other
committee members are detaled on page 46

Role and responsibilities

The committee has written terms of reference which
clearly set out its authonty and duties These are
reviewed annually and can be found on the company
website at www pearson com/investors/shareholder-
information/governance

The committee has been established by the

board pnmariy for the purpose of overseeing the
2ccounting, financial reporung, internal controf and risk
management processes af the company and the audit
of the financial statements of the company )

The committee 15 responsible for assisting the board's
oversight of the quahty and integrity of the company's
external financial reporting and statements and the
company s accountng policies and practices

The Group’s intemal and extermal auditors have
direct access to the committee to raise 2ny mater of
concern and to report on the results of work directed
by the commnttee The committee reports to the full
board at every board meeung mmediately following a
committee meeting It also reviews the independence
of the external auditors, including the provision of
non-aud services (further detads of which can be
found on pages 59 and 60}, and ensures that there s an
appropnate audit relationship and that auditor
objecuvity and independence 15 upheld
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External audit

Based on management’s recommendations, the
committee reviews the proposal on the appointment
of the external auditors The commntee reviewed the
effectiveness and independence of the external
auditors during 2012 and remarns sausfied that the
auditors provide effective independent challenge 1o
management The committee will continue to review
the performance of the external audrors on an annual
basis and will consider their independence and
objectivity, taking account of all appropnate guidelines
There are no contractual obhgations restricung the
committee’s chowe of external auditors In any event,
the external auditors are required to rotate the audit
partner responsible for the Group audit every five
years The current lead audnt partner has been in place
for five years and consequently will rotate following
completion of the Group’s 2012 year end audit

In accordance with our external auditor policy, Group
intemnal audit performs an annual assessment of audn
fees, services and independence This review forms the
bass for a recommendanon by the commuttee to the
board in respect of the appointment and compensation
of our externat asditor Hawving previously conducted

a full tender exercise in | 996, and consdered
re-tendering in subsequent years, we intend to give
consideration during 2013 to the tming of cur next
formal tender, mindful of the 2012 Code requirement
to undertake a formal tendering process at least once
every ten years

During the year, the committee discussed the planning,
conduct and conclusions of the external audit as
it proceeded

At the July 2012 audit commntee meeting, the
committee discussed and approved the auditors’
group audit plan and Wentified the following key nisks
of misstatement of the Group’s financal statements,
which were updated at the December 2012
committee meeting

-

Revenue recognition, in hight of a number of products
and services sold by Pearson where revenue
recognition pracuces are complex and management
assumptions and estimates are necessary,

» Accounung for acquisitions in ight of material
transactions i 2011 and 2012, n parucular valuation
of acquired ntangibles which involves significant
judgement, and

» Deposal accounting i parucular relaong to proposed

Penguin Random House venture

The committee discussed these issues with the
audstors at the ume of their review of the half year
intenm financial statements in July 2012 and agam at
the conclusion of their audit of the financial statements
for the year in February 2013 iIn December 2012,

the committee discussed with the auditors the status
of their work, focusing on therr work in refation to
internal controls As the auditors concluded their aude,
they explamed to the committee

-

The work they had conducted over revenue, which
included targeted procedures at businesses which
were considered to have more complex revenue
recognition, such as the assessment and testing
businesses,
The results of thewr review of acquisiion accountng
for all significant acquisinons, encompassing assessment
of management’s valuatons of intangible assets as well
as other purchase price adjustments,
The work they had done to test management’s
assumpruions and estimates «n refation to balance sheet
judgements and calculations (encompassing provisions
for doubrful debts and inventory, recoverabiity of pre-
pubkcation assets and authors’ advances, reserves for
sales returns, estimates of current and deferred tax
and pension labliues and other conungencies) and
how they had satisfied themselves that these were
reasonable,
» The mpact of the board's decision on the future
options for the Pearson in Pracuce business,
» The results of their review of the impairment model,
including therr challenge of management’s underlying
cash flow projections and consideration of key
assumptions such as discount rates and perpetuity
rates and sensitvities, which indicated that all cash-
generatng units had adequate headroom,
The results of thewr controls testung to date for
Sarbanes-Oxiey Act secuon 404 reporting purposes
and in support of ther financial statements audit, and
» The review of the company’s "going concern’ reports

-

~

-

The auditors alsc reported to the commuttee the
musstatements that they had found in the course
of their work, which were insignificant. and the
commuttee confirmed that there were no
matenal items remaining unadjusted in these
financal satements

Training

The commntee recerves regular technical updates

as well as specific or personal training as appropriate
Duning 2012, two committee members took advantage
of a personal traiming session provided by PwC

v
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Committee members also meet with local
management on an ongoing basis in order to gan

a better understanding of how Group policies are
embedded in operauons For example, dunng as visit
to S3o Paulo in june 2012, the committee met with
local sentor finance managers

Meetings

The committee met four tmes during the year with
the following in attendance the chief financial officer,
head of Group mternal audit and risk assurance,
members of the senior management team, and the
external auditors The committee also met regularly
wn private with the external auditors and the head

of Group internal audit and risk assurance

At every meeting, the committee considered reports
on the actwities of the Group internal aud function,
including the results of internal audits, risk reviews,
project assurance reviews and fraud and

whistleblowing reports The committee also montored

the company’s financial reporting, iInternal controls
and risk management procedures and considered
any significant legal claims and regulatory issues i the
context of thewr impact on financial reporung

Specffically. the committee considered the followtng
matters during the course of the year

» The 201 | annual report and accounts prelminary
announcement, financial staternents and income
statement,

» The Group accounuing policies,

» Compliance with the UK Corporate Governance
Code,

» Form 20-F and related disclosures including the annual
Sarbanes-Oxey Act section 404 auestation of financial
reporting internal controls,

» Receipt of the external auditors’ report on the Form
20-F and on the year end audit,

» Assessment of the effecuveness of the Group's internal
control environment

> Reappointment, remuneration and engagement letter
of the external audstors,

» Provision of non-audit services by PwC,

Review of the mterim financal statements and
announcement,

» Annual re-approval of the Group internal audst
mandate,

» Compliance with SEC and N'YSE requirements
mcluding Sarbanes-Oxley Act,

» Reviews of the effectiveness of the audit commitize,
the external auditors and the Group internal audnt
function,

oW W W W W
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Pearson’s a2nt-corrupucn programme,
Pearson’s data protection programme,

Rewview of the committee’s terms of reference,
Annual nternal audn plan,

Risk deep-dive tesung and assessment busmess,
Review of company nisk returns including Social,
Ethical and Environmental (SEE) risks,

Group tax strategy review; and

Annual review of treasury policy

In February 2013, the commatee also consdered
the 2012 annual report and accounts, including the
preliminary announcement, financial statements,
business review, directors’ report and corporate
governance complance statement

Internal control and nisk management

The directors confirm they have conducted a review
of the effectiveness of the group’s systems of risk
management and internal controls, including strategic,
financial, operational and compliance controls and rgk
management systems, in accordance with the UK
Cerporate Governance Code and the Turnbull
guidance as revised These systems have been
aperating throughout the year and to the date

of this report

The key elements and procedures that have been
estzblished to provide effective nsk management
and internal control systems are descnbed below

Control environment

The board of directors has overall responsibility for
Pearson's system of internal control, which 15 designed
to manage, and where possible miugate, the nsks facing
the Group, safeguard assets and provide reasonable,
but not absolute, assurance against matenal financral
mugstatement or loss

Responsibiity for monitoring financal management and
reporung and nsk management and internal control
systems has been delegated o the audit committee

by the board At each meeung, the audit committee
considers reports from management, Group internal
audit and the external auditors, with the am of
reviewing the effectiveness of the internal financial

and operating control environment of the Group

The dentdfication and mitigaton of signficant business
risks is the responsibility of Group senior management
and operaung company management. Each operaung
company, including the corporate centre, mamntains
nternat controls and procedures approprate to its
structure, business environment and nisk assessment,
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whilst complying with Group pohicies, standards
and guidehnes

Financial management and reporung

There s a comprehensive strategic planning, budgeung
and forecasting system with an annual operaung plan
approved by the board of directors Monthly financal
information, including trading results, balance sheets,
cash flow statements, capual expendiwres and
indebtedness, is reported aganst the corresponding
figures for the plan and prior years, with corrective
action outhined by the appropnate sentor executive
Group senior management meet, on g quarterly basis,
with operating company management to review their
business and financial perfermance aganst plan and
forecast Major business nsks relevant to each
operating company as well as performance against the
stated financial and strategic objectives are reviewed in
these meetings

We have an ongoing process to monitor the risks and
effectiveness of controls in relation to the finanaal
reporting and consolidation process including the
related information systems This includes up-to-date
Group financial pohcies, formal requirements for
business urut finance funcwons, Group consolidation
reviews and analysis of materral varances, group
finance technical reviews, including the use of technical
speciabsts, and review ang sign-off by senior finance
managers These processes are monitored and
assessed duning the year by the Group nternal audic
and Group comphance functions

These contrals include those over external financial
reporting which are documented and tested in
accordance with the requirements of section 404
of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act. which is relevant to
our U5 hstng

The effectiveness of key financial controls s subject
to management review and self cerufication and
independent evaluation by Group internal audit

A risk management framewark is In place to dentfy,
evaluate and manage risks, including key financial
reporting risks Operatng companies undertake
sem(-annual nsk reviews to identfy new or potentally
under-managed risks Throughout the year, nsk
sessions faciltated by the head of Group mternal audit
and risk assurance are held with Group and operaung
company management to dentify the key risks the
company faces in achieving its objectives, to assess
the probability and impact of those nsks and to
docurment the actions being taken 1o manage those
risks The Pearson management commitiee reviews

the output of these sessions, focusing on the signdicant
risks facing the business Management has the
responsibility to consider and execute appropnate
acuon to mitigate these nsks whenever possible

The results of these reviews are reported to the
board in detarl via the audit committee

Group internal audit

The Group internal audit function is responsible for
providing independent assurance to management on
the desgn and effectveness of internal controls to
mitigate strategie, financal, operational and complance
risks The risk-based annual intermnal audit plan s
approved by the audit commuttee Recommendations
to improve internat controls and to mivgate risks, or
both, are agreed with operating company management
after each audit. Formal follow-up procedures allow
Group Internal audit to monitor operating companies’
progress in implemenung s recommendatons and to
resolve any control deficiencies The Group internal
aud function also has a remit to monrtor significant
Group projects, in conunction with the central project
management office and to provide assurance that
appropriate project governance and nsk management
strategies are i place Group internal audit has a
formal collaboration process in place with the external
audwors to ensure efficient caverage of internal
controls Regular reports on the work of Group
internal audit are prowded to executive management
and, via the audt committee, to the board

The head of Group mtemal audit 5 jointly responsible
with the Group legal counsel for menitoring
compliance with our Code of Conduct, and
investigating any reported incidents including ethical,
carruption and fraud allegations The Pearson anu-
bribery and corruption programme provides the
framework to support our comphance with various
anu-bribery and corruption regulations such as the
UK Bnbery Act 2010 and the US Foregn Corrupt
Practices Act

Treasury management

The treasury department operates wathin policies
approved by the board and uts procedures are
reviewed regularly by the audn committee Major
transactions are authonsed outside the department
at the requisite level, and there & an appropriate
segregation of dutes Frequent reports are made
to the chief financial officer and regular reports are
prepared for the audit communtee and the board
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Dunng 2012, the significant non-audit work performed
by PwC was

Tax compliance services related to a routine audit by
the US Internal Revenue Service,

Tax advisory services associated with the planned
creation of the venture between Penguin and
Random House,

Assurance services on a corporate bond 1ssued in
May 2012, and

Other assurance services which were mdwidually less
than £100,000 per project

In each case, PwC was selected as they were best able
to provide the services we required at a reasonable fee
and within the terms of our external audrtors policy
To assist in ensuring that independence and objectivity
s maintained, for forward-looking tax planning and due
diligence work PwC assign a different partner from the
one leading the external audit

A full statement of the fees for audit and services i1s
provided in note 4 to the accounts on page | 14

Statement of directors’ responsibilities

The directors are responsible for preparing the annual
report, the report on directors’ remuneration and the
financia! staternents In accordance with apphcable law
and regulations

The Act requires the directors to prepare financial
staternents for each financial year The directors have
prepared the Group and parent company financial
statements In accordance with International Financial
Reportng Standards (iFRSs) as adopted by the
European Union Under the Act the directors must
not approve the financial statements unless they are
satsfied that they give a trve and farr view of the state
of affairs of the company and the Group and of the
prafit or loss of the Group for that period

In preparing these financial statements, the directors
are requrred to

Select suitable accounting polictes and then apply
them consistently,

Make judgements and accounting estimates that

are reasonable and prudent,

State that the financial statements comply with IFRSs
as adopted by the European Union ar disclose and
explain any material departures from those IFRSs, and
Prepare the financial statements on a gomng concern
basis, unless it 1s mappropriate to presume that the
company and/or the group will continue In business

MM

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate
accountmg records that are sufficient to show and
explain the company's transactions and disclose with
reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position
of the company and the Group This enables them to
ensure that the financial statements and the report on
directors' remuneration comply with the Act and, as
regards the Group financral staternents, Arucle 4 of the
IAS Regulation They are also responsible for
safeguarding the assets of the company and the Group
and for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and
detection of fraud and other irregularives

The directors are responsible for the maintenance and
integnty of the company’s website Legislanon m the
UK goveming the preparation and dissemination

of financia! statements may differ from legislation

n other junsdictions

Each of the directors, whose names and funcuons are
hsted on pages 44 to 46, confirm that to the best of
their knowledge and belief

» The Group financial statements, prepared m
accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European
Union, give a true and farr view of the assets, labiicies,
financial position and prefit of the group and company.
and

» The directors’ report contaned in the annual report
ncludes a far review of the development and
performance of the business and the position of the
company and Group, together with a description of the
principal nsks and uncertamties that they face

The directors also confirm that, for all directors
n office at the date of this repont

a) so far as the directors are aware, there 1s no
relevant audit nformation of which the company's
auditors are unaware, and

b} they have taken all the steps that they ought to have
taken as directors in order to make themselves aware
of any relevant audit information and tc establish that
the company's auditors are aware of that information

Approved by the board on 7 March 2013 and signed
on its behalf by

L X

Philip Hoffman Secretary
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[nsurance

Insurance s provided through Pearson’s insurance
subsidiary, Spear Insurance Limited, and/or externally,
depending on the scale of the nsk and the availability
of cover in the external market, with the objective

of achieving the most cost-effecive balance between
msured and uninsured risks

Going concern

Hawing reviewed the Group's liquid resources and
borrowang faciities and the Group’s 2013 and 2014
cash flow forecasts, the directors believe that the
Group has adequate resources to continue as a going
concern For this reason, the financal statements have,
as usual, been prepared on that basis Information
regarding the Group's borrowing habihues and financal
risk management can be found m notes 18 and 19 on
pages 135t 143

Share capital

Details of share ssues are given in note 27 1o the
accounts on page 156 The company has a single class
of shares which 15 divided nto ordinary shares of 25p
each The ordinary shares are in registered form

As at 31 December 2012, 817,042,980 crdinary shares
were in ssue At the AGM held on 27 Apnl 2012, the
company was authonsed, subject to certan conditions,
to acquire up to 81,597,867 ordinary shares by market
purchase Shareholders will be asked to renew this
authonty at the AGM on 26 Apri! 2013

Information pravided to the company pursuant to

the Financal Services Authonty’s Disclosure and
Transparency Rules is publshed on a Regulatory
Informatton Service and on the company's website

As at 5 March 2013, being the last practicable date
before the publicaton of this report, the company had
been notfied under DTRS of the following significant
voung rights In its gshares

Number of
votsg ghs Percenuge

BlackRock, Inc 40,975,445 501%

Legal & General Group ple 32,385,175 398%

Libyan Investment Authonty 24,431,000 301%

Annual General Meeung (AGM)

The notke convening the AGM, 1o be held at 12 noen
on Fnday, 26 Apnl 2013 at1ET London, 2 Savoy Place,
London WC2R 0BL, s contained i 2 circular to
shareholders to be dated 21 March 2013
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Registered auditors

In accordance with section 489 of the Act,

a resolution proposing the reappomntment of
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP (PwC) as auditors to
the company will be proposed at the AGM, at a level
of remuneraton to be agreed by the directors

Audrtors' independence

In ine with best practuce, our relationship with PwC

15 governed by our external auditors policy, which 15
reviewed and approved annually by the audit
committee The policy establishes procedures to
ensure the auditors’ mdependence s not
compromised, as well as defining those non-audit
services that PwC may or may not provide to Pearson
These allowable services are m accordance with
relevant UK and US legislation

The audit committee approves ail audit and non-audit
services provided by PwC Certain categones

of allowable non-audit services have been pre-
approved by the audit committee subject to the
authonties below

» Pre-approved non-audit services can be authorised by
the chief financal officer up to £ 100,000 per project,
subject to a cumulatve mt of £500,000 per annum,

» Acquisition or disposal transactions and due diligence
up to £100,000 per project may be performed by our
external auditors, In hght of the need for confidentalny
Any project/transaction generating fees in excess of
£100,000 must be spectically approved by the audnt
committee,

» Tax compliance and refated activities up to the greater
of £1,000,000 per annum or 50% of the externat audit
fee, and

» For forward-looking tax planning services we use the
most appropriate adviser, usually after a tender
process Where we decide to use our independent
auditors, authonity, up to £100.000 per project subject
to a cumulatve hmit of £500,000 per annum, has been
delegated by the audit committee to management.

Services prownided by PwC above these IImuts and all
other allowable non-audit services, rrespective of
value, must be approved by the audit commuttee
Where approprate, services will be tendered prior to
a decssion being made as to whether to award work to
the auditors

The audrt committee recesves regular reports
summarising the amount of fees paid to the auditors
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Addmional information for shareholders

Set out below 15 other stawstory and regulatory
information that Pearson is required 1o disclose
s directors’ report

Amendment to Arucles of Associauon

Any amendments to the Arucles of Associauon of the
company (the Artcles) may be made in accordance
with the prowsions of the Compantes Act 2006

(the Act) by way of a special resclution

Rights ateaching to shares

The rights attaching to the ordinary shares are defined
m the Articles A shareholder whose name appears
on the company's register of members can choose
whether his/her shares are evidenced by share
ceruficates (1 e in ceruficated form) or held
electronically {1 e uncerutficated form) in CREST

(the electromic settlement system in the UK)

Subject to any restrictions below, shareholders may
attend any general meetng of the company and,

on a show of hands, every shareholder (or his/her
represemative) who s present at a general meeung has
one vote on each resolution for every ordinary share
of which they are the registered holder A resolution
put to the vote at a general meeting 1s decided on

a show of hands unless before, or on the declaration
of the result of, a vote on a show of hands, a poll 15
demanded A polf can be demanded by the chairman
of the meeting, or by at least three shareholders

(or their representatives) present in person and having
the right wo vote, or by any shareholders (or theirr
representatives) present in person having at least 10%
of the total voung nghts of all shareholders, or by any
shareholders (or their representatives) present in
person holding ordinary shares on which an aggregate
sum has been pard up of at least 10% of the total sum
pad up on all ordinary shares At this year's AGM
votng will again be conducted on a poll. consistent
with best practce

Shareholders can declare a final dividend by passing
an ordinary resolution but the amount of the dividend
cannot exceed the amount recommended by the
board The board can pay interim dividends on any
class of shares of the amounts and on the dates and
for the perods they decde In all cases the
distributable profits of the company must be sufficient
to justfy the payment of the relevant dividend

Sectian 4 Governance 6l

The board may, f authorised by an ordinary resolution
of the shareholders, offer any shareholder the nght to
elect 1o receive new ordmary shares, which will be
credited as fully pad, instead of ther cash dvidend

Any dividend which has not been clarmed for 12 years
after 1t became due for payment will be forfeited and
will then belong to the company, unless the directors
decide otherwise

If the company 15 wound up, the liquidator can, with
the sanctton of a special resolution passed by the
shareholders, divide amang the shareholders all or
any part of the assets of the company and he/she can
value assets and determme how the division shall be
carried out as between the shareholders or different
classes of shareholders The liquidator can also, with
the same sanction, transfer the whole or any part of
the assets io trustees upon such trusts for the benefit
of the sharehoiders

Voting at general meeungs

Any form of proxy sent by the shareholders to the
company in relation to any general meeting must be
delrvered to the company (via its registrars), whether
n written ar electronic form, not less than 48 hours
before the tme appointed for holding the meeting or
adjourned meeting at which the person named

in the appointment proposes to vote

No shareholder s, unless the board decides ctherwise,
entiled to attend or vote erther personally or by proxy
at a generl meeting or to exercise any other nght
conferred by being a shareholder f he/she or any
person with an interest in shares has been sent a notice
under secton 733 of the Act {which confers upon
public companies the power to require information
with respect to 1nterests in ther voting shares) and
he/she or any interested person faled to supply the
company with the informauon requested within

14 days after delivery of that nouce The board may
also decide, where the relevant shareholding comprses
at least 0 25% of the nominal value of the 1ssued shares
of that class, that no dvidend is payable in respect of
those default shares and that no transfer of any default
shares shall be registered

Pearson operates two employee benefit trusts to
hold shares, pending employees becoming entrtled
to them under the company’s employee share plans
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There were 10,101,860 shares so held as at

31 December 2012 Each trust has an wmdependent
trustee which has full discretson i relavon to the
voting of such shares A dividend wawer operates
on the shares held in these trusts

Pearson also operates a nominee shareholding
arrangement known as Sharestore which holds shares
on behalf of employees There were 4,710,567 shares
50 held as at 31 December 2012 The trustees holding
these shares seek voung instructions from the relevant
employee as beneficial owner, and voting nights are not
exerased If no instructions are given

Transfer of shares

The board may refuse to register a transfer of a
certficated share which is not fully paid, prowvided that
the refusal does nat prevent dealings n shares in the
company from taking place on an open and proper
basis The board may also refuse to regster a transfer
of a certificated share unless (1) the instrument of
transfer is lodged, duly stamped (if stampabkle), at the
registered office of the company or any other ptace
decided by the board, and 15 accompanied by the
certificate for the share to which it relates and such
other evidence as the board may reasonably require
1o show the right of the transferor to make the
transfer, () It 1s in respect of only one class of

shares, and (in) it 15 1in favour of not more than

four translerees

Transfers of uncertficated shares must be carried out
using CREST and the board can refuse to register a
transfer of an uncertificated share in accordance with
the regulations governing the operauon of CREST

Varauon of nghts

If at any ume the capral of the company 1s dmded inte
different classes of shares the special nghts attactung
to any class may be varned or revoked either

(1) with the written consent of the holders of at least
75% in nominal value of the tssued shares of the
relevant class, or

(1) wath the sancuon of a special rescluvon passed at
a separate general meeting of the holders of the shares
of the relevant class

Without prejudice to any special rights previously
conferred on the holders of any exisung shares or class
of shares, any share may be 1ssued wath such preferred,
deferred, or other special nghts, or such restnctions

whether in regard to dmidend, voung return of capual
or otherwise as the company may from tme to time
by ordinary resolution determine

Appointment and replacement of directors

The Articles contain the following previsions in relation
to directors

Directors shall number no less than two Directors
may be apponted by the company by ordinary
resolution or by the board A director appomnted by
the board shall hold office only until the next AGM and
shall then be ehgible for reappaintment, but shall not
be taken into account in determining the directars or
the number of directors who are to reure by rotation
at that meeting The board may from ume to time
appoint one or more directors to hold execuuve office
with the company far such penod (subject to the
prowisions of the Act) and upon such terms as the
board may decide and may revoke or termmate any
appomntment so made

The Arucles provide that, at every AGM of the
campany, at feast one-third of the directors shall reure
by rotaton (or, if therr number s not a multiple of
three, the number nearest to one-third) The first
directors to retire by rotation shall be those who wish
to retire and not offer thernselves for re-election’ Any
further directors so to reure shall be those of the other
directors subject 1o retirement by rotation who have
been longest n office since they were last re-elected
but, as between persons who became or were last
re-elected on the same day those to retire shall
(unless they otherwse agree among themselves)

be determuned by ot In addrion, any director who
would not otherwise be required to retire shall

retre by rotation at the third AGM after they were
last re-elected

Notwithstanding the provisions of the Articles, the
board has resolved that all directors should offer
themselves for re-election annually, in accordance
with the UK Corperate Governance Code

The company may by ordinary resolution remove any
director before the expiration of his/her term of office
In addiuion, the board may terminate an agreement or
arrangement with any director for the prowision of
bus/her services to the company
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Powers of the directors

Subject to the company's Articles, the Act and any
directions given by special resolution, the business of
the company will be managed by the board who may
exercise all the powers of the company, including
powers relaung to the 1ssue and/or buying back of
shares by the company (subject to any statutery
restricuons or restrnicuons imposed by shareholders
in general meeting)

Significant agreements

The following sigmificant agreements contain provisians
entithing the counterparues to exercise termination

or other nghts in the event of a change of control

of the company

Under the $1,750 000,000 revolving credn facility
agreement dated November 2010 which matwres

in November 2015 between, amongst others, the
company, HSBC Bank plc (as facility agent) and the
banks and financial insututons named therein as
lenders (the Facility) any such bank may, upon a
change of control of the company, require its
outstanding advances, together with accrued interest
and any other amounts payable in respect of such
Faciity, and its commiuments, to be cancelled, each
within &0 days of notficauon to the banks by the facdny
agent Far these purposes, a ‘change of control’ occurs
f the company becomes a subsidiary of any other
company or GnNe or More persens acting either
ndividually or in concert, obtains control (as defined

in section | 124 of the Corporation Tax Act 2010)

of the company

Shares acquired through the company's employee
share plans rank parn passu with shares in 1ssue and
have no special nghts For legal and practical reasons,
the rules of these plans set out the consequences of
a change of control of the company

Secuon 4 Governance
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Report on directors’ remuneration

Dear sharcholders

| am pleased to present our report on directors’
remunerauon for 2012, which wil be put forward
for your consideration and approval at the annual
general meeting on 26 Apnl 2013

The remuneratron committee believes that the
purpose of ts remuneration policy 1s to support the
company's strategy and to help deliver sustained
performance and consistent long-term value creation
in the interests of all stakeholders

Performance n 2012
Performance has been resilient in very tough
conditions and the company has delivered

»strong competitive performance

yoperating profit broadly level
with the record profits in 201 |

»return on invested capital above
our cost of capital

»Pearson’s 21 st straight year of
increasing our dividend above the
rate of inflation. Over the past
ten years we have increased our
dividend at a compound annual rate
of 7%, returning more than £2 5bn
to shareholders

w

-

~

~
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Principles of remuneration policy
Qur reward policy 1s aligned with the interests
of 2ll stakeholders in providing

competitive base salanes that reflect the market
and mdnidual roles and contrbution

a high proparuon of variable remunerauon that
s directly inked to the annual and long-term
performance of the company

annual incentives that reward achievernent
of strategic goals

long-term incentrves that dnve long-term earmings
and share pnce growth and encourage people to
acquire and hold Pearson shares in hne with
shareholdery’ nterests

many people at Pearson with the opportunity to share
n the company's success through cash-based annual
incentives and bonuses and worldwide participation in
share ownership plans, conunung practices first started
in 1998

Market conditions

The remuneration committee 15 sensitive to the
current socual and economic environment surrounding
executive compensation

We welcome the coalition government’s proposals to
improve the clanty and transparency of remunerauon
disclosure Although the regulations have not yet been
finalised we have adopted many of the
recommendauons in this year's repart

We hope that these changes will continue to
demonstrate the link between our remuneration
pohcy and practice and the company's strategy and
perfarmance, as well a< aur commitment (o
shareholder engagement

We contnue to keep our remuneration policy under
review in ight of the prevailing economic condwions
and the impact of these on the company's objectives
and strategy




-
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What we've planned for 2013
Looking forward, for 2013

we undertock a penodic review of base salanes for
2013 taking into account general economic and market
condivons, the level of increases made across the
company as a whole, the remunerauon of executives
n similar positions in comparable companies and
indmdual performance

we reviewed and established an appropriate starting
remuneration package for the new CEQ comprising
base salary annual and long-term incentwves,
allowances and benefits

we reviewed and amended the service agreements for
those executive directors, including the CEQ, who will
continue to serve throughout 2013 The consequence
of this review has been to remove any entudement to
annual mcentive from the calculation of any
compensation that might be payable on termination of
employment by the company without notice or cause

w

-

-
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What we did 1in 2012
Looking back to some specific aspects of policy
and pracuce in 2012

we undertook a penodk review of base salares for
2012 and, in light of the prevailing economic conditions
and consistent with the action that continues to be
taken across the company to control costs, the
committee endorsed the recommendauon of the
executrve directors and other members of the Pearson
Management Commuttee that they recewve no increase
w base salanes

annual incentives pad to executives for 2012
performance were signdicantly lower than for 2011,
reflecting performance 1n a tough business environment
and more challenging incentive targets

we reduced the number of shares awarded to

the Pearson Management Committee as their long-
term incentives

Our policy and implementation s summarised in more
detall n the remainder of this report

Finally, § would dke to thank my fellow members of the
commuttee and the people who have assisted us for
thewr contribution over the past year and to give special
appreciaton to Patnck Cescau who stood down from
the committee during 2012

Signatwre removed *

Dawid Arculus
Chawrman, Remunerauon Cammittee
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Report on directors’ remuneration continued

Introduction

The rest of this report on directors’ remuneration
COmprises

+ a policy report — a forward-looking statement on
remuneraton policy for 2013 and beyond., and

» an implementation report — a report on remunerauon
practice in 2012
Together, this report complies with Schedule 8 of
the Large and Medwm-szed Companies and Groups
(Accounts and Reports) Regulations 2008 and was
approved by the board of directors on 7 March 2013

The commuttee believes that the company has
cormplied with the provisions regarding remuneration
matters contained within the UK Corporate
Governance Code

Where required under current regulatons, the
following tables have been subject to audit

» total remuneration {page 80)

» pension entitfements and pension-related benefits
(page 83)

» movements In directors’ interests In restncted shares
(pages 86 to 88)

» movements in directors’ interests (N share apuons
(Page 89)




-

~

~

Policy report

Remuneration policy and business strategy

The committee considers that a successful
remuneration policy needs to be sufficiendy flexible
to take account of future changes in the company’s
business environment and N remuneration practce
Cur starting point continues to be that total
remuneration shoukd reward both short- and long-
term results, delivering competitive rewards for
target performance but outstanding rewards for
exceptional performance

Our goal as a company I1s to be the world's leading
learning company and 1o help people of all ages make
progress in thew lives through all kinds of learning
Pearson’s strategy has for some years focused on
growth in digital products, educational services and
emerging markets Ve are now accelerating the
implementation of that strategy through

four global businesses — we are focusing on school,
higher educauon, English-language learning and
business education We are taking an increasingly
global view of educational needs and trends

four types of geographic market — we will carefully
evaluate when we offer global products and services,
when we customise for local needs, and when

we require a true local approach We wull

focus our investment on markets with the biggest
growth opportunities

four business models — we will channel our investment
into four proven business models direct-to-consumer,
‘Pearson Inside’ (our shorthand for institutional
services such as our school systems in Brazd),
assessment, and learning systems

Those measures complement our more tradiuonal
financml measures and goals but they do not, of course,
replace them In financial terms, Pearson’s goal & to
achieve sustainable growth on three key financial
goals — earmings, cash and return on invested capntal,
and rehable cash returns to our investors through
healthy and growing dividends We believe those are,
in concert, good indicators that we are bullding the
long-term value of Pearson So those measures (or
others that contnbute to them, such as sales, profit,
and working capital} form the basis of our annual
budgets and plans, and the basis for bonuses and long-
term incentives

Section 4 Gavernance &7

Summary of remunerauon policy

The following table summarnises the company’s policy
an directors’ remuneration that applies to executive
directors and other members of the Pearsen
Management Committee for 2013 and, so faras
practiable, for subsequent years We have taken
account of the coalition government's proposed
regulations on the disclosure of remuneration policy
but the format and level of detail in the policy table
may evalve in subsequent years in ine with the final
disclosure requirements
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Report on directors’ remuneration: Policy table

introducuon

Total remuneratuon s made up of fixed and performance-linked elements, with each efement supporung
different strategic objectives Total remunerauon s normally reviewed annually and benchmarked against
total remuneration for similar positions in cormparable comparues

Base salary

PURPOSE AND LINK TO STRATEGY

> Helps to recruit, reward and retam

» Reflects competitive market level, role, skills,
experience and indvidual contribution

OPERATION

Normally reviewed annually for the following year
taking into account general economic and market
conditions the lavel of increases made across the
company as a whole the remuneraton of executves
in sirmilar positions in comparable companies and
indwiduat performance

CPPORTUNITY

Normally reviewed in Line with increases across

the company as a whole, subject to partcular
crrcumstances such as changes in role, responsibilities
or organisation, current remuneration relative to the
msd-market posIition across our comparator groups
and the level of increases for executives generally

PERFORMANCE CONDITIONS

None, although performance of both the company
and the individual are taken nto account when
determining an appropnrate level of base salary
increase each year

Allowances and benefits

PURPOSE AND LINK TO STRATEGY

» Help to recruit and retain

> Reftect local competitive market

OPFERATION

Include inter ala cashallowances and non-cash benefits
such as health and welfare and car benefits

Allowarnces and benefits do not form pare of
pensionable earnings

QPPORTUNITY

The prowsion and level of allowances and benefits
are competitive and appropriate in the context of the
local market

FERFORMANCE PERIOD
None
IMPLEMENTATION

There were no INcreases to base salaries in 2012
for executive directors and other members of the
Pearson Management Commitiee Base salaries for
2012 are reported in the total remuneration table

on page 80

For 2013, we reviewed base salaries consistent with
our policy set out above

OTHER EMFLOYEES

The approach to setting base salary increases
elsewhere inthe company takes into account
economic factors, competiive market rates, roles,
skills, experience and individual performance

The increase in wages and salaries for the company
asawhole isreported in note 5 to the financial
statements on page |15

PERFORMANCE CONDITIONS
None

PERFORMANCE PERIOD
None

(MPLEMENTATION

No change on prior year Allowances and benefits
for 2012 are reported in the wtal remuneraton table
on page 80

OTHER EMPLOYEES

Allowances and benelfits for employees reflect the
local labour market in which they are based




Retirement benefits

PURPOSE AND LINK TO STRATEGY
» Help to recruit and retain
» Recognise long-term commitment to the company

OPERATION

New employees in the UK are eligible to jon the
Money Purchase 2003 secuon of the Pearson Group
Pension Plan New employees in the US are eligible
to jotn the 401(k) plan

Under the Money Purchase 2003 secuon of the
Pearson Group Pension Plan in the UK, normal
retrement age 1s 62, but, subject to company consent,
reurement 1s currently possible from age 55 or earlier
in the event of ill-health Duning service, the company
and the employee make contributions into a pension
fund Account balances are used to provide benefits
atreturement Pensions for a member's spouse,
dependent children and/or norminated financial
dependants are payable on death

Under the 401{k} plan in the US, which1s a defined
contribution plan, account balances will be used to
provide benefits at reurement [nthe event of death
before retrement, the account balances will be used
to provide benefits for designated beneficiares

Longer serving directors with legacy arrangements
may participate in the defined benefit Pearsen inc
Pension Plan in the US or the Final Pay section of the
Pearson Group Pension Plan in the UK, which are
closed to new members

Under the Final Pay section of the Pearson Group
Pension Plan in the UK, normal retirement age 1s 82,
but subject to company cansent reurement s
currently possible from age 55 or earlier m the event
ofill-health Duning service, the employee makes a
contribution of 5% of penswonable salary and the
penston fund buids up based on final pensionable
salary and pensionable service The accrued pension
1s reduced on retirement prior to age 60 Pensions
for amember’s spouse dependent children and/or
nomsnated finanaal dependants are payable on death

In the US, the defined benefit Pearson Inc Pension
Plan provides a lump sum benefit that s converuble
to an annurty on retirement The lump sum benefit
accrued at an age dependent percentage of capped
compensation until 3| December 2001 when further
benefit accruals ceased for most employees

Secuon 4 Governance 69

Employees who satsfied critena of age and service as
of 30 November 1598 continue to earn benefits under
an alternative formula that provides for | 5% of final
average earnings. adjusted for US Social Security The
benefit pad to these employees s the maxsrmum of the
lump sum benefit converted to anannuity and the
benefit eamed under the aliernative final average
earnings formula

Executive directors and ather executives across the
company are entitled to additional pension benefits
to take account of the cap on the amount of benefits
that can be provided from the all-employee pension
arrangements in the US and the UK

OFPORTUNITY

In the UK, company contributions to the Money
Purchase 2003 secuon of the Pearson Group Pension
Plan amount up to 16% of pensionable salary (double
the amount of the emp'oyee contribution, which is
limited according to certain age bands)

in the US, company contributions to the 401(k) plan
amaount to [00% ol the first 3% of elgible compensaton
contributed by the employee z2nd 50% of the next 3%,
plus a basi annual company contribution of | 25%

of elgible compensatcn Pearson Inc Pension Plan
participants who were at feast age 40 at 3| December
2001 can receive an additional 0 5% - | 5% of pay

PERFORMANCE CONDITIONS

None

PERFORMANCE PERIQD

None

THPLEMENTATION

No change

Reurement benefits are reported on page 83
OTHEN EMPLOYTEES

Executive directors participate in the same pension
arrangements that have been set up for Pearson
employees in the US and the UK

Note | Members of the Pearson Group Pension Plan who jomed after May 1989
are subyect te s upper byt of earmangs that can be used for pension purpcies
kevown as theearrengs cap Thishireg, £108 600as at 6 Apnl 2006 was abobished
by the Fnance Act 2004 However the Pearson Group Pengion Plan has retaned
RI0wn cap whech will K ease annuaty in ne wath the UK Government s
Index of RewalPrces (Al ltems) The cap was £137400 as 2t 6 Apnl 2012

Note I As areuft of the UK Governmen s A Day ¢hargges effectve from
Apri 2006 UK executve drectors and other members of the Pearson Group
Pension Planwho are or become affected by the fenm & 2iowance may be
proraded wath a cash supplemnent as an dtermauve wiurther accrual of pengen
benefiis onatays that 1s breadly ¢ost neutrdf 1o the comparry Eflectve fom

6 Aprl 2011 the anrwn) alk o (Le ther amount of per
that benefies from Lax redef each year) reduced fraem £ 255 000 to £50 000
Effectve 6 Apnl 2012 thelit e(ie th T amound of

and/ox fump wm that can benefit from tax rebef) reduced from £ Bmao £ 5m
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Report on directors’ remuneration Policy table
continued

Annual incentives

PURPOSE AND LINK TO STRATEGY

» Monvate achievement of annual strategic goals
and personal objectives

» Provide focus an key financial metrics

» Reward individual contribution to the success
of the company

OFPLRATION

Up to 90% of total opportunity 1s based on financial
performance at the corporate and business unit level
Up to 50% of total opportunity «s based on
performance against personal objecuves

The committee estabhshes threshold, target and
maximum levels of performance for different levels

of payout
Perfarmance 1s measured separately for each item

Annual incentive payments do not form part of
pensionable earnings

OPPORTUNITY

For the chief executive, maximum opportunity
15 180% of base salary

For ather members of the Pearson Management
Committee, ndividual incentive opportumties take
nto account their membership of that committee
and the relatve contnbution of their businesses or
roles to the company’s overall goals, with a maximum
apportunity of up to 175% of salary

For the chief executive and other members of the
Pearson Management Committee, there is normally no
payout for performance at threshold The performance

range sets a careful balance between upside opportunity

and downside risk and s normally based on targets in
accordance with the operating plan

Annual incentve plans are discrevonary and the
committee reserves the right to make adjustments to
payments up or down If it believes exceptional factors
warrant doing so

PERFORMANCE CONDITIONS

Subject to the achievement of targets for sales,
growth in underlying earrungs per share for continuing
operations at constant exchange rates (for Pearson
plc) or operaung profit (for the operatng companes),
average working capnal 2s a ratio to sales operatng
cash flow and personal objectives

The selecton and weighting of performance measures
takes into account the strategic objectives and the
busmness priorites relevant to each aperating company
and to Pearson overall each year

Personal objectives are agreed with the chief execuuve
(or, in the case of the chief executive, the chairman)
and may be functional, operauvonal, sirategec and non-
financial and include inter afto objecuves relating to
environmental, social and governance issues

PERFORMANCE PERIOD
One year
IMPLEMENTATION

Annual ncentive payments for 2012 are reported
n the total remuneration table cn page 80

For 2013, the maximum annual incentive opportunity
for the chief executive remains at I180% of base salary
and up to 175% of base salary for the other members
of the Pearson Management Commitee

OTHER EMPLOYEES

Many people particspate in some form of cash-based
annual Incentive, bonus, profit-share or sales
commission plan

Annual incentive plans for the Pearson Management
Commitiee form the basis of the annual incentive
plans below the level of the principal operating
companes and establish performance measures
and standards and set the ceiling for ndividual
Incentive opportunities




Long-term incentives

PURPOSE AND LINK TO STRATEGY
» Help to recruig, reward and retan

» Dnive long-term earmngs and share pnce growth
and value creation

» Aligninterests of executives and shareholders

» Encourage long-term sharehclding and commitment
to the company

» Link corporate performance to management’s long-
term reward in a flexuble way

CPERATION

Last approved by shareholders in 2011 Awards may
be delrvered in restncted shares and/or share options.
although 1t1s not the committee’s intention to grant
share opuoons for the foreseeable future

Awards for execuuve directors and other members
of the Pearson Management Committee vest on a
shding scale based on performance aganst stretching
corporate performance targets 75% of the vested
award rs released at the end of the three-year
performance penod and the remaining 25% cnly vests
if the parbapant retains the after-tax number of
shares for a further two years

Restncted shares may be granted without performance

condiuons to satisfy recrutment and retenion objectives,

but not to any of the aurrent execuuve directors

Where shares vest, paruapants also recerve additonal
shares represenuing the gross value of dwdends that
would have been paid on these shares during the
performance penod and remvested

Pearsen's reported financial results for the relevant
penods are used to measure performance

The commattee has discretion to make adjustments
taking into account exceptional factors that distort
urdertying business performance In exerasing such
discretion, the commuttee 15 guided by the primaple
of algming shareholder and management interests
No such adjustments were made for performance
penods ending mn 2012

CPPOATUNITY

We set the level of ndmdual awards by taking
Into account

» the fare value of indvidual awards at the ume of grant.
assuming thar performance targets are met in full

» market pracuce for comparable companies and
market assessments of total remuneration from
our independent advisers,

Section 4 Governance H

» indradual roles and responsibdues, and
» company and indradual performance
PERFORMANCE CONDITIONS

Subject to the achievement of targets for relatve total
shareholder retum, return on invested capital and
earnings per share growth, with normally one third of
the award based on each The committee determmes
the performance measures and targets governing an
award of restncted shares prior to grant

PEAFORMANCE PFERIOD
Three years
IMPLEMENTATION
No change

Awards are reported in the movements in directors’
interests in restricted shares and share opuons tables
on pages 86 to 89

OTHER EMPLOYERS

Approximately 6% of the company’s employees below
the Pearson Management Commattee — selected on
the basis of their role, performarnce and potential -
currently hold ume-vesung shares under the long-term
Incentive plan

All employees (inchuding executive directors) are also
ehghble 1o paruapare in savings-related share acquisiion
programmes in the UK, US and rest of wortd, which are
not subject to any performance condiions

Note 3 Total shareholdar raturn (TSR) s the retumn to shareholders from
any growthin Pearson s shars price and resrvested devdanch over the
parformance penad For long term wicantive rwards TSR = maasured relatve
to the consttiants of tha FTSE World Meda index over a three-year penod
Comparses that drop out of the indax are normally excludedt ¢ only compares
It ths index for the entsre penod are counted Share prce o sveraged aver 20
days at the startand end of the performancs penod commencng of the date
of Pearsan s resuts announcement i the year ol grant and the year of veting,
Drndends are treated as resvasted 00 U ex dwdend data ke with the
Dmm-mmmodoloy 1Nv¢mowwubmdonnhm1sanu*¢|

fying tsetf that tha TsRuap
mmwwm-dmmThwmst&
retatrve 10 the consttuents of the FTSE World Meda index Decauss m ine with
marvy of our shareholders o fak that part of axscytave diractors rewards sthould
be bnded to performance relaove [0 the COMPany § peers

MNote 4 Return on lnvested capital (ROIC) 11 adprstad operatng
profties £ash tan axprassad b spertaniags of grosswvestad capstal

capeal twesied m the business (mosdy o the form of goodwa ansocated with
SCOUEIOONS) and roquared substantial Cash UVeLtMENE Lo wvegrate

thoe scqubon.

Note § Adjusted sarnings pur share (EPS) 5 calaiated by ddng the
adprsied earnng attnbutable o equaty sharehokiers of the comparsy by the
weaighied sveragy mamber of ofdmary shares mesue durng the yesr xxiudng
3Ny ordinary thares purchased by the company and heid m truat (ses nota 8

compares the ady
encled priorto te gram date wth the ad: | yezr ending
three years fazer and caloutates thw et compaound snual growth rate
over the penod We chase EPS growth becmns strong bottom-na growth
imperatve f we s to enprove our TSR and our ROIC
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Reporton directors’ remunerauon Policy table

conunued

Bonus share matching

PURPOSE AND LINK TO STRATEGY

» Encourages executive directors and other senior
managers to acquire and hold Pearson shares

» Ahgns interests of executives and shareholders
OPEAATION

First approved by shareholders in 1998, last approved
by shareholders in 2008

Semor managers across the company are imvited to
invest up to 50% of their after-tax annuat incentive

in Pearson shares and hold these shares for three
years, n return for the opportunity to earn additional
free matching shares and dividend shares, depending
on performance against the earmings per share
performance condition

Where matching shares vest, participants also receve
addiuonal shares representing the gross value of
drvmdends that would have been paid on the matching
shares during the performance pencd and reinvested

QFPORTUNITY

Maximum matching award s equal to the number

of shares that could have been acquired with the
amount of pre-tax annual bonus invested in Pearson
shares (1 e one matching share for every one mvested
share, grossed up for tax)

Share ownership guidelines

PURPQSE AND LINK TO §TRATEGY
» Align interests of executives and shareholders
OPFERATION

Executive directors are expected tobuldup a
substannial shareholding in the company in ine with
the policy of encouraging widespread employee
ownership Shares that count towards these guidelines
indude any shares held unencumbered by the
executive, their spouse and/or dependent children
plus any shares vested but held pending release under
arestcted share plan

Executive directors have five years from the date
of appointment to reach the guideline

CPPORTUNITY

Target holding 1s two umes salary for the duefl
executsve and | 25 umes salary for the other exequtive
directors, consistent with median pracoce in FTSE 100
companues that operated such arrangements when
the guideline was set

PERFORMANCE CONDITIONS

Maximurn matching award is achieved if the company's
earmings per share increase in real terms by 5% per
annum compound over the three-year performance
pertod 50% of the maxmmum matching award 1s
released # the company's adjusted earnings per share
increase in real terms by 3% per annum compound
over the same pertod Matching shares are calaslated
on a straight-hne basis for performance between
threshold and maximum

PERFOAMANCE PERIOD

Three years

IMPLEMENTATION
No change

Awards are reported in the movements in directors’
interests in restnicted shares table on pages 86 to 88

OTHER EMMLOYEES

Around 450 senior managers across the comparny

are ehgible to participate 1 this plan, typically drect
reports to the operaung company CEOs, the:r senior
management teams, and anyone who has a direct and
significant nfluence on corporate strategy and finanwal
performance

Nots & Earrungy par share growth i cakouated usng te point to-pont
mathod which tompires the adgusted eamngs per share in the comparry s
accounts for the fnanc:al yesar ended pror 1o the grant date wnth the adpstted
earrungs per share for the financial year ending trea years bter and calaubutes

the imphat compound annual growth rate over the penod Real growth s
caleutated by reference 1o the UK Government Retal Prices Index (All terms)

PERFORMANCE CONDITIONS
Nane

PERFORMANCE PERIOD
None

(MPLAMENTATION

No change

Directors’ interests are reported on page 90
All executve directors comfortably exceeded
these gudelines in 2012

OTHER EMPLOTEES

There are no mandatory share ownership guidebnes
below executive directorlevel, although employees are
encouraged to become shareholders in the company
by retaming shares acquired through the company's
discrenonary and all-employee stock programmes




Service agreements

PURPOSE AND LINK TO STRATEGY

Provide an appropnate level of protecuon for the
executive and the company by

» setung out indmdual entitlements to elements
of remuneraton consistent with policy

» summarising notuce perods and compensation on
terminanion of employment by the company without
notce or cause

» descnbing the obligations in relatien to
confidennahity, data protecuon, miteflecwal property
and restraint on certan actviues

CPERATION

The policy on executive directors’ service agreements
was reviewed in 2008, 2010 and again in 2012 In
accordance wath long established policy, all executve
directors have rolling service agreements under wiuch,
other than by termunation n accardance with the
terms of these agreements, employment continues
untl rearement

There are no speaal provisions for notce or
compensauon in the event of a change of control
of Pearson

On termunation of employment, executive directors’
enttlements to any vested or urvested awards under
Pearson’s discretionary share plans are created in
accordance wath the terms of the relevam plan

QPPORTUNITY

The company may termmnate executive directors’
service agreements by gving no more than
12 months’ notice

As an alternative, the company may at its discretion
pay in ieu of that notice Payment-in-heu of notice
may be made in instalments and may be subject to
mitigatton Longer serving directors wath legacy
agreements are entitled to hquidated damages of the
comparny termunates their agreement without notice
Oor cause

For exeautrve directors whose service will conunue
throughout 2013, compensation on terminaton of
empioyment by the company without notice or cause
compnses 100% of the annual salary at the date

of terrminanion and the annual cost to the company
of providing pension and all other benefits

FERFORMANCE CONDITIONS

None

Section 4 Governance 3

PERFORHANCE PERICD
None
IMMLEMENTATION

The servace agreements for the executive directors,
ncluding the CEQ, who will continue to serve
throughout 2013 were reviewed and amended

The consequence of this review has been to remove
any entitlement to annual incentive from the
catculanion of any compensanon thar might be payable
in the event of terminanon of employment by the
comparty without noutce or cause Details of each
indmidual's service agreement are reportedn the
notes below

OTHER EMPLOTEES

Employment agreements for other employees below
the Pearson Management Committee are determined
according tolocallabour law and market practice

Nots 7 W summirna the serwee agreements that wall 2pply to directons
servang dunng X3 as folows

Compensanon on termMmnaton
Datect Notce of employment by the comparry
Nama agreement panods without natice or cause
Glen 29 juty 12 months fom  Pryment-n-Seu of notxce of HO0X
Moreno 2005 the director of avrwnd fees 11 the dawe of
12 months from  termerzoan
the compary
John 31 Decembar Scxmanths from Paymant i-beu of natice of 100%
Fallan mnn the drectoe of wrwnl salary at the date of
12 monthy from  terTrenanon and the annual cost
the ol p and all other benek
wa 31 Detember Sctmonths from  Severance payments of 100%
Ethndge 2017 the drector of sarwcal salary at the date of
12 months from  termunanon and the annual cont
the company f O and all other beoell
Robuny 17 Dacambar  Socmonths from  Payment-n-ieu of notce of 100%
Fraestons 2012 the drsctor of arrwnl salary at the data of

11 tirraha from  termenanon and the anmial cost
the company of perszon and &8 other benefits

fchn 21 Detember Sk months from  Ligusdated damages of 100%

Makwgon 2012 thve drector ofannuzl talary 2t dv, dite of
11 months from  terrmonanon and the snnual cost
the comparry of pansson and ol other banefits

Note @ Marjone Scardino servedunder her serwee egreement dated
27 February 2004 unti the ke employment o 11 December 2012
This agreement provded for nooce perody of tx mendns from the dwector
and {2 months from B comgarny 2nd comp ontar of

by the ¢ornpany withaut notce or cune of 100% of annual satary
1 the date of termnation dhw sl cost of persson and al ocher banefit
and S50% of potent! annuad dx entrve

Nota 2 Rona Farhead 3 servce agreement dated 24 Janusry 2003 contmues
naflact for the frit four Months of 201 wnty! the kaves tha company on
30 Aprd 2013 Thes agresment provides for ndhcs panoads of s months From
the dwector and {2 months from the company 2nd compenaton on

tw of emplcyrreena by the company vwthowt notxte o cause of 100%
of anmal sabary 1 the dxte of termanation, the annul cost of penson and ol
other benefiax and S0% of potencal annual mcentve
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Report on directors’ remunerauon conunued

Recrutment

The committee determines the remuneration package
for any new appamnmment to the Pearson Management
Committee, esther from wiathin or outside of Pearson
Remuneravon ndudes base salary, annual and
long-term incentrve enttlements and awards, and
pEension arrangements

The committee carefully considers factors such as

the relative size and contnbution of the role, the
mdmdual’s skalls and expenence the avalabihity of skills
and expertence in the market, the indwidual’s curreng
remuneraton package, the market rate for the job and
internal compansons within Pearson before
determining an appropnate remuneravon package for
a new appomntmeny. Occasionally dhs requires a degree
of flexabifity so that the remuneranon palicy boundanes
are wider than under usual arcumstances but at afl
times the committee seeks to minimise internal
dispanues and to avold pay for poor performance

For someone joining from outside of Pearson, the offer
may include compensation for the forfeiture of awards
from a previous employer on a comparable basss,
taking account of performance achueved or iikely to be
achieved, the proporuon of performance period
remaining and the form of the award

Benchmarking

For benchmarking purposes, we review remuneration
by reference to three separate comparator groups
First, we use a select peer group of FTSE 100
companies with very substantial overseas operations,
excduding financial services These companies are of a
range of sizes refauve to Pearson, but the method cur
independent advisers, Towers Watson, use t0 make
compansons on remunerauon takes this vamation in
size into account Secondly, we look at a broad media
industry group of US companies And thirdly, we look
at the FTSE 20-50, excluding financial services We use
these companies because they represent the wider
executve talent poot from which we rght expect

to recrut externally and the pay market to which

we might be vulnerable i our remunerauon was

not compettve

Market assessments agamnst the three groups take
account of key factors which Towers Watson's
research shows differentiate remunerauon for
jobs of a similar nature, such as financial size,
board membership, reporung relauonships and
internavonal actvines

For benchmarking purposes and for the perfarmance
scenanos below, the mam elements of remuneration
are valued as follows

Elemant of remuneration  Vakation

Base salary Actual base salary

Allowances Cost to company of providing

resrement and allowances, reurement and

other benefits other benefits

Annual incentive  Target level of annual incenuve

Long-term Expected value of long-term

incentive tncentve award

Bonus share Expected value of matching award

matching based on target level of annual
wicentive and assuming maamum
amount (50% of annual incentive)
15 Invested

Total remuneration Sum of all elements of
remuneranon

Expected value means Towers Watson's assessment
of the awards’ net present value takung into account
the vesung schedule and the probability that any
performance targets will be met




Pay and performance

Consistent with its policy, the committee places
considerable emphasis on the performance-linked
elements 1 e annual Incentves, bonus share matching
and long-tertn incentives

The commntee considers what each director can
expect to receive under different performance
scenarios, based on the following definitions

of performance

Performance scando  Elements of remunieraban

Maximum Base salary, allowances, benefits,

retirement benefits, maximum annual

ncentive, maximum bonus share

matching and maximum long-term

mncentive

Target Base salary, allowances, benefits,
retrement benefits, target annual
mcentive, target bonus share
matching and target long-term
Incentive

Fixed Base salary, allowances, benefits and
reurement benefits only
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The relauve importance of fixed and performance-
related remuneration for the chief executive and other
executive directors is typically as follows

Graphs removed

We will conpinue to review the mix of fixed and
perfarmance-linked remuneranon on an annual basis,
consistent with our overall philosophy
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Report on directors’ remuneration continued

Chawmnan’s remuneratuon

The committee’s policy 1s that the chairman’s pay
should be set at a level that 15 competiive with those
of chairmen i similar positions in comparable
compantes He 15 not entrtled to any annual or long-
term incentive, retirement or other benefits

Following the committee’s last review in 2010, the
charman’s remuneration was increased to Its current
level with effect from | Apml 2011 The next review
will take place in 2014

Non-executive directors

Fees are determined by the full board having regard
to market practice and within the restrictions
contained m the company's Arucles of Association
Non-executive directors receive no other pay or
benefits (other than reimbursement lor expenses
incurred In connection with their directorship of the
company) and do not participate in the company’s
equity-based ncentive plans

With effect from | July 2040, the structure and fees
are as follows

Faes payable

from | juty

2010

Non-executive director £65,000
Charrmanship of audit committee £25,000
Chawrmanship of remuneration committee £20,000
Membership of audit committee £10,000
Membership of remunerauon committee £5,000
Senior independent director £20,000

A minimum of 25% of the basic fee 1s pard in Pearson
shares that the non-executive directors have
committed to retain for the period of ther
directorships

Non-executive directors serve Pearson under letters
of appointment and do not have service contracts
There 15 no entitlement to compensation on the
termmation of thewr directorships

Relative importance of pay spend

We show below the year-on-year change i the
relatrve imponance of pay spend compared to the
retumn to shareholders (divdends) and reinvestment
in the company (adjusted operaung profit for
conunuing operauons)

Year-on-year

0 W0 change

£ im ¢ %

Operaung profit 936 942 (6) (I1%)
Dividerds 346 318 28 9%
VWages and salaries 1.659 1,531 128 8%
Directors’ salaries/fees, & 8 @) (25%)

annual Incentives,
allowances and benefits

Mote | Wages and salanes include conunuing operations only
and exclude Penguin 2011 1s restated on the same basis
Employee numbers for conunuing operations for 2012 were
42980 (2011 37,964) Further detals are set out In note 5

o the financal statements on page |15

Note 2 Directors’ salares/fees annual incentives, allowances
and benefits exclude retirement benefits and long-term
mncentives consistent with wages and salanes

Employee engagement

In accordance with the committee’s charter and terms
of reference, the commttee’s remit does not include
remuneratuon matters below that of the chief
executive, the other executive directors and other
members of the Pearson Management Committee
However, before the remuneraton packages for the
Pearson Management Committee are set for the year
ahead, the committee considers a report from the
chief executive and director for people on general pay
trends in the market and the leve! of pay increases
across the company as a whole This helps to ensure
that executive remuneration packages are reviewed in
the context of the wider organisauon

The company consults with vancus employee
representauve badies — inchuding trade unions and
waorks councis in some jurisdictions — about the
company's strategy, compenuveness and performance
of the business and other matters affecting employees
The company also conducts an employee engagement
survey to find out how people feel about working for
Pearson, what they think about the work they do, the
opportunities they have and the rewards they get
{including 3 sectuion on pay and benefits) The company
uses all of this feedback to mform decisions on people-
related actvities, resources and investment, local
management acuon plans and wider business umit and
organisational strategles

It 15 the company’s intention to continue to engage
with employees and employee representatives in this
way in the future
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Shareholder engagement

The company consults regularly with shareholders
on all matters affecung its strategy and business
operations As part of that process, we also engage
with shareholders on matters relaung to executve
remuneraton

In 2012, the committee amended the service contracts
for all executive directors continuing to serve
throughout 2013 The consequence of this review has
been to remave any entitlement to annual Incentive
from the calculation of any compensation that mught be
payable on termination of employment by the
company without notice or cause, In line with the
prevailing view of best practice amongst sharehelders
and therwr representatives

The committee continues to be aware of and respond
10 best pracuce gudelines of shareholders and ther
representative bodies

Misstatement or misconduct

In 201 1, the committee reviewed the company’s
powers to adjust and reclaim vanable remuneration in
exceptional circumstances of misstatement or
miscanduct The commantee already has long-standing
discretionary powers to make downward adjustments
under the annual 2nd long-term incentive plans, as
described in the remuneration policy table on pages 70
and 7} The company will follow its legal rghts and
reclaim rewards gained i the event of proven wrong
domg which led to misstatement of the company’s
accounts
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Report on directors’ remuneration conunued

Implementauon report

The remuneration commuttee and its acuvities

David Arcultus chaired the remuneratuon commitee
for the year 2012, the other members ware Patnck
Cescau (who stood down from the commuttee at the
AGM), Vivienne Cox (who joined the commatee
during the year), Ken Hydon and Glen Moreno

David Arculus, Patnck Cescau, Vivienne Cox and
Ken Hydon are mdependent non-executive directors
Glen Moreno, chairman of the board, s a member of
the committee as permitted under the UK Corporate
Governance Code

Marjorie Scardino, chief executive, Robin Freestone,
chief financial officer, Robin Baliszewski, director for
peaople, Robert Head, director for executive reward,
and Stephen Jones, head of company secretarial and
deputy secretary, provided material assistance to the
committee during the year They atiended meetings of
the committee, although none of them was involved in
any decisions relaung to bis or her own remuneration

To ensure that it receves independent advice, the
committee has appointed Towers Watson to supply
survey data and to adwise on market trends, long-term
incentives and other general remuneraten matters
Towers Watson also advised the company on health
and welfare benefits in the US and provided consulting
advice directly to certain Pearson operating companies
Towers Watson are members of the Remuneration
Consultants’ Group, the body which oversees the code
of conduct In relation to executive remuneration
consulting in the UK

The committee's principal duty 1s 1o determine and
regularly review, having regard to the UK Corporate
Governance Code and on the advice of the chief
executive, the remunerauon polky and the
remuneration and benefits packages of the executve
directors and other members of the Pearson
Management Committee comprising CEOs of principal
operating businesses and sentor heads of strategic
corporate functions This iIncludes base salary, annual
and long-term incentives, retirement and any

other benefits

The committee’s duues are also

» to review and approve corporate goals and objectives
relevant to executive compensation and to evaluate
performance tn light of those goals and objectives

> 1o approve the cornpany’s long-term incentive and
other share plans

-

to advise and decide on general and specific
arrangements in connection with the termination
of employment of executive directors and ather
members of the Pearson Management Commuittee

~

to have delegated responsibility for determining the
remuneration and benefits package of the chawrman
of the board

to ensure that all provisions regarding disclosure
of mformaton are fuffilled

~

-

to appoint and set the terms of reference for any
remuneration consultants who advise the committee
and monitor the cost of such advice

The committee’s full charter and terms of reference
are availlable on the company’s website

Annually, the commuttee reviews its own performance,
constitution and charter and terms of reference to
ensure 1t Is operating at maximum effectiveness and
recommend any changes it considers necessary o the
board for approval

The commuttee parucipated In a survey to review its
performance and effectiveness i July 2012, loaking at
areas such as the clarity of roles and responsibilities,
the composition of the committee, the use of ume,
the quality and umeliness of meeting matenals, the
opportunity for discussion and debate, dalogue with
management and access to independent adwvice

The committee concluded that it 1s operating
effectively and noted the challenges for the year ahead




The committee met six umes during 2012 The
matters discussed and actions taken were as follows

20 AND 24 FEBRUARY 2012

> Reviewed and approved 201 | annual mcentive
plan payouts

» Reviewed and approved 2009 long-term incentive
plan payouts and release of shares

> Approved vesting of 2007 and 2009 annual bonus
share matching awards and release of shares

» Reviewed base salares for the Pearson Management
Committee and endorsed the recommendaton of the
executive directors and other members of the Pearson
Management Committee that they receve no increase
i base salares for 2012

» Reviewed and approved 2012 Pearson and operaung
company annual incentive plan targets

» Reviewed and approved 2012 indvidual annual
incenuve opportunities for the Pearson Managemant
Communtee

> Reviewed and approved 2012 long-term ncentive
awards and associated performance condrtions for
the Pearson Management Commuttee

» Reviewed and approved 201 | report on directors’
remuneraton

» Noted company's use of equity for employee
share plans

» Reviewed and approved the remuneration package
for the chief executive

27 APRIL 2012
> Reviewed and approved 2012 long-term incentive
awards for the Pearson Management Committee

> Nioted the company's response to the UK pension tax
relief changes for high earners

26 JULY 2002

» Noted the actvity of the Standing Commuttee of the
Board i relation to the operauon of the company’s
equity-based reward programmes

» Ratfied the 2012 annual incentive plans for Pearson plc
and the operating companes

y Discussed Towers Watson's overview of the current
remuneration environment

» Reviewed committee’s charter and terms of reference

Secuon 4 Governance 79

J OCTORER 2012

» Noted the activity of the Standing Committee of the
board in relation to the operation of the company’s
equity-based reward programmes

» Noted the appointment of John Fallon to the board
and reviewed his remuneration package

» Approved 2012 long-term incentive awards for
executives and managers

» Reviewed committee’s performance and effectiveness

» Reviewed remuneration policy and practice and the
imphecauons of the new reporung regulatons
§ DECEMBER 2012

» Discussed Towers Watson's overview of the current
remuneration environment

» Considered Towers Watson's report on remuneration
for the Pearson Management Committee for 2013

» Reviewed status of outstanding long-term incentive
awards

» Considered 2013 annual incentive plan metrics

» Considered the approach to 201 3 long-term incentive
plan awards for the Pearson Management Committee

» Noted the recommended format for the 2012 report
on drectors’ remuneration taking account of the
proposed reporung regulations

» Reviewed and approved the service agreement
for John Fallon’s appointment as chief executive

» Reviewed and approved the leaving arrangements
for Manorie Scardino, Rona Farhead and one other
member of the Pearson Management Committee
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Report on directors’ remuneration contnued

Total remuneration

Total remuneration for the directors in 2012 was as follows

02 pL

Long- Toal Long Toal

Siane  Anmal Aetrement tom {sngle Aegrement term {sgle

Al figures in £000s fees mcenuve Allowances Bencfits Sub tocal benefits mcentves figure) Sub oual bentfits ncentves figure)
Chatrman

Glen Moreno 500 - - - 500 - - 500 488 - - 488

Executive directors
Marjore Scardino 993 432 60 65 1,550 712 4088 6,350 2455 706 5,719 8,880

Wil Ethndge 658 193 - - 951 302 1,532 2,785 1,390 575 3,196 5.6l
Rona Farrhead 529 192 - 25 746 267 1109 2,122 999 182 1,574 2,755
john Fallon L46 63 - 4 213 64 317 594 - - - -
{appointed

3 October 2012)

Robin Freestone 500 252 - 15 767 151 1,461 2,379 1,094 150 2,087 3.33t
John Makinsen 549 238 211 16 1,014 - 1,08 2,095 1,417 346 1,571 3334
Non-executive

directors

David Arculus 95 - - - 95 - - 95 95 - - 95
Paurxck Cescau 90 - - - 90 - - 90 100 - - 100
Vivienne Cox 80 - - - 80 - - 80 - - - -
{appointed

| January 2012)

Susan Fuhrman 75 - - - 75 - - 75 75 - - 75
Ken Hydon 95 - - - 95 - - 95 95 - - 95
Josh Lews 75 - - - 75 - - 75 63 - - 63
Tota 4385 1,470 271 125 6,251 1,496 9,588 17335 8727} 1 959 14,147 24377
Total 201 | 4,139 13,752 316 64 8,271

MNote | For the full year, John Fallon’s remuneration refiected nine months in his role as CEQ Pearson Intemational and
three months as Pearson CEQ designate and was salary/fees - £506 annual incentuve — £259 benefits - £16, sub-total — £781,
retrement benefits — £262 long-term incenuves — £1 306 total — £2,349 (all figures in £000s)

Note 2 In anucipauon of the proposed reporung regutations, we show a ‘single figure of total remuneranon, whch includes
regrement benefits and long-term mcentives in addipon to the other elements of remunerauon that have been shown in previous
reports Consistent with the methodology proposed by the Financial Reporung Councd at the time of wnung, retwement benefits
include the increase in the vatue of the penson fund dunng the year, compnsing company contbutions to the plan dunng the
year for defined cantnbution plans and the iIncrease in the pension fund offset for inflauen and muluphed by 20 for defined benefit
plans, as well as other pension-related costs (see the retrement benefits table on page 83 for further deaf) Long term
incenuves tnclude all awards under the long-term incentive plan, bonus share matching plan or all-employee share plan that vested
durning the year or that have not yet vested but where performance s known at year-end as well as dwidend shares accrutng and
released on such shares in the year (see the tables on movements in resuncted shares and share options on pages 86 to 89 for
further detad)

Note 3 The company provided gifts to Patnck Cescau and Manjone Scarding after they stepped down from the board In the case
of Patrck Cescau, the vakse of the gifts was £21 700 Marjone Scardno recerved a pamntoig ongmally purchased by the company
for £12,000, which has an estimated value of approximately £50,000 - £100 000
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Salanesfiees

Salaries/fees paid by the company are reported in the table on total remuneration of the directors Fees paid
by other companies to the executive directors for their non-executive directorships elsewhere are reported
separately on page 92

Fees paid to non-executive directors in 2012 were comprised as follows

All Apres in £000s Banciee Comutas chuirmangup  Conmetzes mevberthp  Sonor ndependen dractorthp Toal
David Arculus 65 20 10 - 95
Patrick Cescau 65 - 5 20 90
Vmtenne Cox 65 - 15 - 80
Susan Fuhrman 65 - 10 - 75
Ken Hydon 65 25 5 - 95
Josh Lewis 65 — e - 75

Annual incenuve

For 2012, annual incentive oppartunities were based on the following performance measures and performance
agamst these measures (designated as ™ below threshold, < between threshold and target, * between target
and maximum and * above maximum) was as follows

Performancan 2012
Weighung of performance measures

(X of maxsrwm opparusty) Pearion phk Operaung company'oompanies
Undertpng Averags Average Payout
Operaang growthin working workng n 2012
Parson company! Persondd  adumed apd © Opsraung Operagng  amalto  Operanng (% of
Name plc cormpames  objecuves EPS Sales wes abo  ashflow Sales profit mlesravo  cash flow salary)
Marjone 90% - 10% < = > - 43 5%
Scardino
Will Ethridge 30% 60% 10% < = > - < < - = 445%
Pearson North
Amenca
Rona Fairhead 30% 50%  10% - - = = = 364%
Profesucnal
Axtessment &
Tramng
10% > > +
FT Pubkshing
john Fallon 30% 60% 10% - - < < + = 511%
Pearson
intemnavonal
Robin Freestone 80% - 0% < = > - 50 4%
John Makirson 30% 50% 10% < - > - < - - -  434%
Pengun Group
10%
ndka
Allowances

Allowances for Marjorie Scardino include £49,570 in respect of housing costs and a US payroll suppltement of
£9.985 John Makinson 1s entitded to a locauon and market premium i relation to the management of the business
of the Penguin Group in the US and receved £210,937 for 2012

Benefits

Benefits include company car, car allowance and UK healthcare premwums US health benefits for Marjorie Scardino
and Will Ethndge are self-tnsured and the cost is tax free to employees For Manorie Scardino, benefits include
£48,600 for pension planning and financial advice Manorie Scardino, Rona Farrhead and john Makinson have the
use of a chauffeur
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Report on directors’ remuneration continued

Retirement benefits
Descripuon of the directors’ pension entnlements are as follows

Drecror

Reurement benefinn

Marjone
Scardino

will
Ethridge

Rona
Fairhead

John Fallon

Robin
Freestone

John
Makinson

Member of the Pearson Inc Pension Plan (under which her benefit accruals ceased at the end of 2001)
and the approved 401(k) plan Unul 2010, additional benefits were provided through an unfunded
unapproved defined contrbution plan Since 2010, additional pension benefits are provided through

a =xable and non-pensionable cash supplement in place of the unfunded plan, a funded defined
contribuuon plan approved by HM Revenue and Customs as a corresponding plan, and amounts in the
legacy unfunded plan In aggregate, the cash supplement and contnbutions to the funded plan are based
on a percentage of salary and a fixed cash amount index-linked to inflation The notional cash balance
of the legacy unfunded plan ncreases annually by a specfied nouonal interest rate The unfunded plan
also provides the opportunity to convert a proportion of this notional cash account Into a novonal
share account reflecting the value of a number of Pearson ordinary shares The number of shares in the
notional share account 1s determined by reference to the market value of Pearson shares at the date of
conversion

Member of the Pearson In¢ Pension Plan (under which he continues to accrue benefits under the
alternative formula because he satisfied cntena of age and service} and the approved 401 (k) plan He
also partictpates in an unfunded, non-quatified Supplemental Executrve Retirement Plan (SERP) that
provides an annual accrual of 2% of final average earnings, less benefits accrued in the Pearson Inc
Pension Plan and US Social Security Additonal defined contnbution benefits are prownided through a
funded non-qualfied Excess Plan

Member of the Pearson Group Pension Plan Her pension accrual rate 1s 1/30th of pensionable salary
per annum, restricted to the plan earnings cap Until April 2006, the company also contnbuted to a
Funded Unapproved Reurement Benefits Scherme (FURBS) on her behalf Since Aprit 2006, she has
recerved a taxable and non-pensionable cash supplement In replacement of the FURBS

Member of the Pearson Group Pension Plan His pension acerual rate 15 | /30th of pensionable salary
per annum, restricted to the plan earrungs cap Unul April 2006, the company also contnibuted to a
Funded Unapproved Retirement Benefits Scheme (FURBS) on his behalf Since April 2006, he has
receved a taxable and non-pensionable cash supplement in replacement of the FURBS

Member of the Money Purchase 2003 section of the Pearson Group Pension Plan Company
contributions are 16% of pensionable salary per annum, restricted to the plan earnings cap Untl April
2006, the company also contributed to a Funded Unapproved Retirement Benefits Scheme (FURBS)
on his behalf Since April 2006, he has recerved a taxable and non-pensionable cash supplement in
replacement of the FURBS

Member of the Pearson Group Pension Plan under which tus pensionable salary is restricted to the plan
earrungs cap The company ceased contributions on 31 December 2001 to his FURBS arrangement
and the benefits were withdrawn in 2012, reducing the benefits payable under the UURBS During
2002 1t set up an Unfunded Unapproved Retirement Benefits Scheme (UURBS) for him The UURBS
tops up the pension payable from the Pearson Group Pension Plan and the closed FURBS to target a
pension of two-thirds of a revalued base salary on retirement at age 62 The revalued base salary 15
defined as £450,000 effecuve at | June 2002, increased at | January each year by reference to the
increase in the UK Government’s Index of Retall Pnces (All kems) In the event of hus death a pension
from the Pearson Group Pension Plan and the UURBS will be paid to his spouse or nominated financial
dependant_Early retirement 15 currently posstble from age 55 with company consent
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Details of the directors’ pension enutdements and pension-related benefits duning the year are as follows

O
Increase’ Increase’ Tramfer p«uu:
(detrease) noeae (decresse)  vakue of the cos Ocher
n acoued {decrease) in acaued WNCTERse N o the Other  penuon Vakiem
Accrued  pennon Tramfer Tramfer = tramfer d il w  rdated  BI2
penucn it over the  value at valzant vkt ovr overths  penuonat overthe Gwol  bmeft  wngle

Owectors Age at 31 Dec 12 perod 3 Dec il 11D 1] che penod penod 3 Dec I penod pention cots  figurs
pensions 31 Dec 12 000" £000? €000! oo 000+ £000 £000~ £0007 ooy €000 LOg0"
Marjore
Scardino 65 37 (10) 495 488 ©7n (1 - 105 6651 583 712
will
Ethridge 60 2120 176120393 25029 4617 134 1578 327 - 17 302
Rona
Farrhead 51 486 64 5793 7008 1150 54 720 - 1339 253 267
John Fallon 50 655 71 81587 9659 1437 59 800 - 1314 130 64
Robin
Freestone 54 - - - - - - - 207 1233 67 151
John
Makinson 58 2212 (B6H)59065 4,4209 (1.4920) (936) - - - 177 -

Note | The acerued pension at 31 December 2012 1s the deferred pension to which the member would be entitled on ceasing
pensionable service on 31 December 2012 For Manone Scardino this 1s the approximate pension payable in respect of her
frozen benefit in the US plan For Will Ethridge this 15 his pansion from the US plan and the US SERP For Rona Farhead and John
Fallon 1t relates to the pension payable from the UK plan For John Makinson it relates to the pension from the UK Plan and his
unapproved armangements n aggregate Robm Freestone does net accrue defined benefits

Note 2 This 1s the change 10 accrued pension over the year compared with the accrued penston at the end of the previous year
Note 3 This 1s the uansfer value quoted at the end of the previous year

Note 4 The UK rransfer values at 31 December 2012 are calculated using the assumpuons for cash equivalents payable from the
UK plan and are based on the acerued pension at that date There were no changes in the transfer value methodology over the
year although the discount rates are updated each month to reflect changes in market conditions For the US SERP, transfer
values are calculated using a discount rate equivalent to current US long-term bond yields The US planis a lump sum plan and che
accrued balance 1s included where apphcable

Note 5 Less directors’ contnbutions

Note 6 Net of UK mflation (where mflatton is the mcrease in CPl to the previous September, subject to a mimmum of 0% pa and
a maxsmum of 5% pa) In the case of jJohn Malkunson, the atcrued persion over the penod has decreased because of a transfer
made as a result of a pension shanng order

Note 7 This column comprses contributions to defined contnbution arrangements for UK benefis For US benefits t ncludes
company contnbutions to funded defined contnbution plans and nouonal contrbutions to unfunded defined contributon plans

Note 8 This column represents the cash allowances pad in lieu of the previous unfunded defined contribuvon plan for Manone
Scardinc 2nd of the previous FURBS arrangements for Rona Fairhead, John Fallon and Robin Freestone John Maknson's deferred
FURBS enutlement s referred to in note | above

Note 9 This column compnses bfe cover and long-term deability msurance not covered by the reurement plans

Note 10 The single figure of total remuneravon includes the following elements from the @ble on reurement benefits the
increase 1h acarued pension over the pertod offset for inflauon and muhiphed by 20 (defined benefit plans), other pension costs
to the company over the penod {the company's contnbutions to defined comnbuton plans), other allowances in lieu of pension
{cash allowances paid in heu of previous plans for Manone Scardino Rona Farhead John Fallon and Robin Freestone) and other
pension-related benefit costs (adduonal We cover and long-term disabiity wsurance not covered by the reurement plans)

In the case of John Fallon, the value included i the single figure of total remunerauon is pro-rated to reflect his appomiment

to the board from 3 October 2012 In the case of john Mzkinson, the value for the single figure of total remuneration s il
because the decrease in accrued pension over the period offsets the other pension-related benefit costs
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Report on directors’ remuneration contnued

Long-term incentives
Details of awards made, outstanding, held or released under the annual bonus share matching plan are as follows

Date of award Shara price on date of award  Veung Sawn of sward

15May 2012 1,i1520p I5 May 2015  Quustanding subject to 201 to 2014 performance

20 Aprd 2011 1,129 0p 20 April 2014 OQutstanding subtect te 2010 to 2013 performance

21 Aprd 2010 1,024 1p 21 Apnl 2013 Performance condition for release of 84 5% of matching
award met Real compound annual growth n earrungs per
share for 2009 to 2012 of 4 4% aganst a range of 3% to 5%
Shares held pending release on 21 April 2013

16 April 2009 6700p 16 April 2012  Target met as reported in report on directors’
remunerauon for 201 | Shares released on 15 May 2012

22 May 2007' B899 9p 100% on Target met as reported n report on directors’

22 May 2012 remuneraton for 201 1 Shares released on 22 May 2012

Note | For awards made prior to 2008, the annual bonus share matchang plan operated on the bass of a 50% match after

three years and 100% match after five years, subject to the eammgs per share growth rargets bemng met over the relevant
performance periods

Note 2 For all awards Pearson’s reported financial results for the relevant penod were used to measure performanke and no
discrenion was exercised
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Details of awards made. outstanding, vested and held or released under the long-term incentive plan are

as follows
Performance
Share Measurey
price on {award spln X of
Dat chie Vesang aqaly scrors Performance Pryout Acunl swwd  Soupol
ofswird ofaward dare three measures) penod thr eshokd Payout n muomum  performance vesced  award
0205/12 1 161 0p02/05/15 Relauve TSR 20120 30% at medan 100% atupper - - Oustanding
2015 B quarule
ROIC 2014 0% for RQIC  100% for ROIC - -
— e . Of85% _ oflOSX o
EPS growth 2014 0% for EPS  100% forEPS - -
compared growth of growsh of 12 0%
w20l 60%
03/05/11 1,149 0p 03/05/ 14 Relatve TSR 2011 to 30% at median 100% atupper - - Outstanding
- oL MO quame
ROIC 2012 25% for ROIC 100% for ROIC - -
e — . ..of90%  eflos® . L
EPS growth 2012 30X forEPS  100% forEPS - -
compared growth of growth of 12 0%
w2010 50%
03/03/109620p 03/03/13 Relauve TSR 2010t0  30% at medan 100% atupper - - Qutstanding
2013 quarule Marked as O1n the
movemnents m restricted
shares table
ROIC 2012 25% for ROIC 100% for ROIC 9 1% 47 5% Vested and remain held
. __ofasx  ofl03X _ __ ____ pendngrelease Marked
EPS growth 2012 30% for EPS  100% forEPS  86% 625% as @ m the movertents
compared growth of growth of 12 0% i restncted shares table
02009 60%
0303/096540p 03/03/12 Relavve TSR 20090 30% at medan 100% at upper  60th 57 4% 6B 3% of shares vested
L 2002 _quarule  percentile  Three.quaners released
ROIC 2011 25% for ROIC 100% for ROIC 9 1% 47 5% on 3 Apni2012 Ifafter
of 8 5% of 105% tax number of shares
EPSgrowth 2011 30%forEPS 100%forEPS  144%  100% ::fo'e“'"ef’:’:”f;m
f wth of 12 0% years
conpared gwhol  growho Qaner wilbe reesed
on 3 March 2014 The
part based on relatrve
TSR 1s marked as © and
the part based on ROIC

and EPS growth as @ in
the movernents in
restncted shares table

Note | For afl awards Pearson’s reparted financial results for the refevant penod were used o measure performance and no

discreuon was exercised
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Mavements in directors’ tnterests in restrcted shares {(desgnated as ABSMP annual bonus share matching plan,
LTIP long-term incentive plan, Dvidends where dividend-equivalent shares were added to the released shares,
® for the two-thirds of the award based on ROIC and EPS growth and @ for the one third of the award based
on relative TSR, we show these parts of the award separately where pedformance is known for only part of the
award at year-end)

Number  Valuen

Market of chares 12
vake Earbest Mirket vakit  M2012  snge

Date of at date release Dam of at date sngle fgure
wenrd Pus than 12 Awirded Rdemed ‘lapsed 31 Dec |2 ofaward date rHease ofreease  figare 00
Manone Scardino
22/5/07 ABSMP 60287 60,287 0 8999p 22/5/12 22/5/12 1,1480p
21/4/1Q ABSMP 61497 9850 53647 10241p 2/4/13 53647 £649
20/4/11 ABSMP 71446 23816 47630 1,1290p 20/4/14
30/7/07 LTIP 84,000 84,000 0 7780p 23710 31/7/12 1.1960p
4/3/08 LTIP 97500 97500 6495p 4/3/11
kYAVv:E TP 221250 165,938 S5312 6540p I/ /42 4,184 0p
3/3/03 0 LmP 150,000 64,620 63840 20540 6540p 3/3/12 3/4/12 1,1840p B6 160 L1020
3/3/ 0@ LTIP 286667 119976 1464691 9620p 3/3/13 146 691 £1.776
3/3/100 Lnp 133333 133333 9%20p 3/3/13
375711 LTIP 400,000 133334 266666 |,1490p 3/5/14
2/5/12 LTIP 0 250,000 166,667 83333 1.1610p 2/5/15
3/4/12  Diwdends 0 32048 32,048 0 1,1840p 3/4/12  3/4/12 1,1840p 32048 £379
30/7/12 Dmwdends 0 2252 U252 0 11500p 307212 30/7/12 L,1900p 2252 £253
Total 1547980 303,300 428,145 517483 905452 339,798 (4077
Will Echridge B
2/5/07 ABSMP 2,508 2,508 ¢ 8999 2WS5/12 22/5/12 1,1480p
|16/4/05 ABSMP 112,515 12515 0 6700p 16/4/12 15/5/12 11520p
2174710 ABSMP 7880 1,222 64658 1024 1p 20/4/13 6,658 £81
20/4/11 ABSMP 4517 4517 11250p 20/4/14
15/5/12 ABSMP 0 4,435 4485 | 1520p 15/5/12
i5/5/12 Dmwdends 0 13,053 13,053 0 11520p I5/5712 15/5/12 1,i520p 13053 £150
30/7/07 LTIP 30,000 30.000 0 7780p /3710 /7712 1.1960p
4/3/08 LP 36562 36561 6495p 4/3/11
VI @ LTIP  B6042 64531 21511 6540p 3/3/12  3/4/12 1.1840p
3/3/090 LTIP 58333 25,130 24827 8376 6540p 3/3/12 374712 1,1840p 33506 £397
/3/10@ LTIP 100,000 44991 55009 9620p 3/3/13 55009 {666
3737100 LTIP 50,000 50000 9620p 373713 _
3/5/11 LTIP 150,000 1S0000 1,1450p 3/5/14
2/5/712 LTp 0 100,000 100000 L1610p 2/571S
374712 Drvdends 0 12463 12463 O 11840p 3/4/12 3/4/12 11840p 12463 £14B
30/7/12  Dmadends 0 7590 7590 0 1,1900p 30/7/12 30/7/12 11900p 7590 90

Towl 638357 137591 267.7%0 71040 437118 128279 £€1.532
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MNumber Yaue
ks ok ofgares 212
vl Earbest vaie n 2012 ;ge
Date of at dite relenie Dawof  atdae snge fpure
award Pan Lha il Awarded Relezsed Lapied 31 Dec 12 of pward de refease of refease égure L£000
Rona Farhead . . _
30/7/07 LMP 25,000 25,000 0 7780p 2/3/10 3 /7/1211960p
4/3/08 LTIP 30468 30468 6495p 473711
VIme LT 73,750 55313 18437 6540 3/3/12  3/4/12 1,184 0p
3/3/00 LTI 50,000 20540 21280 7,080 &6540p 373712 3/4/12 1,1840p 28720 £340
¥V3/10@ LTIP  8333) 37492 45841 9620p 3/3/13 45,841 £555
3/3/100 LTIP 41,667 41,667 9620p 3/3/13
3/5/11 LTIP 165,000 165000 1,14%0p 3/5/14
2/5/12 LTP ¢ 100,000 100,000 H1610p 2/5/15
3/4/12 Dradends 0 10483 10683 0O 1.1840p 3/4/12 3/4/1111840p 10683 €126
30/7/12 Drmvdends 0 6325 6,325 0 1,1900p 30/7/12 30/7/12 1.1900p 6325 £75
Tazal 469218 117008 (18881 SBT72 408593 1 56% €109
John Fallon
16/4/09 ABSMP 7.595 7595 0 &700p 16/4/12 15/5/12 1,1520p
2174710 ABSMP 8,275 1,284 8991 10241p 21/4/13 6,991 85
20/4/ 114 ABSMP 4539 4539 1,1290p 20/4/14
15/5/12 ABSMP 0 8917 8917 1,1520p 15/5/15
15/5/12  Dnadends 0 832 882 0 1,1520p 1S/5/12 15/5/12 ¢ 1520p 882 £10
4/3/C8 LTiP 24375 MITS 495 4/3/11
33/ @ LTIP 86,042 64531 21511 é540p 3/3/12  3/4/12 1.1840p
3/3/090 LTIP 58333 25,130 24327 8376 &540p 3/3/12 3/4/111,1840p 33504 £397
3/3/10@ LTIP 100,000 44991 55009 9620p 3/3/13 55 009 666
3/3/100 LTIP 50,000 50000 9620p 3/3/13
3/5/114 LTIP 150,000 150,000 £1490p 3/5/14
/5712 LTIP 0 100,000 100,000 1,1610p 2/5/15
3/4/12 Dwadends O 12463 1245) 0 11840p W/4/12 374712 11840p 12463 £148
Towml 489,159 1222582 110601 70102 429718 R 108851 £1.306
Total (pro-rated for 2012 single figure, to reflect appontment 3 October 2012) 26427 £317
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Value n

Market Market ofthares 1012
value Earest vahe nNI2 sge

Dars of aldaee rdease Camof stdate nge fpare
award Plan Ihni2  Awarded Reessed Lipsed I Dec 12 ofaward dare refease of refease bgre (000
Robin Freestone
22/5/07 ABSMP 4708 4708 0 89% 22/5/12 22/5/12 1,1480p
16/4/09 ABSMP 35446 35446 0 6700p t6/4/12 15/5/12 11520p
21/4/10 ABSMP N4 4817 26287 (024 \p 11/4/43 6,287 (318
20/4/11 ABSMP 2949 29049 1,1290p 20/4/14
15/5/12 ABSMP 0 17833 17833 11520p 15/5/15
15/5/12 Drndends 0 4112 4,112 0 11520p 15/5/12 15/5/712 115200 4,112 47
30/7/07 LTIP 25,000 15,000 0 7780p 2/3/10 31/7/02 119 0p
4/3/08 LTIP 30468 30466 6495p 4/3/11
3/3/0 @ LTIP 73750 55313 18437 6540p 3/3/12 3/4/1211840p
373/ 0 LTP 50,000 21,540 21280 7180 6540p 3/3/12 3/4/1211840p 28720 €340
EYETALY LTP 83333 37491 45841 9620p 373713 45841  £555
373/100 LTIP 41667 41667 96L0p 3/3/13
375710 LTP 125000 125,000 | 1490p 3/5/14
2/5/12 LTIP 0 100,000 100,000 | 1610p 2/5/15
3/4/12  Drvdends ¢ 105681 10483 0118400 3/4/12 3/4/121,1840p 10683 L0126
30/7/12  Dradends 0 6325 6325 0 11900p 30/7/12 30/7/1211900p 6325 €75
Toeal $29535 138953 163,127 63599 441,762 121,968 L1461
John Makanson
3077707 Lne 20,000 20,000 0 7780p 2/3/10 31/7/12),1960p
4/3/08 LTP 30468 30468 &455p 473/
3/3/0 @ LTP 73750 55313 18437 6540p 3/3/12 3/4/121.1840p
3/3/09 0 LTIP 50,000 21,540 21280 7.80 6540p 3/3/12  3/4/12 11840p 28720 £340
373100 LmP 8333 7492 45841 S620p 373713 45841 (555
3/3/10 0 LTIP 41667 41,667 962L0p  3/3/13
3/5/11 LTIP 125,000 125,000 | 1420p 3/5/14
2/5/12 LTp 0 100,000 100000 1,1610p  2/5/15
3/4/12  Dmdends 0 10483 10583 0 1,1890p 3/4/12 3/4/121.1840p 10683 (126
3077212 Davdends a $.060 5,060 0 1,1900p 3047712 30/7/121,1900p 5060 Z&0
Total 424,218 115743  1125% 58772 368593 90.304 £1.081
Total 4098467 934857 1,201,120 840,768 2991436 798342 {9564

Note | The number of shares shown represents the maximum number of share that may vest, subject 10 any performance

condizons bemg met.

Note 2 No vanations to terms and conditions of plan interests were made dunng the year

Note 3 Performance conditions and vesung for awards under the bonus share matching and long-term incentrve plans are
descnbed in the long-term incentive tables on pages 84 and 85

Note 4 Manoree Scardno left the company on 31 December 2012
In the case of the bonus share matching award made on 21 Apnl 2010 and the long-term incentive awards made on

4 March 2008 and 3 March 2009, the performarce penod has ended and the number of shares held at 31 December 2012

will be refeased to Marjorte In 2013
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In the case of the banus share matching award on 20 Apn! 201 | and the long-term incentve awards made on 3 March 2010,

3 May 2011 and 2 May 2012 outstanding awards have been pro-rated according to the number of months worked in the
performance period 1o the date of leaving and we show the remaining shares a¢ lapsed The shares held at 31 December 2012
remain outstanding subject to performance and will be released in bne with the normal vesting schedule

Note 5 In the case of the long-term incenuve awards made on 3 March 2009 and 3 March 2010 we detail separately the pans
based on ROIC and EPS growth (two-thurds of the total award) and the part based on relative TSR {one-third of the total award)
because of the ume lag in the corresponding performance periods We disclosed the lapsed part of the 200% award {based on
ROIC and EPS growth} in the 201 | report as performance was known at year end but the vesting of the part based on relavve
TSR is disclosed together with the release of shares tn the 2012 report {as above) Similarly, for the 2010 award we disclose the
lapse of the parts based on ROIC and EPS growth but the vesting of the part based on relitve TSR and the release of shares wall
be disclosed in the 2013 report,

Note 6 The below notes have been prepared in anticipatian of the proposing reporting regulations

All awards released dunng the year are included in the single figure of total remunerason for that year, unless they were subject
to a performance condiuon {other than a stay-in-employment) and performance agamst that condiuon was known in an earher
reporung penod Awards that have not yet vested but where performance s known at year-end are ko ncluded m the single
figure of total remuneraton

in the case of the long-tenm incentive award made on 3 March 2009, only the part based on relative TSR 1 inchuded in the 20102
single figure of wrtal remunerauan (under the proposed single figure methodolgy the part based on ROIC and EPS growth
would have been included in the 2011 single figure of total remuneration and disclosed in the 201 | report) In the case of the
long teem incentive award made on 3 March 2010, only the parts based on ROIC and EPS growth are included «n the 2012 single
figure of total remuneraton {the part based on relatve TSR wil! be included inthe 2013 single figure of total remunerabon and
disclosed in the 2013 report)

The value of shares included in the single figure of total remuneraton is the number of shares mutuphed by the share price on
release (or if the shares have not yet been refeased the average share price over the final quarter of the year which for 2012 was
1,210 4p)

Movements in directors’ interests in share options (all under the worldwide save for shares plan) are as follows

Vahvem
w2
Earkost Gamn en onge
Opaon  exercas Expory Dateof  Prxeon exercne figure
Dare of gam thn 12 Granwd Exerosed tapwed 3| Dec 12 price dare date exercie wxerena 4 £000
Manone
Scardino
8/5/09 1672 1672 54720 178712 1/72/13 n
Tota 1672 9 0 0 0 £0 £1)
Rona
Farhead
4/5707 2371 2371 0 6%4p 1/8/12 1/2/13 31710712 1, 2450p  £13,150 £13
Foul 2371 0 2371 0 4 £13.150 £13
John Fallon
7/5/710 1930 1,930 8056p |1/8/15 1/2/16
Tozal 1,930 9 0 0 1,930 {0 {0
Robm N
Freestone
4/5/712 0 990 90 %0500 HB/IS 172716
Total o 990 0 0 990 £0 €0
Total 5973 990 2371 0 4592 £13,150 £24

Note | No vanauons w terms and condbors of share opvons were made dunng the year
Note 2 The acquisiuon of shares under the worldwide save for shares plan 1s not subject (o a performance condivon

MIIAYIAD

IINYHUCINI YN0 |

ALYIDOS NO 1DvdHI ¥NO |

IONYRYIAQD |

SLNIWILVLS WWIDNVYN




90 Pearson plc Annual repart and accounts 2012

Report on directors' remunerauon conunued

Note 3 Manone Scardino coninbuted US$1 000 per month (the maximum allowed) to the US employee stock purchase plan
The terms of this plan allow paructpants to make monthly contnbutions for six month peneds and to acquire shares cwice
annually at the end of these penods at 2 pnce that s the lower of the market price at the beginnung or the end of each percd
both less 15%

Note 4 The market pnce on 3| December 2012 was 1,188 Op per share and the range during the yearwas !,111 Op to 1,254 0p

Note 5 All share options that became exercrsable dunng the year are mcluded inthe single figure of tott remunerauon for that
year The value included in the single figure of total remunerauon s the number of options multiphed by the diference between
the market value on the earliest exercise date (1 230 Op on | August 2012) and the option prce

Payments for loss of office
There were no payments for loss of office during 2012

As announced on 3 October 2012, Marorie Scardino stepped down from the board and left the company on
3| December 2012 She served the company under her service agreement dated 27 February 2004, the detais
of which are described n the policy table on page 73 There was no payment for loss of office ‘

As announced on 27 November 2012, Rona Farhead 1s stepping down from the board at the annual
general meeting on 26 April 2013 and leaving the company on 30 Apni 2013 Her service agreement dated 0
24 January 2003 provides for notice periods of six months from the director and 12 months from the company

and compensation on termination of employment by the company without nouce or cause of 100% of annual

salary at the date of terminauon, the annual cost of pension and all other benefits and 50% of potential

annual incentive

The committee and the board determined that her leaving employment was a consequence of the planned
incorporation of the profassional education diviston overseen by Rona into other parts of Pearson's education
business, coupled with the smaller sze of the Financial Times Group owing to recent major divestments The
company therefore intends to pay compensation amounting to approximately £1 146m comprising the elements
described above to Rona n 2013

Interests of directors and value of shareholdings

Total number of
Ordinary shares ordrary and

at | jfan 12 {or date of Orcknary thares Conduoml tharat canciponal shares Valus  Guedelma Gudelne !

appoinmment, «f lzer}  at Il Dec 12 3t 3] Dec 2 wIIDec 12 (xisbry) (x tabary} met
Chairman
Glen Moreno 150,000 150,000 - - - - -
Executive directors
Manjore Scardino 1,346,618 1,550,745 374,690 1925435 236 200 v
will Ethrdge 405,295 505,635 128,116 633751 117 125 v
Rona Farhead 425023 440522 101,926 542448 125 1125 v
John Fallon {appointed 3 218546 218546 116,262 334808 68 112§ v
Qctober 2012)
Robn Freestone 308,731 408,814 128,213 537,027 131 125 v
John Maknson 438,667 510213 101,926 612139 136 125 v
Non-executve directors
David Arcuhs 14,798 15,560 - - - - -
Patrick Cescau YARY, 7,886 - - - - -
Vmvenne Cox 0 670 - - - - - \
Susan Fuhrman 12,927 14,476 - - - - - ‘
Ken Hydon 14,028 17,111 - - - - -

Josh Lewns 1891 4,886 - - - - -
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Note | Conditicnal shares means shares which have vested but remain held subject 1o conunuing employment for a pre-defined
holding penod

MNote 2 The current value of the executve directors’ holdings of ordinary and condinonal shares & based on the middle market
value of Pearson shares of 1,216 Op on 22 February 2013 {which 1s the latest practcable date bafore the results announcement)
aganst base salares in 20012 All executive directors comfortably exceeded the shareholding guidelines The shareholding
gurdelines do not apply to the chairman and non-executive directors

Note 3 Ordinary shares include both ordmary shares listed on the London Stock Exchange and Amencan Depostary Receipts
(ADRs) listed on the New York Stock Exchange The figures include both shares and ADRs acquired by indraduals invesung part
of thetr own after-tax annual bonus in Pearson shares under the annua! bonus share matching plan

Note 4 From 2004 Marjone Scardino is ako deemed to be interested in a further number of shares under her unfunded pension
arrangement descnbed in this report which provides the oppartunity to convert a proportion of her notional cash account into

a noponal share account reflecting the value of a number of Pearson shares

Note 5 The register of directors” interests (which 1s open to inspection dunng normal office hours) contains fufl detars of
directors’ shareholdings and options to subscrbe for shares The market price on 31 December 2012 was 1,188 Op per share

and the range dunng the year was | .| 11 0p to 1,294 Op

Note 6 At 31 December 2012, Patrick Cescau held 168,000 Pearson bonds
Note 7 There were no movements in ordinary shares between | January 2012 and a menth pner to the sign-off of this report

Note 8 Ordinary shares do not include any shares vested but held pending release under a restncted share plan

Graph removed

Diluuon and use of equity

We can use exsting shares bought in the market,
treasury shares or newly-issued shares 1o satisfy
awards under the company's vanous stock plans

For restricted stock awards under the long-term
incentive plan and matching share awards under the
annual bonus share marching plan, we would normally
expect to use existing shares

There are mits on the amount of new-issue equity we
can use [n any rolling ten-year perwd, no more than
10% of Pearson equity will be issued, or be capable

of being issued, under all Pearson’s share plans, and

no more than 5% of Pearson equity will be 1ssued,

or be capable of being 1ssued, under executive or
discretionary plans

At 31 December 2012, stock awards to be sausfied
by new-issue equity granted in the last ten years under
all Pearson share plans amounted to | 7% of the
company's 1ssued share capital No stock awards
granted in the last ten years under executive or
discretionary share plans wili be sautisfied

by new-issue equity

I addition, for existing shares no more than 5%

of Pearson equity may be held in trust at any time
Against this lrmt, shares held in trust at 3! December
2012 amounted to | 2% of the company's 1ssued
share captal

The headroom available for all Pearson plans,
executive or discretionary plans and shares held
n trust s as follows

Headroom w2 Wl W0

All Pearson plans 83% 83% 76%
Executive or discretionary plans  50% 50% 4 1%
Shares held in trust 38% 32% 33%
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Executive directors’ non-executve directorships

The committee’s policy 5 that executive directors may,
by agreement with the board, serve as non-executives
of other companies and retain any fees payable for
their services

The following execuuve directors served as non-
executive directors elsewhere and received fees or
other benefits for the period covered by ths report
as follows

Company Feevhenefio
Marjone Nokia Corporaton €150,000
Scardino

MacArthur Foundanon $31,750
Rona Farhead  HSBC Holdwngs ple £100,000

Other executive directors served as non-executive
directors elsewhere but did not receve fees

Shareholder engagement

The votmg results for prior reports on directors’
remuneration over the previous five years are
presented below

Year Date of AGM Votes for Votes iganst
2001 27 April 2012 8920% 499%
2010 28 April 201 | 94 07% 3 40%
2009 30 Aprd 2010 9237% 497%
2008 | May 2009 66 32% 2336%
2007 25 April 2008 7531%  1042%

This table expresses as a percentage the votes cast,
ignoring any formal instructions to withhold

Taztal shareholder return performance

In comphance with current regulations, we set out
below Pearson's total shareholder return performance
relative to the FTSE All-Share index on an annual basis
over the five-year perod 2007 to 2012

Graph removed

Approved by the board and signed on its behalf by

Signature removed

Dawnid Arculus Director

7 March 2013
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Independent auditors’ report to the members of Pearson plc

We have audited the consoldated and company
financial statements (vogether the ‘financial statements’)
of Pearson plc for the year ended 3| December 2012
The consoldated financial statements comprise the
consolidated income statement, the consoldated
statement of comprehensive income, the consohdated
balance sheet, the consolidated statement of changes
in equity. the consoldated cash flow statement and the
related notes 1o the consolidated financral statements
The company financia!l statements compnse the
company batance sheet, the company statement of
changes in equnty, the company cash flow statement
and the related notes to the company financial
statements The financial reporting framework that has
been applied in their preparation 1s applicable law and
Internatonal Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs)

as adopted by the European Umion and, as regards the
company financial statements, as applred n accordance
with the provisions of the Compantes Act 2006

Respecuve responsibihtes of directors and audiors

As explained more fully in the statement of directors’
responsibiliies set out in the Governance secuon of
the directors’ report, the directors are responsible for
the preparatton of the financial statements and for
being satsfied that they grve a true and far view

Owr responsibility 1s to audit and express an opmion
on the financial staternents m accordance with
apphcable law and International Standards on Audiung
{UK and Ireland) Those standards require us to
comply with the Audrting Pracuces Board's Ethical
Standards for Auditors

This report, including the opimions, has been prepared
for and only for the company’s members as a body

in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the
Companies Act 2006 and for no other purpose

We do not, in giving these opInions, accept or assume
responsibility for any other purpose or 10 any other
person te whom this report 1s shown or into whose
hands it may come save where expressly agreed by
our prior consent in writing

-

-

~

~

Scope of the zudit of the financil statements

An audit snvolves obtaning evidence about the
amounts and disclosures in the financial statements
sufficient 1o give reasonable assurance that the financal
statements are free from matenal misstaterment,
whether caused by fraud or error This includes an
assessment of whether the accounting policies are
appropriate to the Group’s and the company’s
circumstances and have been consistently applied and
adequately disclosed, the reasonableness of significant
accounting estmates made by the directors, and the
overall presentation of the financal statements {n
addion, we read all the financal and non-financial
informauon in the annual report and accounts to
dentfy material inconsistencies with the audited
financa)l statements If we become aware of any
apparent matenal misstatements or inconsistencies
we consider the implications for our report

Opinion on financial statements

In cur opinion

The financial statements give a true and fair view of the
state of the Group’s and of the company's affairs as at
31 December 2012 and of the Group's profit and
Group's and company's cash flows for the year then
ended,

The consolidated financial statements have been
property prepared in accordance with IFRSs as
adopted by the European Union,

The company financial statements have been properly
prepared m accordance wath 1FRSs as adopted by the
European Union and as applied in accordance with the
provisions of the Companies Act 2006, and

The financrl statements have been prepared in
accordance with the requirements of the Companies
Act 2006 and, as regards the consolidated financial
statements, Article 4 of the |AS Regulauion




Opinion on other martters prescribed by the
Companies Act 2006

In our opinion

» The part of the report on directors’ remuneration to
be audited has been properly prepared in accordance
with the Companies Act 2006, and

» The information given in the directers’ report for the
financial year for which the financual statements are
prepared s consistent with the financial statements

Matters on which we are required to report
by exception

Ve have nothing to report in respect of the
following:

Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required
to report to you if, in our opinion

» Adequate accounting records have not been kept by
the company, or retumns adequate for our audit have
not been received from branches not visited by us, or

» The company financial statements and the part of the
report on directors’ remuneration to be audited are
not 1n agreement with the accountuing records and
retums, or

» Certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration
specified by law are not made, or

» We have not received all the information and
explanations we require for our audit.

Section & Funanaal staternents 95

Under the Lisung Rules we are required to review

» The directors’ statement set out 1n the Governance
section of the directors’ report in relation to going
concem,

» The parts of the corporate governance statement
refaung to the company's compliance with the nine
provisions of the UK Corporate Governance Code
specified for our review, and

» Certan elgments of the report to shareholders by the
board o recfa' muneraton
Raman Sriskandan (Senior Stattory Auditor)
For and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCaopers LLP

Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors
London

7 March 2013
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Consolidated income statement
Year ended 3| December 2012

Al Gigures in £ milions Naes 017 01t

Sales 2 5.059 4.817

Cost of goods sold 4 2.224) (2.072)
Gross profic 2,835 2,745

Operaung expenses 4 2.216) (2.072)
Profit on sale of associate 12 - 412
Loss on closure of subsidiary (13) -
Share of results of jomnt ventures and associates 12 9 33

Operaung profit 1 515 118

Finance costs 3 (113) 3%
Finance income 6 32 25

Profit before tax 434 1 047
income tax 7 (148)  (16d)
Profit for the year from continuing operations 286 B85
Profit for the year from disconunued operations ] 43 71

Profit for the year 329 956
Aztributable wo

Equity holders of the company 326 957
MNon-controlling interest 3 (N
Earnings per share for profit from conunuing and disconunued operauons

artributable to equity holders of the company duning the year

(expressed in pence per share)

- basic 8 40 5p 119 ép
- diluted 8 40 5p 119 3p
Earmings per share for profit from conunuing operations attributable

to equity holders of the company during che year

(expressed in pence per share)

— bask 8 35 1o7p
— diluted 9 35 ip V0 Sp
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Consolidated statement of comprehensive income
Year ended 3| December 2012

97

Al figures wn £ mellions Nows 012 o1

Profit for the year 329 956
Net exchange differences on translation of foreign operations {238) (44}
Actuanal losses on returement benefit obligauons — Group L) (19 (56)
Actuanal losses on reurement benefit obligations - associate 12 3) &
Tax on items recognised in other comprehensive income 7 335 3

Orther comprehensive expense for the year (305) (105)
Total comprehensive income for the year 24 85|

Attributable to

Equity holders of the company 23 858

Non-controlling interest | (0]
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Consolidated batance sheet
As at 3| December 2012

Al figures m £ sions Noxes 012 2611
Asserts
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 10 327 383
Intangible assets 1" 6,218 6342
Investments in jont ventures and assocates I}) 15 32
Deferred ncome tax assets 13 229 287
Financral assets — Dervative financial mstruments 16 174 177
Retirement benefit assets 15 - 25
Qther financual assets 15 31 26
Trade and other recervables 2 79 151
7,073 7423
Current assets
Intangible assets ~ Pre-publication 0 666 650
Inventones b1l 261 407
Trade and other recewables n 1.104 1,386
Financial assets ~ Dervative financial instruments 16 4 -
Financral assets — Marketable securities 14 é 9
Cash and cash equivalents (excluding overdrafts) 17 1,062 1,369
3.103 3gat
Assets classified as held for sale n 1,172 -
Total assets 11,348 11,244
Liabihues
Non-current liabilities
Financial liabiiues - Borrowmngs 18 (2.010} {1.964)
Financal liabibtes ~ Derrvative financial mstruments 16 - @
Deferred mcome tax labdities a 13 (601) (620)
Retrement benefit obligations 25 (172) (166}
Provisions for other labilines and charges pi (g {115}
Other habiities N (282} (325)
(3.175) (3.192)
Current habilities
Trade and other labihities 1] (1.556} (1741
Financial habihues — Borrowings 1 (262) (87)
Financial kabiwes = Derrvauve financial nstruments m - (n
Current income tax habihves 290 (213)
Prowsions for other habilines and charges n (38} (48)
Q2 147) (2.090)
Liabitines direcdy assocated with assets classdied as held for sale n (318) -
Toral habdities (5.639) (5.282)
Net assecs S.710 5,962




Section & Finanaal statements

All fgures in € mikions Noxes w2 01

Equity

Share capnal 7 204 204

Share premium v 2,55% 2,544

Treasury shares b (103) (149}
Translavon reserve 128 364

Retained earnings 2,902 2,980
Total equity atnbutable to equity holders of the company 5,686 5.943

Non-controlling nterest 24 19
Total equity 5710 5.962

These financial statements have been approved for issue by the board of directors on 7 March 2013 and signed on

its behalf by

Robmin Freestone Chief financial officer
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity

Year ended 3| December 2012

Equaty attribuabbe to equscy holders of the company

Share Share Trassury Tramhoon Aetuned wnr::g Towl
All figurss in £ milons apinl premum shares resave camngs Toml nterest equty
At | January 2012 204 2544 (149) 3s4 2980 5943 19 5962
Profit for the year - - - - 326 16 3 329
QOther comprehensive expense - - - (236) (67  (303) ) (305)
Equity-settled transactions - - - - 32 32 - 32
Tax on equity-setrled transactions - - - - (6 6) - ()]
Issue of ordinary shares under share
option schemes - 1 - - - | - I
Purchase of treasury shares - - - - - - - -
Release of treasury shares - - 46 - (46) - - -
Put options over non-controlling
nterest - - - - 39 39 - 39
Changes in non-controlling interest - - - - (10) (10) 6 4)
Dwidends - - - - (346)  (346) (2) (348)
At 3| December 2012 204 2,555 (103) 128 2902 5,86 24 5710

Eouery attrbutable to equity holders of the company

Share Share Treasury Transazon Rewned :ml.r':ﬂ:g Towl
All figures i £ malions capal premum shares reterve eamingt Total nterest equity
At | January 201 | 203 2,524 {137) 402 2546 5538 67 5,605
Profit for the year - - - - 957 957 () 956
Other comprehensive expense - - - (38) (61) (39) (6) (105)
Equuy-settled uransactons - - - - 40 40 - 40
Tax on equity-settled transactions - - - - k! 3 - 3
1ssue of ordinary shares under share
option schemes | 20 - - - 21 - 21
Purchase of treasury shares - - (60} - - (60) - (650)
Release of treasury shares - - 48 - (48) - - -
Put options over non-controlling
nterest - - - - (63) (63) - {63)
Changes in non-controlling interest - - - - 76) (76) (40) (l16)
Drvidends - - - - @13 (318 (1) 319)
At 3t December 2011 204 2,544 (£49) 364 2980 5943 19 5962

The translation reserve includes exchange differences ansing from the transtation of the net nvestment in foreign
eperations and of borrowings and other currency instruments designated as hedges of such investrments




Section 6 Finanoal statemenss

Consolidated cash flow statement
Year ended 31 December 2012

10l

AD fgures in £ redions Noes 012 2011

Cash flows from operating activities

Net cash generated from operauons EY) 916 £,093

Interest pard (75) 70)
Tax pad (65) (151
MNet cash generated from operating activities 776 872
Cash flows from investing activities

Acqussition of subsidiaries. net of cash acquired 30 (716) (779)
Acqusition of joint ventures and associates {39) )]
Purchate of investments {10) (12)
Purchase of property, plant and equipment {78) (67)
Purchase of intangible assets {3) 7
Disposal of subsidiaries, net of cash disposed el {11y (6)
Proceeds from sale of associates Y - 418

Proceeds from sale of investments - 75

Proceeds from sale of property, plant & equipment 34 i 9

Proceeds from sale of intangible assets 3 3

Proceeds from the sale of iquid resources 23 -
Investment in hquid resources {19 -
Interest receved 9 0

Dwidends received from joint ventures and associates 27 30

Net cash ysed in investing acuvities (883) (395)
Cash flows from financing acuvives

Proceeds from issue of ordinary shares u " 21

Purchase of treasury shares L - (60)
Proceeds from borrowings 327 -
Proceeds from the sale of iquid resources - 2

Liquid resources acquired (1) -
Repayment of borrowings - (318)
Finance lease principal payments @) (8)
Dwidends pad to company's shareholders ’ (346) (318)
Dwidends paid to non-controlling mterest {2) ()]
Transactions with non-controlling interest 3 1) (108)
Net cash used i financing activities (23) (790}
Effects of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equvalents (29 (60)
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (154) (373)
Cash and cash equivalents at begnning of year .29 1.664

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 17 1,137 1,291

The consolidated cash flow statement includes discontinued operations (see note 3)
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

General informatien

Pearson plc (the company) and ns subsidianes
(together the Group) are intemational media
busmesses covering education, business informauon
and consumer publishing

The company is a public imited company incorporated
and domiciled in England The address of its registered
office 15 BO Strand, London WC2R ORL

The company has s primary listing on the London
Stock Exchange and s also listed on the New York
Stock Exchange

These consolidated financial statements were
appraved for 1ssue by the board of directors
on 7 March 2013

| Accounting policies

The principal accounting polices apphed m the
preparaucn of these consolidated financral statements
are set out below

a Basis of preparation

These consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRS) and IFRS Interpretations
Committee interpretations as adopted by the
European Union (EU) and with thase parts of the
Companies Act 2006 applicable to companies
reporting under {FRS In respect of the accounting
standards applicable to the Group there is no difference
between Eli-adopted and |ASB-adopted IFRS

These consohdated finangial statements have been
prepared under the histoncal cost conventian as
modified by the revaluauon of financial assets and
habiwes (including denvatve financial mstruments)
to fair value through profit or loss

| interpretations and amendments to published standards
effecuve 2012

The foltowing amendments and interpretations were
adopted in 2012 and have not had an impact on the
Group financial statements

» Amendments to IFRS 7 ‘Financial Instruments
Disclosures’

» Amendments to IFRS | ‘First-ume Adopuon®

» Amendments to IAS 12 'Income Taxes'

2 Standards, interpretations and emendments 1
to publshed standards thot are not yet effectve |
The Group has not early adopted the following new
pronouncements that are not yet effective

» Amendments to 1AS 19 ‘Employee Benefits (20i 1),
effective for annual reporting periods beginning on
or after ! January 2013 The amendments nclude the
eliminatcn of the corndor approach, changes to the
calculation of the net interest and service cost
components and changes to discosure If the 2012
accounts had been prepared using LAS 19 (2011} the
service cost would have been £4m higher and the net
interest income would have been £15m lower

IFRS 9 ‘Financial Instruments”, eflective for annual

reporting periods beginning on or after | January 2015

The new standard detaills the requirements for the !
classificatron and measurement of financial assets
and {rabihbes

The IASB issued a "package of five' new and amended

standards together IFRS 10 ‘Consolidated Financial

Statements’, IFRS || ‘Jomt Arrangements’ and IFRS 12

‘Disclosures of Involvement with Other Entities’ have

been 1ssued IAS 27 *Separate Financial Statements’

{Revised 2011) has been amended following the \
issuance of IFRS |0 and retains the guidance for
separate financial statements, 1AS 28 “Investments in
Associates and Joint Ventures’ {Revised 201 1) has
been amended following the 1ssuance of IFRS 10 and
IFRS 11 All three new standards and two amended
standards are effective for annual reporting periods
beginning on or aker | January 2013

~

-

IFRS | 3 ‘Fair Value Measurement’, effective for annual
reporung periods beginning on or after | January 2013
The standard defines fair value and provides gudance
an its determination, and introduces disclosure
requirements on fair value measurements

w

» Amendments to IAS | ‘Presentaron of Financial
Statements’ - Presentatron of Items and Cther
Comprehensive Income, effective for annual
reporung periods beginning on ar after | July 2012
The amendments require the grouping of items in
other comprehensive income Into those that may
be reclassified to profit ar loss in subsequent periods,
and those that will not

With the excepuon of IAS 19 ‘Employee Benefits
(201 1)", the changes In new pronouncements
apphcable from | January 2013 are not expected to
have a materal impact on the consolidated financal
statements




I Accounting pohicies conunued

a Basis of preparauon contunued

3 Cnticol occounting assumptions and judgements

The preparauon of financial statements in conformity
with [FRS requires the use of certain erucal accounting
assumpbions It also requires management to exercise
s judgement in the process of applying the Group's
accounting pelicies The areas requinng a higher
degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where
assumptions and estmates are significant to the
consohdated financial statements, are discussed

n the relevant accountmg policies under the
foltowing headings

Intangible assets Goodwill

Intangible assets Pre-publication assets
Royalty advances

Taxanon

Employee benefits Pension obligatons
Revenue recognition

b Conschdauon

! Business combinotrons The acquisivon method of
accounting 1s used to account for business combinations
of the Group with an acquisition date on or after

| January 2010 The consideration transferred for

the acquisiton of a subsidiary is the fair value of the
assets transferred, the tabdities ncurred and the
equity interest issued by the Group The consideration
transferred includes the farr value of any asset or
hability resulung from a conungent consideranon
arrangement Acquisition refated costs are expensed
as incurred in the operating expenses line of the
ncome statement.

tdenufiable assets and contingent assets acquired and
identifiable labiliues and conoingent hiabilittes assumed
in a business combination are measured imtially at
their fair values at the acquisizon date For matenal
acquisitions, the fair value of the acquired intangible
assets 15 determined by an external, independent
valuer The excess of the consilerauon transferred,
the amount of any non-controlling mterest in the
acquiree and the acquisiion date farr value of any
previous equity nterest in the acquiree over the fair
value of the (denufiable net assets acquired 15 recorded
as goodwill

Secuon 6 Finanoal statements 103

See note le(1) for the accountng policy on goodwili
If this 15 less than the fair value of the net assets of
the subsidiary acquired, in the case of a bargain
purchase, the difference 15 recognised directly in

the income statement

On an acqusiton-by-acquismion basis, the Group
recognises any non-controlling interest in the acquiree
either at far value or at the non-controlhng mterest's
proportionate share of the acquree’s net assets

2 Subsidiones Subsdiares are entities over which the
Group has the power to govern the financial and
operating polictes, generally accompanying a
shareholding of more than one half of the voting nghts
Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on
which control 1s transferred to the Group and are
de-consoldated from the date that control ceases

3 Transactions with non-controliing imterests Transactions
with non-controlling interests are treated as
transactions with shareholders Any surplus or

deficit ansing from disposals to a nen-controliing
interest 1s recorded n equity For purchases from

a non-controlling interest, the difference between
consideraton paid and the relevant share acquired

of the carrying value of the subsiary is recorded

n equity

4 joint venures and associates Joint ventures are
enties in which the Group holds an interest on a
long-term basis and which are jointly controlled, with
one or more other venturers, under a contractual
arrangement Associates are entitres over which the
Group has sgmificant influence but not the power to
control the financial and operaung policies, generally
accompanying a shareholding of between 20% and 50%
of the voung rights Investments in joint ventures and
associates are accounted for by the equity method
and are mitally recognised at cost.
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Notes to the consolidated finanaal statements contnued

I Accounung policies continued

b Consolidauon conunued

The Group’s share of its joint ventures” and asscciates’
post-acquision profits or kosses 15 recognsed in the
ncomme statement and its share of post-acquisition
MOVEMents i reserves & recognised In reserves

The Group’s share of its joint ventures’ and associates’
results 1s recognised as a component of operatng
profit as these operations form part of the core
publishing business of the Group and are an integral
part of existing wholly-owned businesses

The cumulative post-acquisition movements are
adjusted agamnst the carrying amount of the nvestment
WWhen the Group’s share of Iosses 10 a joint venture or
associate equals or exceeds its Interest in the jont
venture or assocte the Group does not recognise
further losses unless ¢the Group has incurred
obhgations or made payments on behalf of the joint
venture or associate

¢ Foreign currency translation

| Functonal and presentation cwrency tems included
the financial statements of each of the Group’s entities
are measured using the currency of the prumary
economic environment in which the entity operates
(the ‘functional currency’} The consolidated financal
statements are presented in sterling, which s the
company's funcuonal and presentation currency

2 Tronsacwons and balances Foregn currency
transacuons are translated into the functional currency
using the exchange rates prevaiding at the dates of the
transactons Foremgn exchange gans and losses
resulung from the settlement of such transacuons and
from the translation at year end exchange rates of
monetary assets and liabilities denommated in foreign
currencies are recognised in the income staterment,
except when deferred in equity as qualifying net
investment hedges

3 Group compames The results and financial position
of all Group comparues that have a functanal currency
different from the presentation currency are translated
into the presentauon currency as follows

() assets and labilines are translated at the closing rate
at the date of the balance sheer,

u) income and expenses are translated at average
exchange rates,

w) all resulting exchange differences are recogrused
as a separale component of equity

On consolidation, exchange differences ansing from
the transfation of the net invesument m foreign entities,
and of borrowings and other currency instruments
designated as hedges of such investments, are taken

to shareholders’ equity The Group treats specific
inter-company loan balances, which are not intended
to be repad in the foreseeable future, as part of its net
investment When a foreign operation s sold, such
exchange differences are recognised in the income
statement as part of the gan or loss on sale

The principal overseas currency for the Group is the
US dollar The average rate for the year against sterling
was 31 59 (2011 $1{ 60) and the year end rate was

$1 63 (2011 $1 55)

d Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at histoncal
cost less depreciation Land s not depreciated
Oepreciation on other assets Is calculated using the
straight-line method to allocate thewr cost less their
residual values over their estimated useful lives

as follows

Buildings (freehold) 20-50 years
Buildings {leasehold) over the perod of the lease
Plant and equipment 3-10years

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are
reviewed, and adjusted (f appropriate, at each balance
sheet date

The carrying value of an asset is wntten down to s
reccverable amount f the carryng value of the asset
15 greater than us estmated recoverable amount.

e Intangible assets

I Goodwill For the acquisivon of subsidianes made

on or after | January 2010 goodwill represents the
excess of the consideration transferred, the amount
of any non-controlhing interest  the acquiree and

the acquisiuon date fair value of any previous equity
interest in the acquiree over the farr value of the
dentffiable net assets acquired For the acquisiuon of
subsidiaries made from the date of transition o IFRS
to 3| December 2009 goodwill represents the excess
of the cost of an acquesition over the fair value of the
Group's share of the net idenufiable assets acquired
Gooedwill an acquisiuons of subsidianes is included in
intangible assets Goodwil on acquisiion of associates
and jomt ventures represents the excess of the cost of
an acquisitron over the fair value of the Group's share
of the net dentfiable assets acquired Goodwill on




| Accounting policies conunued

e Intangible assets continued
acquisions of associates and joint ventures s included
n INVESTMents N associates and joint ventures

Goodwil 5 tested annually for imparment and
carrted at cost less accumulated impairment losses
An impairment loss s recognised to the extent

that the carrying value of goodwill exceeds the
recoverable amount The recoverable amount 15 the
higher of farr value less costs to sell and value in use
These calculauons require the use of esumates and
signficant management judgement A description of the
key assurnptiens and sensitrvities s included in note | |
Goodwil is allocated to cash-generating umits for the
purpose of mpairment tesung The allocauon 1s made
o those cash-generaung units that are expected

to benefit from the business combination in which
the gaodwill arose

Gains and losses on the disposal of an entity include
the carrying amount of goodwill relating to the
entity sold

IFRS 3 'Business Combinations’ has not been applied
retrospectively to business combinauons before the
date of transion to IFRS

2 Acquired software Software separately acquired for
internal use 1s capitalised at cost Software acquired in
material business combinauons « capitalised at s far
value as determined by an mmdependent valuer
Acquired software 1s amorused on a straight-line bas:s
over its estmated useful ife of between three and
eght years

3 intemnually developed software Internal and external
costs incurred dunng the prelimimary stage of
developing computer software for nternal use are
expensed as mcurred Intemal and extermnal costs
incurred to develop computer software for intemal
use during the apphcauon development stage are
capitalised if the Group expects economic benefits
from the development Capitalisation in the applicauon
development stage begins once the Group can reliably
measure the expenditure attnbutable to the software
development and has demonstrated its intenuon to
complete and use the software Intemally developed
software s amortsed on a straight-hne basis over its
estmated usefu! {ife of between three and eght years

Section 6 Finanaal statements 105

4 Acquired intangible assets Acquired intangible assets
include customer lsts and relavonships, rademarks
and brands, pubhshing rights, content and technology
These assets are capitalised on acquisition at cost and
included n Intangible assets Intangible assets acquired
n materal business combinations are capitalised at
their fair value as deterrmined by an independent valuer
Intangible assets are amorused over their estimated
useful lives of between two and 20 years, using an
amorusation method that reflects the pattern of

their consumption

5 Pre-publicauon assets Pre-publicauion assets
represent direct costs incurred in the development

of educauonal programmes and titles preor to their
publication These costs are recogmised as current
intangible assets where the utle wil generate probable
future economic benefits and costs can be measured
rehably Pre-publication assets are amortsed upon
publication of the tide over estimated economuc lives
of five years or less, being an esumate of the expected
cperating Iife cycle of the title, with a higher proportion
of the amortisation taken in the earlier years

The investment in pre-publication assets has been
disclosed as part of cash generated from operauons
1 the cash flow statement (see note 34)

The assessment of the recoverability of pre-publicauon
assets and the determunauon of the amorusauon
profile nvolve a signdicant degree of judgement based
on histoncal trends and management esumation of
future potenual sales An incorrect amortisation profile
could result In excess amounts being carred forward as
intangible assets that would otherwise have been wntten
off to the Income statement in an earlier penod

Reviews are performed regulary to estimate
recoverability of pre-publication assets The carrying
amount of pre-publicauon assets 15 set out i note 20

f Other financial assets

Other financal assets, designated as avalable for
sale investments, are non-denvative financial assets
measured at estimated fair value Changes in the
fair value are recorded n equmy in the fair value
reserve On the subsequent dispasal of the asset,
the net farr value gains or losses are taken to the
ncome statemenc
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued

| Accounting policies contnued

g Inventories

Inventones are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value Cost 15 determined using the first in
first out {FIFO) method The cost of finshed goods
and work i progress comprises raw materials, direct
labour, other direct costs and related production
overheads Net realisable value is the esumated selling
price in the ordinary course of business, less esumated
costs necessary to make the sale Provisions are made
for slow moving and obsolete stock

b Royalty advances

Advances of royalties to authors are included within
trade and other receivables when the advance is paid
less any provision required to adjust the advance to
its net realisable value The rezlisable value of royalty
advances relies on a degree of management judgement
in deterrining the profitabilty of indvidual author
contracts If the esumated reabsable value of author
contracts is overstated, this will have an adverse effect
on operating profits as these excess amounts will be
written off

The recoverabihity of royalty advances i based upon
an annual detailed management review of the age of
the advance, the future sales projections for new
authors and prior sales history of repeat authors
The royalty advance is expensed at the contracted
or effective royaity rate as the related revenues are
earned Royalty advances which will be consumed
within one year are held in current assets Royalty
advances which will be consumed after one year are
held in non-current assets

1 Newspaper development costs

Investment i the development of newspaper utles
consists of measures to ncrease the volume and
geographical spread of circufauon The measures
in¢lude additional and enhanced editonal content,
extended distribution and remote pnnung These costs
are expensed as incurred as they do not meet the
criteria under LAS 38 ‘Intangtble Assets' to be
capitalised as intangible assets

} Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equmvalents m the cash flow statement
include cash n hand, deposits held on call with banks,
other short-term highly iquid investments with
onginal maturitres of three months or less, and bank
overdrafts Bank overdrafts are included n borrowings
n curTent habhues in the balance sheet

Short-term deposns and marketable secunues with
matunpes of greater than three months do not qualify
as cash and cash equivalents Movemnents on these
financaal instruments are classified as cash flows

from financing activities in the cash flow statement
where these amounts are used to offset the
borrowngs of the Group or as cash flows from
mvesting actvites where these amounts are held

1o generate an investment return

k Share capital
Ordinary shares are classified 35 equity

Incremental costs directly attnbutable to the ssue
of new shares or options are shown i equity as
a deducuon, net of tax, from the proceeds

Where any Group company purchases the company's
equity share capital (treasury shares) the consideration
pad, including any directly attrbutable ncremental
costs, net of ncome taxes, 1s deducted from equity
attnbuytable 1o the company’s equity holders until the
shares are cancelled, reissued or disposed of Where
such shares are subsequently sold or reissued, any
considerauon recerved, net of any directly attnbutable
transaction costs and the related income tax effects,
15 included in equity attributable to the company’s
equity haolders

| Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at far value, which
1s proceeds recerved net of transaction costs incurred
Borrowings are subsequently stated at amorused cost
with any difference between the proceeds (net of
transacuon costs) and the redempuon value bemng
recognised in the income statement over the pencd
of the borrowings using the effective interest method
Accrued mterest 1s included as part of borrowangs
Where a debt instrument is in a fair value hedging
relatonship, an adjustment 1s made to nts carrying value
In the mcome staternent to reflect the hedged nsk
Interest on borrowings s expensed in the income
statement as ncurred

m Denvauve financial instruments

Dervauves are recognised at far value and re-
measured at each balance sheetdate The farr value
of derwvartves 1s determined by using market data and
the use of established estimavon techniques such as
discounted cash flow and option valuation models
The Group designates certain of the dervauve
mstruments within its portfolio to be hedges of

the farr value of ns bonds (fair value hedges) or
hedges of net investrnents in foreign operatons
(net nvestment hedges)




| Accounting palicies conunued

m Derivauve financral instruments conanued
Changes in the fair value of denvauves that are
designated and qualify as farr value hedges are recorded
m the ncome statement, together with any changes in
the fair value of the hedged asset or liability that are
atuributable to the hedged nsk

The effective pornon of changes in the fair value of
dervatives that are designated and qualify as net
investment hedges are recognised in other
comprehensive income Gamns and fosses accumulated
in equity are ncluded in the Income statement when
the corresponding foreign operation is disposed of
Gains or losses relaung to the ineffecuve portion are
recognised mmedsately in finance income or finance
costs in the income staternent

Certain dervatives do not qualify or are not designated
as hedging nstruments. Such dervatives are classified
at fair valye and any movement in therr farr value 1s
recognised immedately in finance mcome or finance
casts in the income statement

n Taxation

Current tax 1s recognised on the amounts expected to
be pad or recovered under the tax rates and laws that
have been enacted or substantively enacted at the
balance sheet date

Deferred income tax 1s provided, using the Imbilicy
method, on temporary differences arising between the
tax bases of assets and liabilives and their carrying
amounts Deferred income tax s determined using tax
rates and laws that have been enacted or substanuvely
enacted by the balance sheet date and are expected to
apply when the refated deferred tax asset 1s realised
or the deferred ncome tax habiity 1s setded

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent
that &t 15 probable that future taxable profit will be
available against which the temporary differences
can be utlised

Deferred income tax 1s provided in respect of the
undistributed earmings of subsidiares other than where
i 1s intended that those undistnbuted earnings will not
be remitted in the foreseeable future

Current and deferred tax are recogmised :n the mcome
statement, except when the tax relates to items
charged or credited directly 1o equity or other
comprehensve mcome, m which case the ax s also
recognised in equity or other comprehensive income

Secuon 6 Finanaal statements 107

The Group i subject to Income taxes in NUMerous
rsdictions Signdicant jJudgement is required in
deterrmining the estmates In relation to the worldwide
prowvision for mcome taxes There are many
transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax
determination Is uncertam dunng the ordinary course
af bustness The Group recognises habihues for
anucipated tax audr 1ssues based on esumates of
whether additional taxes will be due Where the final
tax outcome of these macters is different from the
amounts that were initilly recorded such differences
will impact the income tax and deferred tax provisions
in the period in which such determmaton s made

Deferred tax assets and liabililes require management
judgement in determuning the amounts to be
recognised In partcular, sgniicant jJudgement 15 used
when assessing the extent to which deferred tax assets
should be recognised with consideraucn given to the
uming and level of future taxable ncome together with
any future tax planming strategies

o Employee benefits

| Pensmon obhgatons The reurement benefit asset and
obligauon recognised in the balance sheet represents
the net of the present value of the defined benefit
obligation and the far value of plan assets at the
balance sheet date The defined benefit obhgation 15
caleutated annually by independent actuanes using the
projected unit credit method The present value of the
defined benefit obligation 15 determined by discounting
esumated future cash flows using yields on high quality
corporate bonds which have terms to maturity
approximating the terms of the related hability

The determmation of the pension cost and defined
benefit obligation of the Group’s defined benefit
pension schemes depends on the selection of certain
assumptions, which nclude the discount rate, inflation
rate, salary growth longewity and expected return on
scheme assets

Actuanal gans and losses arsing from differences
between actual and expected returns on plan assets,
experience adjustments on labilbes and changes in
actuaral assumpuions are recognised immediately in
other comprehensive income

The service cost, representing benefits accrung over
the year, s included in the income statement as an
operating cost The unwinding of the discount rate on
the scheme liabilibes and the expected retum on
scheme assets are presented as finance costs or
finance income
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Notes to the consolidated financal statements continued

I Accounting policies continued

o Employee benefits contunued

Oblgations for contribubons to defined contnbuton
pension plans are recognised as an operating expense:
in the income statement as incurred

2 Other post-retrement obhgations The expected costs
of past-retirement healthcare and Ife assurance
benefits are accrued over the penod of employment,
using a similar accounting methodology as for defined
benefit pension oblgatuons The habiliies and costs
relaung to significant other post-retirement obligations
are assessed annually by independent qualified actuares

3 Share-bosed payments The fair value of options or
shares granted under the Group’s share and option
plans is recognised as an employee expense after taking
mto account the Group’s best estimate of the number
of awards expected to vest Farr value 1s measured at
the date of grant and is spread over the vesting pertod
of the opuion or share The fair value of the opuons
granted s measured using an option model that 1s most
appropriate 1o the award The far value of shares
awarded 1s measured using the share price at the date
of grant unless another method 5 more appropniate
Any proceeds received are credited to share capital
and share premium when the options are exercised

p Provisions

Provisions are recognised f the Group has a present
legal or constructive obligation as a result of past
events, it)s more likely than not that an outflow of
resources will be required to settle the obligation
and the amount can be relrably estimated Provisions
are discounted to present value where the effect

1s matertal

The Group recognises a provision for deferred
consideration at fair value

The Group recognises a provision for onerous lease
contracts when the expected benefits to be derved
from a contract are less than the unavowable costs
of meeting the obhgations under the contract

The provision 15 based on the present value of future
payments for surplus leased properties under non-
cancellable cperaung leases, net of estmated sub-
leasing mcome

q Revenue recogmiuon

Revenue comprises the fair value of the consideration
receved or recevable for the sale of geods and
services net of sales taxes, rebates and discounts, and
after ehminaung sales withan the Group

Revenue from the sale of books 15 recognised when
utle passes A prowvision for antiipated returns 1s made
based primanly on histoncal return rates If these
estmates do not reflect actual returns in future periods
then revenues could be understated or overstated for
a particular penod

Circulation and adverusing revenue 15 recognised when
the newspaper or other publicavon 1s published
Subscription revenue s recognised on a straight-line
basis over the ife of the subscrption

Where a contractual arrangement consists of two

or more separate elements that can be prowvided

to customers either on a stand-zlone basis or as an
optional extra, such as the provision of supplementary
materials with textbooks, revenue Is recognised for
each elerert as if it were an ndmidual contractuat
arrangement

Revenue from multi-year contractual arrangements,
such as contracts to process qualifying tests for
ndivdual professions and government departments,

1s recognised as performance occurs The assumptions,
risks, and uncertainties inherent in long-term contract
accounting can affect the amounts and tming of
revenue and related expenses reported Certain of
these arrangements, exher as a result of a single service
spanning mere than one reporting penod or where the
contract requires the provision of a number of services
that together constitute a single project, are treated as
long-term contracts with revenue recogmised on a
percentage of completon basis Losses on contracts
are recognised in the period in which the loss first
becomes foreseeable Conuractlosses are determined
to be the amount by which esumated total costs of the
contract exceed the esumated total revenues that will
be generated by the contract

On certan tontracts, where the Group acts as agent,
only commsssions and fees recevable for services
rendered are recogmised as revenue Any third-party
costs incurred on behalf of the principal that are
rechargeable under the contractual arrangement are
not included in revenue




I Accounung policies conunued

q Revenue recognition continued

Income from recharges of freight and other activities
which are incidental to the normal revenue generaung
activivies is included in other Income

r Leases

Leases of property, plant and equipment where the
Group has substantially all the nisks and rewards

of ownership are classified as finance leases

Finance leases are capnalised at the commencement

of the lease at the lower of the fair value of the leased
property and the present value of the minimum lease
payments Each lease payment is allocated between the
habdity and finance charges te achieve a constant rate
on the finance balance outstanding The corresponding
rental oblgauons, net of finance charges are included
m financial habliues — borrowings The interest element
of the finance cost is charged to the income statement
over the lease period to produce a constant peniodic
rate of interest on the remaining balance of the tabily
far each period The property, plant and equipment
acquired under finance leases are depreciated over the
shorter of the useful hfe of the asset or the lease term

Leases where a signficant portion of the nsks and
rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are
classified as operaung leases by the lessee Payments
made under operating leases (net of any incentives
recerved from the lessor) are charged to the iIncome
statement on a straght-line basis over the period of
the lease

s Dividends

Dwidends are recorded w the Group's financial
statements in the pertod in which they are approved
by the company’s shareholders Intenm dwvidends

are recorded in the period in which they are approved
and pawd
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t. Assets and habilites held for sale

Assets and labilittes are classified as held for sale and
stated at the lower of carrying amount and far value
tess costs o sell f it s intended to recover ther
carmying amount pancipally through a sale transaction
rather than through continuing use Mo depreciation
is charged i respect of non-curent assets classified
as held for sale Amounts relating to non-current
assets and llabdities held for sale are classified as
discontmued operauons in the income statement
where appropnate

v Trade receivables

Trade recevables are stated at fair value after provision
for bad and doubtful debts and anticipated future sales
returns (see also note 1qQ)

2 Segment nformation

The Group s organised into the following business
segments

Continuing operations

North Amencan Education Educatanal publishing,
assessment and tesung for the school and higher
education market within the USA and Canada,

International Educauon Educational publishing,
assessmient and tesung for the school and higher
educatton market outside of North Amenica,

Professional Business and technology publishing,
tramming, testing and certficavon for professional
bodres,

FT Group Pubhsher of the Financal Times, business
magazines and specialist nformation,

Discontinued operations

Penguin Consumer publisher with brand imprints such
as Pengumn, Putnam, Berkley, Viking and Dorling
Kindersley
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued

2 Segment information continued

fn October 2012 Pearson and Bertelsmann announced an agreement to create a new consumer publishing
business by combening Penguin and Random House The transaction is expected to complete in 2013 and. at that
pomnt, Pearson will no longer contro! the Penguin group of companies but will equity account for its 47% assocate
interest The loss of control results in the Penguin business being classified as held for sale in the Pearson balance
sheet at December 2012 and the results for both 201 | and 2012 have been included i discontinued operacons

For more detad on the services and products included n each business segment refer to the business review

2012
North
Amencan  Intermavona) FT Daconcrssd

Al figures in £ mulbons Noes Edh Edu Group  Corporate operasom Group
Continuing operaucns
Sales (external) 2,658 t.568 390 443 - - 5059
Sales (inter-segment) 5 | 12 - - - 18
Adjusted operaung profit 536 216 37 49 - - 8is
Intangible charges (66) 73) 37 (4 - - (i80)
Acqusition costs F)) 8) (1)) 4) - - (20)
Other net gains and losses - - (123) - - - {123)
Operabng profit 463 135 (124) 41 - - 515
Finance costs 1 (113)
Finance income 3 32
Profit before tax 434
Income tax 7 (148)
Profic for the year from
continuing operations 286
Segment assets 5.449 2390 631 445 1,246 1,145 11,306
Joint ventures 17 - 7 - | - - 8
Assocrtes [} | 4 ~ 2 - 27 34
Total assets 5450 2,401 631 448 1,246 1,172 11,348
Other segment items
Share of results of joint ventures
and associates 17 - (3) {n 23 - - 9
Capnal expenditure 10 11 66 33 16 26 - It 152
Pre-publication investment 2 250 76 7 - - 31 364
Depreciaton 0 41 16 8 8 - 7 80
Amortisation 120 31! 142 45 16 - 39 553




2 Segment informauon conunued
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00
Narth
Amencan  terranona! T Ovicantrued

AD fgures n £ mons Notes Edh Ed ] Group Corporite  operabors Group
Conunuing operagons
Sales (external) 2,584 1,424 382 427 - - 48(7
Sales (inter-segment) 3 - 9 - - - 12
Adjusted operating profit 493 196 66 76 - - 831
Intangible charges (57) (60} (1) ® - - (16
Acquisition costs 2) {9) - )] - - {12)
Other net gains and losses 29 {6) - 412 — —- 435
Operating profit 463 121 55 475 - - 18
Finance costs 6 {36)
Finance mcome 6 25
Profit before tax 1,047
Income tax 7 (162)
Profit for the year from
contnuing operations 885
Segment assets 5.198 2,388 626 424 1,555 1,021 11,212
Joint ventures i? - 16 - | - | 18
Associates 12 | 8 - 4 — | 14
Tortal assets 5199 2,412 626 429 | 555 1,023 114,244
Other segment items
Share of results of joint ventures
and assocrates )] - ) | 34 - - 33
Capual expenditure a0 75 33 17 19 - 12 156
Pre-publication investment 0 237 60 2 - - 32 331
Depreciation 10 34 14 8 4 - 8 70
Amortisaton 1 20 309 128 13 20 - 45 518

In 2012, sales from the provision of goods were £2,946m (201} £3,009m} and sales from the provisicn of

services were £2,113m (2011 £1.808m) Sales from the Group's educational publishing, consumer publishing
and newspaper business are classified as bemng from the prowvision of goods and sales from s assessment and

testing and other service businesses are classified as being from the provision of services

Included n other net gains and tosses in 2012 n the Professional segment 1s the loss on closure of Pearson in
Pracuce (£1 13m) and an impairment loss on a jomnt venture (£10m} tn 2011 other net gains and losses includes

a gamn on sale of FTSE Internationat (£412m} in the FT Group, a gam on the sale of investments in the North

American Educauon business (£29m) and a nex loss of £6m on zcquisiion and disposal transacuons m the

International Educavion business
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Notes to the consolidated financal statements contunued

2 Segment information continued

Corporate costs are aliocated to business segments including discontinued operations on an appropnate basis
depending on the nature of the ¢ost and therefore the segment result is equal to the Group operaung profit Inter-
segment pricing 15 determined on an arm's-length basis Segment assets cansist of property. plant and equipment,
nzangble assets, inventories, recenvables, deferred taxation and other financial assets and exdude cash and cash
equivalents and dertvative assets Corporate assets compnse cash and cash equivalents, marketable secunties and
derrvative financial instruments Capital expenditure comprises additions to property. plant and equipment and
software (see notes 10 and 11)

Property. plant and equipment and intangible assets acquired through busimess combinauon were £296m
{2011 £404m) (see note 30) Capnal expenditure, deprecravon and amorusation include amounts relating
to disconunued operations

The Group operates in the following main geographic areas

Sales Non current assets
Al Sgures n £ midons W12 200 7012 14
Conunuing operations
UK 705 713 803 1,237
Other European countries 91 394 234 225
USA 2,800 2,7Q7 4,496 4,325
Canada |45 150 307 216
Asia Pacific 647 514 524 570
Qther countnes 371 139 275 325
Total contnuing 5.055 4817 6 639 6,908
Discontinued operations
UK 160 152 - -
Other European countries 78 77 - -
USA 603 606 - -
Canada 56 59 - -
Asia Pacdic 139 132 - -
Orher countnes 17 19 - -
Toral dscontinued 1,053 1,045 - -
Total 6,112 5.862 6,639 6,908

Sales are allocated based on the country In which the customer is located This does not differ matenally from
the location where the arder ts received The geographical spi of non-current assets 1s based on the subsidiary s
country of domicle This ¢ not materlly different 10 the location of the assets Non-current assets compnise
property, plant and equipment, intangible assets, investments 0 joint ventures and associates and trade and
other recenvables
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3 Discontnued operations
Disconunyed operavons relate to Penguin

An analysis of the results and cash flows of discontinued operations 15 as follows

2012 011
All #gures m £ rmallions Penpuen Pengun
Sales 1,053 1,045
Operating profit 62 108
Profit before tax 62 108
Aunbutable tax expense {19 (37)
Profit after tax from discontinued operations 43 71
Operating cash flows 83 107
Investung cash flows (81} (13)
Financing cash flows 10 {7
Total cash flows 12 23

Included n operatng profit in 2012 are costs associated with the formation of Panguin Random House of £32m,
including a provision for the settlement of litigation associated with the agency arrangement for eBooks

4 Qperaung expenses

All figures i £ mdbons 012 2001
By funcuion

Cost of goods sold 2224 2072
Operating expenses

Distribunion costs ' 177 190
Administrauve and other expenses 2,1H 1999
Other income {72) (117)
Total net operating expenses 2216 2,072
Tozal 4,440 4,144

Included in other income in 201§ | 15 3 profit of £29m on the sale of an investment and a gan of £8m an a stepped
acquisition Both these nems are excluded from adjusted earmings
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Notes to the consolidated finanaal statements continued

4 Operatng expenses conunued

All figures in £ methons MNoees 01z 2011
By nature

Utilisation of inventory 2 512 585
Depreciation of propenty, plant and equipment 10 72 63
Amortisation of intangible assets — Pre-publication ) 283 292
Amortisaten of intangible assets — Other " 230 18i

Acquisition costs ] 20 12
Employee benefit expense s 1,916 1,778
Operating lease rentals 171 164
Cther property costs 33 37
Royalties expensed 245 260
Advertising, promotion and marketng 247 234
Information technology costs 82 74
Other costs 701 581

Other income {72) (117)
Total 4,440 4,144
Durning the year the Group obtained the following services from the Group's audnors

Al figures £ mulbons 2082 2011

The audit of parent company and consolidated financial statements 4 4
The audit of the company’s subsidiaries 2 2
Total audit fees 6 6
Other assurance services | -
Total assurance services ] -
Tax comphance services I i

Tax advisory services | |

Total tax services 2 2
Corporate finance services not covered above - [

Total non-audit services 3 3
Total 9 9
Reconciiation between audit and non-audit service fees s shown below

All figores on £ mallsons 2012 2011
Group audit fees including fees for attestation under section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act 6 6
Non-audit fees 3 3
Toral 9 9

Fees for attestation under section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act are allocated between fees payable for the audits

of consohdated and subsidiary accounts
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5 Employee mformation
AD figures i £ mhons Notes 2001 0
Employee benefit expense
Wages and salanes (including termmation benefits and restructuring costs) 1,659 1,531
Socal security costs 132 126
Share-based payment costs % 28 36
Retirement benefits — defined contribution plans 5 71 62
Retirement benefits ~ defined benefit plans 5 22 20
Other post-retirement benefits 25 4 3
Total 1916 1,778
The detatls of the emoluments of the directors of Pearson plc are shown in the report on directors’ remuneration
Aversge number employed 2012 pL N}
Employee numbers
North American Education 18,552 16,133
International Education 16,751 13,646
Professional 3706 4,561
FT Group 3,088 2,765
Other 883 859
Conunuing operations 42,980 37,964

The employee benefit expense relaung to discontinued operations was £21 [m (201 1 £205m) and the average

number employed was 4,542 (2011 3,557)
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Notes to the consolidated financal statements continued

6 Net finance costs

All fgures 10 £ mabons Nores 2012 0N

Interest payable (75) (65)
Finance cost of put opuions, deferred consideration associated with acquisitions

and other interest charges related to transactions 27 (4)
Net foreign exchange losses (8) )
Other losses on financial instruments in a hedging relationship

= fair value hedges () -
Other losses on financial instruments not in a hedging relatonship

- dervatives () (5)
Finance costs (113) (96)
Interest recevable 10 10
Net finance income in respect of reurement benefits 2 13 3
Net foreign exchange gains 9 M

Other gams on financial instruments 1n a hedging relationship

-~ farr value hedges - -
Other gamns on financial instruments not in a hedging relationship

— amortisation of transitional adjustment on bonds - |

— derrvatives - -
Finance mncome 32 25

Net finance costs 81) {71}
Analysed as

Net interest payable (65) (55)
Net finance tncome in respect of renrement benefits 5 13 3

Net Finance costs reflected in adjusced earmings — conunuing operations (52) (52)
Other net finance costs (29} (19)
Total net finance costs (81) {71

The net loss of £1m on fair value hedges n 2012 (2011 £ml) comprises a gain of £7m (2011 loss of £39m) on the

undertying bonds, offset by a loss of £8m (2011 gain of £39m) on the refated dernvative financial nstruments




7 Income tax
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nz

Al fgeces m £ meltions Notes 02 011
Current tax

Charge in respect of current year {154) (187)
Adjustments in respect of pnor years 18 36
Toral current tax charge {136) (151)
Deferred tax

In respect of temporary differences {48) {I5)
Other adjustments in respect of prior years 36 4
Total deferred tax charge 13 {12) (1)
Toral tax charge (148) (162)

The tax on the Group's profit before tax differs from the theoretical amount that would arise using the UK tax rate

as follows

Al figures :n £ mithons 012 2001

Profit before tax 434 1.047

Tax calculated at UK rate (2012 24 5%, 201) 26 5%) {106) 21
Effect of overseas tax rates (50 7
Joint venture and associate income reported net of tax 2 9

Net {expense)/income not subject to tax (i5) 7

{Loss)/gain on sale of businesses not subject to tax (28) 88

Uutisauon of previously unrecognised tax losses and credsts 2 |

Unutilised tax losses (6) (3
Adjustments in respect of prior years 54 40
Total tax charge (148) (162)
UK 22} {10)
Overseas {126} (152)
Total tax charge {148) {162)
Tax rate reflected in earnings 34 1% 15 5%
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued

7 Income tax conunued

The tax rate reflected in adjusted eamings 1s calculated as follows

AN igures in £ madlions 012 2001
Profit before tax 434 1,047
Adjustments
Other net losses/(gamns) 123 (43%)
Acquisition costs 20 2
Amorusauon of acquired intangibles 180 136
Other net finance costs 29 19
Adjusted profit before @x — contmuing operatons 786 779
Adjusted profit before tax - discontnued operations 98 1
Total adjusted profit before tax 884 899
Tota! tax charge (148) (162)
Adjustments
Tax charge on other net gains - 9
Tax benefit on acqusition costs (5) (4}
Tax benefit on amortisation of acquired intangibles (54) (43)
Tax benefit on other net finance income " O]
Tax amorusation benefit on goodwill and intangibles 36 34
Adjusted mcome tax charge - conunuing operations {172) {61)
Adjusted income tax charge — discontinued operations {32) (38)
Total adjusted mcome tax charge 204) (199)
Tax rate reflected in adjusted earnings 23 1% 22 4%
The tax benefit/ (charge) recognised i other comprehensive mcome 1s as follows
Al fgures € mallions 012 201)
Pension contnbutions and actuara! gans and losses 58 7
Net investment hedges and other foreign exchange gains and losses - %)
55 3

Avax benefit of £6m (2011 tax benefit £3m) relatng to share-based paymentis has been recognsed directy

in equity

’
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8 Earnings per share
Basic

Basic earnings per share 15 calculated by deiding the profit attributable 10 equity shareholders of the company by
the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year. excluding ordinary shares purchased by

the company and held as treasury shares

Diluted

Diluted earnings per share 1s calculated by adjusting the weighted average number of ordinary shares to take

account of all diluuve potenual erdinary shares and adjusting the profit attributable f applicable, 1o account for

any tax consequences that might arise from conversion of those shares

AB Spres i £ mndeons Nexss ™1 001
Profit for the year from continuing operations 286 885
Non-contrelling interest (3) |
Earnings from conunuing operauons 283 886
Profit for the year from disconunued aperatons 3 43 71
Non-controlling interest - -
Earnings 326 957
Weighted average number of shares (millwons) ' 8043 8OG2
Effect of diuuve share options (millions) I3 17
Weighted average number of shares (millions) for diluted earnings 8056 801 9
Earnings per share from conunuing and discontinued operauons

Basic 40 5p 119 6p
Diluted 40 5p 119 3p
Earnings per share from continuing operauons

Baste 352 110 7p
Diluted 35 Ip 110 5p
Earnings per share from discontinued operauons

Basic . 53p 89
Diluted S 4p 88p
Ad)justed

In order to show results from operating activities on a consistent bass, an adjusted eamings per share is presented
The company's definition of adjusted earnings per share may not be comparable to other similarly utled measures

reported by other companies

Adjusted earnings includes the results from contmuing and discontinued operauons

The following tems are excluded from adjusted earmings

Other net gons and losses represent profits and losses on the acquisition and disposal of subsidiartes, jont ventures,
associates and other financial assets that are included within continuing or discontinued operations but which

distort the performance of the Group

Amorusatan of gequired intenghies, acqursition costs and movements in contingent acquisitian cansidergtion are also

excluded from adjusted eamings as these nems are not considered to be fully reflecuve of the underiying

performance of the Group
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8 Earmings per share continued

Other net finonce mcome /costs miclude the finance costs of put options and deferred conskderation that relate to
future earn outs and similar payments on acquisition, foreign exchange and other gans and losses that represent
short-term fluctuations in market value and foreign exchange movements on transactions and balances that are
no longer 1n a hedge relavonship In the case of acquisiwon related items these are excluded as they do not reflect
cash expended and foregn exchange and other gans and losses are subject to significant volatility and may not be
realised in due course as it Is normally the intention to hold these instruments to maturity Other net finance costs
of Group companies are included in finance costs or finance ncome as appropnate Other net finance costs of
joint ventures and associates are included within the share of results of joint ventures and assocates within
operaung profiz

Following the adopuicn of IAS 19 revised in 2013 the Group intends to exclude the pension finance mcome or
expense from adjusted earmings as the cakulauon under the new standard will not necessanly reflect the underfying
economics associated with the relevant penston assets and habiliues

Tax on the above tems 15 excluded from adjusted eamings Where relevant the Group also excludes the benefit
from recognising previously unrecognised pre-acquisition and capital losses The Group adds the benefit of tax
amorusation of goodwill and intangibles as this benefit more accurately aligns the adjusted tax charge with the
expected rate of cash tax payments

Mon-controlkng interest for the above wems is excluded from adjusted earmings

The following tables reconcile statutory earmnings to adjusted earrings

2012
Crher net
Sabsory Other net fnance Tax Adpsied
meome Ducontinued gy and Acquisiteon Inungble mcome/ amorarauon ncome
Al Sgures m £ cetsons. sarement operauom uses camm charges om benefie  smomment
Operating profit 515 98 123 20 80 - - 936
Net finance costs (81 - - - - 29 - (52)
Profic before tax 434 98 123 20 180 29 - 884
Income tax (148) (32) - {5) (54) U] 36 Qo)
Prafit for the year from
conunuing operations 286 66 123 15 126 28 36 680
Profit for the year from
discontinued operations 43 (66) 20 i 2 - — -
Profit for the year 329 - 143 6 128 28 36 680
Non-controfling interest 3) — - - - - - 3
Earnings 326 - 143 16 128 28 36 677
Weighted average number
of shares (mdlions) B04 3 80413

Adjusted earnings per share 40 5p 84 2p
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w1
Other net
Sanstory Crher net bunce Tax Adusted
ncomt  Distentrued gans and Acrqurwon ntanpble wkome/  amort@non nome
Al fgures n £ melbons statenvent opermon lonses cons charges oS benefi  sctemem
Operating profit 11s b (435) 12 136 - - 942
Net finance costs (71) - - - - 19 - (52)
Prefit before tax 1,047 Hl (435) 12 136 19 - 8%0
Income tax {162) (38) 19 4) (43) (5) 14 (199)
Profit for the year from
conunuing operations 885 73 (416) 8 93 14 34 691
Profit for the year from
discontinued operations 71 (73) - - 2 - - -
Profit for the year 956 - (416} B 95 14 34 691
Non-controlling nterest I - - - - - - I
Earnings 957 - (416) 8 9s 14 34 692
Weghted average number
of shares (millions) 8002 800 2
Adjusted earnings per share 11% 6p 865p
9 Dividends
Al fgures In £ mellons 2002 w0l
Final pard in respect of pnor year 28 0p (2011 25 7p) 225 206
Interim paid in respect of current year 15 Op {2011 14 0p) 121 112
346 318

The directors are proposing a final dvidend 1n respect of the finzncial year ended 31 December 2012 of 30 Op per
share which will absorb an estimated £245m of shareholders’ funds {t will be pad on 3 May 2013 to shareholders

who are on the register of members on 5 April 2013 These financal statements do not reflect this dividend
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10 Property, plant and equipment

Asses
Land and Plant and course of
A Sgures in £ mbons buldngs equapment CONSTUCTON Toud
Cost
At | January 2011 336 669 11 1,016
Exchange differences 2 (P} - -
Addittons 15 51 13 79
Dsposals (13) 3n - (44)
Acquisitton through business combination | 2] - 32
Disposal through business disposal - ] - {2
Reclassifications 12 - (12} -
At 31 December 201 | 363 706 12 1.081
Exchange differences (%) @3 - (32)
Addions 12 51 IS 78
Disposals @ @ - @
Acquisition through business combmnation 4 13 - 17
Ousposal through business disposal (1) 4 - (5)
Reclassifications 8 - ® -
Transfer from/{to) saftware 9 an - (18)
Transfer from pre-publication - 3 - 3
Transfer to assets held for sale (32) {102) (D (135)

At 31 December 2012 352 597 18 967
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Land and Plant and ::r:::‘l
ASl Bgures 1n £ mdhiony buildings eqEpment  ConsruCuon Touwl
Depreciauon
At | January 201 | (166) (484) - (650)
Exchange differences )] | - -
Charge for the year (16 (54) - (70)
Drisposals 2 29 - 3
Acquisition through business combination (n (10) - {n
Disposal through business disposal - 2 - 2
Reclassifications (3) 3 - -
At 31 December 201 | (187) s - (698}
Exchange differences ) 17 - 23
Charge for the year 21) 59 - (80)
Dhsposals 2 19 - 21
Acquisition through business combination {1} (6 - @
Disposal through business disposal - 2 - 2
Reclassifications (8) 8 - -
Transfer (from}/to software {3) 7 - 4
Transfer to assets held for sale 17 78 - 95
At 3| December 2012 (195) (445) - {640)
Carrying amounts
At | January 2011 170 185 Il 366
At 3| December 2011 176 |95 12 383
At 3| December 2012 157 52 18 327
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10 Property, plant and equipment continued

Depreciation expense of £19m (2011 £15m) has been mncluded in the income statement in cost of goods sold,

£9m (2011 £10m) in distribution expenses and £52m {201 | £45m) in administrative and other expenses

In 2012 £7m (2011 £8m) relates to disconunued operatons

The Group leases certain equipment under a number of finance lease agreements The net carrying amount of
leased plant and equipment included within property, plant and equipment was £17m (2011 £18m)

Il intangible assets

Acqured
cLsTomer bsts Acqared Acqured QOther
ad  trademaria pubhching nanpbles

AS figures in £ molrons. Goodwil Software relanonmthps  and brands rghts acqured Toul
Cost

At | January 20} | 4,568 352 431 186 230 306 6,073
Exchange differences 15 )] | n (12) n |
Additions — internal development - 49 - - - - 49
Addrions - purchased - 28 - - - - 28
Disposals - %) - - - - 9
Acquisition through business combmnation 620 9 200 68 - 100 997
Disposal through business disposal 4 - - - (5) = i)
At 3| December 2011 5,199 428 632 253 213 405 7,130
Exchange differences (213) (13) @ _ an €)] (22) (250)
Additons - internal development - 38 - - - - 38
Additions - purchased - 36 - - - - 36
Disposals - (1) - - - - an
Acquisition through business combination 505 12 128 27 10 110 792
Disposal through business disposal (50) - (89) ) - - (141)
Transfer from PPE - 8 - - - - 18
Transfer 1o assets held for sale (364) (42) (% )] W) {5) {44Y)
At 3] December 2012 5.077 466 635 258 207 488 7,13l
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Acqured

Cusomer bt Acqured  Amgared Orther

id  gadeuts  pubishwg  nonpbles

Al figsres i £ eulbons Goodwll Software reavonthps  and brands ] wqared Tounl
Amorusation
At | january 201 | - (250) (103) #) (n (1o (606)
Exchange differences - 2) I - 4 (3) -
Charge for the year - (48) (55) (22) ) (40) (187)
Drsposals - 6 - - - - é
Acquisition through business combtnation - @) - - - - (2)
Drisposal through business disposal - — - - [ - }
At 3| December 2011 , - (296) (157) (63) (128) (144) (788)
Exchange differences - 9 7 3 5 8 n
Charge for the year - (59 {85) 7 (20) (5 237
Dsposals - 8 - - - - 8
Acqussition through business combmation - @ - - - - {7)
Disposal through business disposal - - 45 | - - 416
Transfer from PPE - 4) - - - - ¥
Transfer to assets held for sale - 32 | - 4 - 37
At 3| December 2012 - (312) (189) (86) {139) (187) 13)
Carrying amounts '
At | January 2011 4568 102 328 145 V19 205 5.467
At 31 December 2011 5,199 132 475 190 85 261 6,342
At 3) December 2012 5,077 154 446 172 68 301 6218

Goodwill

The goodwill carrying value of £5,077m relates to acquistions completed aker | January 1998 Prior ta | fanuary

1998 all goodwill was written off 10 reserves on the date of acquisiuon For acqusitions completed berween

| january 1998 and 3| December 2002 no value was ascribed to ntangibles other than gogdwill and the goodwill
on each acquisition was amorused over a period of up to 20 years On adoption of IFRS on | fanuary 2003, the
Group chose not to restate the goodwill balance and at that date the balance was frozen (1e amaorusation ceased)
If goodwill had been restated then a significant value would have been ascnbed to other intangible assets, which
would be subject to amorusation, and the carrying value of goodwill would be significantly lower For acquisitions
completed after | January 2003 value has been ascnbed to other intangible assets which are amorused

Other intangitle assets

Other intangibles acquired include content, technology, contracts and software nights

Intangible assets are valued separately for each acqusiuon and the primary method of valuation used is the

discounted cash low method The majonity of acquired intangibles are amortised using the unit of preduction
method which & based on the pattem of benefits embodied in the asset

Amorusaton of £10m (2011 £10m) 1s included in the income statement in cost of goods sold and £205m
(2011 £177m) in administrative and other expenses Also included in the amorusaton charge for the year
n 2012 1s an impayrment of £2 'm relating to Pearson in Practice which is included in the income statement m

administrative and other expenses in 2012 £7m (201 | £6m) of amortisat:on relates to discontinued operations
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11 Intangble assets continued

The range of useful economic lives for each major class of Intangible asset (excluding goodwil and software)

1s shown below

W12
Class of intangible asset Usehd econamc kfe
Acquired customer lists and refattonships 5-20 years
Acquired trademarks and brands 5-20 years
Acquired publ ishing nghts 5-20 years
Other intangibles acquired 2-20 years
The expected amorusation profile of acquired intangible assets 1s shown below

w2

One o fve Six 1 en Mere than

Al figures in £ milsons yeans yaars ten yezrs Toal
Class of intangible asset
Acguired customer lists and relationships 263 132 51 446
Acquired trademarks and brands 89 19 34 172
Acquired publishing nghts 59 B8 | 68
Other intangibles acquired 23 63 7 301

Imparrment tests for cash-generating units contaming goodwill

Impairment tests have been carried out where appropriate as described below The recoverable amount for each

unit tested exceeds is carrying value

Goodwill in respect of continuing operzuens is allocated to, and monitored at the level of, 10 aggregated cash-

generating units (CGUSs) within the business segments as follows

AB fgures n £ mdions 2012 01
US Educauon Publishing 2384 2,127
US School Assessment and Information 773 792
Canada 188 192
International — Emerging Markets 463 508
Internatronal — UK 450 460
Internavonal = Rest Of World 267 228
Professional Publishing 15 13
Professional Assessment and Training 3134 377
Pearson Education total 4.874 4,697
Financial Times 51 49
Mergermarket 152 138
FT Group total 203 187
Continuing operations 5.077 4,884

Goodwill in respect of discontinued operations i1s £364m (2011

£315m)
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|} Intangble assets conunued
Impairment tests for cash-generaung units containing goodwill conunued

The recoverable amount of each CGU 1s based on value in use calcutations Goodwill s tested for imparment
annually Other than goodwill there are no intangible assets with indefinite lives The goodwilis generally
denominated in the currency of the relevant cash flows and therefore the impairment review 1s not materally
sensitive to exchange rate fluctuations

In 201 |, following a reorgamisauon within the Internauonal Educauon business the CGUs were re-analysed into
Emerging Markets UK and Rest Of World to align with the management and reperting structure The goodwill was
reallocated accordingly using a refative value approach except where goodwill 1s directly attnbutable 1o one of the
new CGUs, in which case the goodwill was specifically allocated to the relevant CGU

Key assumpuons
The value in use calculations use cash low projections based on financial budgets approved by management
covenng a five-year penod The key assumpuons used by management in the value in use calkculations were

Drscount rate The discount rate 1s based on the nsk-free rate for goverament bonds, adjusted for a risk premum
to reflect the increased nsk in investing in equities The nsk premium adjustrnent 15 assessed for each specfic CGU
The average pre-tax discount rates used are in the range of 9 8% to 12 7% for the Pearson Education businesses
(2011 107% to 13 3%) and |1 5% to |8 4% for the FT Group businesses (2011 11 6% to 17 9%)

Parpeturty growth rates A perpetuity growth rate of 2 0% was used for cash flows subsequent to the approved
budget penod for all CGUs 1in 2012 (2011 2 0%) This perpetuity growth rate is a conservative rate and is
considered to be lower than the long-term histonic growth rates of the underlying territores 1 winch the CGU
operates and the long-term growth rate prospects of the sectors in which the CGU operates

Cash flow growth rates The cash flow growth rates are denved from management's latest forecast of sales taking
into constderation experience of operating margins achieved in the CGU Histoncally, such forecasts have been
reasonably accurate

Sensitvizies

The Group's impairment review s sensitive to a change i assumptions used, most notably the discount rates, the
perpetuity growth rates and expected future cash flows Based on the Group's sensitmty analysis, a reasonably
possible change in any of these assumptions is unlikely to cause an impairment in any of the CGUs

12 Investments in j@int ventures and associates

{one ventures

Ab figures in £ muions 012 01
At beginning of year 18 18
Exchange differences o - .3
Share of loss after tax ) “ (2)
Dvidends ) 2
Addmions and further mvestment 6 7
Goodwill impairment (10) -
Ac end of year 8 18

The goodwall impairment charge relates to the write down of the Group’s mvestment in a pint venture In India

Investrents in joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method of accounting and are initially recogrused
at cost The total goodwill recorded on acquisition of joint ventures at 31 December 2012 was £1m (2011 £11m)
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12 Investments In joint ventures and associates continued

The aggregate of the Group's share of its joint ventures’ assets (including goodwill) and liabilties, none of which are

indivdually significant, are as follows

Al lgures in £ melions 012 201t
Assets

Non-current assets 5 IS
Current assets 19 17
Liabilitres

Nan-current habilities @) (1)
Current labiities {14) (13)
Net assets 8 18
Income 24 22
Expenses (28) (24)
Loss after tax {4) (2)
Associates

Al figures ;v £ malliony 002 |
At beginning of year 14 53
Exchange differences (8) (3)
Share of profit after tax 23 35
Drvidends R _(24) (30)
Addiions 32 2
Disposals - (15)
Actanal losses on reurement benefit abligations (3) (8)
Transfer to subsidiary - (20)
Transfer to assets held for sale (27) -
At end of year 7 14

In addiwon to the amounts disclosed above, FTSE Internauonal Ltd paid royalues of £13m to the FT Group during

2011 This royalty payment ceased upon the disposal of FTSE International Lid

investments in associates are accounted for using the equity method of accounting and are initally recogmised at
cost The tota! goodwill recorded on acquisition of associates at 3! December 2012 was £20m (2011 £nil) This

has been transferred to assets held for sale as it relates to an investment made by Penguin

The Group's interests in its associates. all of which are unlisted, are as follows

2012
Commtry of =
A fgures i £ rubons mcorporanon  meeresc hedd Aasets Luabirbes Ravenues Profiz
The Economst Newspaper Ltd England 50 {40 (140 174 23
Other continuing operations |4 @ i |7 |
Drscontinued operations 29 ) 9 {l)
Tozal 183 {149) 200 23
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12 Investments 1n joint ventures and associates contmued

wi

County of x
Al figures o £ mdkons WCOrpOraDen nerest hekd Agsers Laabeitses Reveruer Proft
The Economist Newspaper Ltd England 50 140 (140} 179 27
FTSE Internaucnal Led * England 50 - - 3 7
Other 16 @) 15 |
Toul 156 (142) 225 35
* FTSE Internauvonal Lid included to date of disposal
The interests held m associates are equivalent to voting rights
On 16 December 20! | the Group sold its 50% interest in FT SE International Ltd
Gain on sale of FTSE International Led
Al figuret in £ muliont PN
Proceeds 428
Duposal costs 0
Net assets dispased {15
Gain on sale 412
13 Deferred income tax
Al figures s £ mathons 012 2001
Deferred mcome tax assets 229 187
Deferred income tax habilities {601} (620)
Net deferred income tax (372) (333

b
Substantially all of the deferred tax assets are expected 1o be recovered after more than one year

Deferred income tax assets and labilives may be offset when there 1s a legally enforceabte nght to offset current
Income tax assets against current Income tax habihtes and when the deferred income taxes relate to the same fiscal
authonty The Group has unrecogrised deferred income tax assets of £13m at 31 December 2012 (2011 £13m)
in respect of UK losses, and approximately £30m (2011 £15m) in respect of losses in other termtones None of
the unrecogrised UK losses have expiry dates associated with them

The recognition of the deferred income tax assets s supported by management’s forecasts of the future
profitability of the relevant busmness units

The movement on the net deferred Income @ax account is as follows

All fgures i £ mullons Netes W2 011
At beginning of year _ ) (333) (195)
Exchange differences ) 14 5)
Income statemnent charge 7 (17 (3N
Acquisiion through business combinauon Rk (67) (36)
D posal through business disposal . i ¥ 11 I
Tax charge to other comprehensive Income or equity 38 (n
Transfer to assets held for sale (18) -
At end of year (372) (333)

Included in the Income statement charge above for 2012 1s a £5m charge (2011 £26m charge) relating 1o
discontinued operations N
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13 Deferred income tax continued

The movement in deferred income tax assets and habihnes dunng the year s as follows

Revremem
Tradng  Goodwd and Remmy beneta
Al Bpires o £ mulaons lotses nangbles provesens obkganors Other Towl
Deferred income tax assets
At | January 2011 5 4 96 6 165 276
Exchange differences ; - - i - 2 3
Acquisiion through business combination 8 - - - ! 9
Income statement benefit/(charge) 1 ) 8 19 (6) i
Tax (charge)/benefit to other
comprehensive income or equity - -~ ~ (6) 3 3)
At 31 December 201 | 14 - 89 19 165 287
Exchange differences - - 3 () (5) ©
Acquisition through business combemnauon 19 - - - - 19
Income statement charge {13) - {16) & (33) {67)
Tax benefit/(charge) to other
comprehensive iIncome or equity - - - 143 (6) 37
Transfer to assets held for sale 2) - (25) (%) {2) (38)
Ac 31 December 2012 18 - 45 47 Hi9 229
Other deferred income tax assets include temporary differences on share-based payments, inventory and
other provisions
Goodwdl and
Al figures in £ medhona ntangibles Other Toal
Deferred income tax labiliues
At | January 201! (339 (137) (471)
Exchange differences (6) @) (8)
Acquusition through busmness combination (102) (3) {!05)
Disposal through business disposal - | l
Income statement benefit (22) (‘7 (39)
Tax benefit to other comprehensive ncome or equity - 1 2
At 31 December 20} | (464) (156) (620)
Exchange differences 18 5 23
Acquisinon through business combination (65) @n (86)
Dssposal through business disposal I - I
Income statement charge {5 15 50
Tax benefit to other comprehensive income or equity ) - | |
Transfer to assets held for sale 10 10 20
At 31 December 2012 (275) (126) (601)

Other deferred income tax habiliwes include temporary differences in respect of deprecration and royalty advances




14 Classficatson of financral instruments

Secvon & Finangal statements

131

The accounung classification of each class of the Group’s financial assets and financial habilties, together with thewr

fair values, 15 as follows

2012
Fur value Amormed cott
Oemaaves  Derzaves Tomd Teal

Avabbie deemedhedd inhadgrg  Other loamand  Other  amyng  erarket
Al fgures in { mallions Notes for ie  for cradmng e " tab L ] labd valus vilus
Investments in unlisted securtties
~ continuing operabions H 31 - - - - - 3l 3l
Investments in unfisted securities
classified within assets held
for sale 12 | - - - - - | |
Cash and cash equivalents —
CONtINUING Operations 17 - - - - 1,062 - 1,062 1,062
Cash and cash equivalents
classified wathun assets held
for sale 12 - - - - {15 - 115 IS
Marketable securities 6 - - - - - 6 6
Derwative financial instruments T3 - | V77 - - - 178 178
Trade recervables — continuing
operations 7 - - - - 883 - 883 883
Trade recenables classified within
assets held for sale - - ~ - 249 - 249 249
Toral financial assets 38 | 177 - 2309 - 2525 2525
Trade payables — continuing
operations E]) - - - - - {3317y (337} (33

Trade payables classified wathin
habibities held for sale -

Other financial habiliues — put
oputions over non-controling

(148) (148) (148)

inerest 24 - - - (68) ~ - (68) (68)
Bank loans and overdrafts —

contnuing operauons 18 _ - - - - - (55) (55) (55)
Bank loans and overdrafts

classified within labiites held

for sale 32 - - - - - @ @) &)
Borrowings due within one year 1 - - - - - (229) (229) (229)
Borrowings due after more than

one year 8 - - - - - (1,.988) (1,588) (2.043)
Total financial habtlities - - - (68) — (L764) (2,832) (2.886)
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14 Classificauion of finarcial instruments continued

2014

Fair vakse Amorased cost
Demauves  Demvatve: Toul Tota)

Avplable deemed had n hedpng Other  Loans and Other  cwmyng market
A fgures i £ endbons Notcs  forsde  formadng relaponshpr  habid kabik value vakie
Investrments in unlisted securties 15 26 - - - - - 6 26
Cash and cash equrvalents 17 - - - - 1,369 - 1,369 1,369
Marketable securuies . 9 - - - - - 9 9
Derwacrve financaal instruments 16 - 3 174 - - - i77 177
Trade recervables 7 - - - - 106l - 1,061 1,08l
Total financial assets 35 3 174 - 2430 - 2692 2642
Derwatrve financial instruments % - " (2) - - - ()] 3
Trade payables 24 - - - - - (483) (483) (483)
Other financrl kabihties — put
options over non-controlling
interest M - - - (86) - - (88) {86)
Bank loans and overdrafts 8 - - - - - (78) (78) (78)
Borrowngs due within one year " - - - - - (%d] %) %)
Borrowings due after more than
one year 19 - - - - — (1,964) (1.964) (2,000)
Total financial habilities - () (2) (86) — (2.534) (2.623) (2,659)

Certain of the Group's dervative financial nstruments are classified as held for trading either as they do not meet
the hedge accounting cntena spectified in tAS 39 ‘Financal Instruments Recogniion and Measurement’ or the
Group has ¢chosen not to seek hedge accountng for these instruments None of these dervatives are held for
speculative trading purposes  Transactions n derivatve financial instruments are only undertaken to manage risks
arsing from underlying business acuvity m accordance with the Group's treasury policy as deseribed in note 19

The Group designates certain qualfying derivative financial nstruments as hedges of the farr value of its bonds
(far value hedges) Changes i the fair value of these denvative financial instruments are recorded in the income
statement, together with any change in the far value of the hedged lability attributable to the hedged risk

The Group also designates certain of its borrowings and derwative financial instruments as hedges of its
investments in foreign operations (net mvestment hedges) Movements i the fair value of these financal
instruments (to the extent they are effective) are recognised in other comprehensive income

None of the Group's financial assets or habilities are designated at fair value through the income statement upon

initial recognition

More detall on the Group's accounting for financal instruments s included in the Group's accounting policies
The Group's appreach to managing nsks in relaton to financal instruments s descnbed in note 9
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15 Other financial assets
Al fgwres £ mliom 1012 011
At beginning of year 26 58
Exchange differences @ -
Acquisiuon of nvestments 10 12
Disposal of investments 2) (44)
Transfer to assets held for sale {!) -
At end of year 3t 26
Orther financial assets compnise non-current unlisted securities
16 Dervauve financial instruments
The Group's approach te the management of financial risks 15 set outinnote 19 The Group s cutstanding
derivative financial instruments are as follows

2012 011
Groas nocanal Gross nenona

AN fpores w £ mihons AMCunty Assecs inbuhoes arnounts Asyess Liabwhbes
Interest rate derwatives —
in a farr value hedge relationship 1,465 143 - 1,208 151 -
Interest rate dervatives —
not in a hedge retatonship 6l | - 65 3 ()
Cross-currency rate denvatives —
in a net investment hedge relatonship 220 34 - 220 23 (2)
Total 1,746 178 - 1,493 177 (3)
Analysed as expinng:
In less than one year 215 4 - - - 1)
Later than one year and not later
than five years 701 69 - 946 81 (2)
Later than five years 830 105 - 547 96 ~
Toul | 746 178 — 1,493 177 (3

The carrying value of the above dervative financial instruments equals their fair value Fair values are determined
by using market data and the use of established estmation techriques such as discounted cash flow and option

valuatuon models

At the end of 2012, the currency split of the mark-to-market values of rate dervatrves, including the exchange of
principal on cross-currency rate dermvatives, was US dollar £{59)m, sterling £257m and South Afncan rand £(20)m
(2011 US dollar £(66)m, sterling £263m and South African rand £(23)m)

The fixed interest rates on owutstanding rate derwvative contracts at the end of 2012 range from 3 65% to 9 28%
(2011 3 65% to 9 28%) and the floating rates are based on LIBOR in US dollar and sterfing

The Group's portfolio of rate dervatives i diversified by maturity, counterparty and type Natural offsets between
transacucns within the portfoho and the designavon of certain derivatives as hedges significantly reduce the risk
of Income statement volatility The sensiuvity of the portfolio to changes in market rates 15 set out1n note 19
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16 Derivative financial instruments conunued

Counterparty exposure from all denvatives 1s managed, together with that from deposits and bank account
batances, within credit imits that reflect published credn raungs and by reference to other market measures

(e g market prices for credn default swaps) to ensure that there 1s no sigmificant nsk to any ene counterparty

No single derivative wansaction had a market value (positive or negative) at the balance sheet date that exceeded
3% of the Group's consoldated total equity

In accordance with IAS 39 ‘Financial Instruments Recognition and Measurement” the Group has reviewed all of us
materal contracts for embedded dervauves that are required to be separately accounted for if they do not meet
certain requirements, and has concluded that there are no material embedded dervatives

17 Cash and cash equivalents (excluding overdrafts)

All fgares in £ mébions w012 2011
Cash at bank and in hand 372 864
Short-term bank deposits 690 505
Conunuing operations 1,062 1,369
Cash at bank and 1n hand classified within assets held for sale 1is -

1,177 1,369

Short-term bank deposits are mvested with banks and earn interest at the prevailing short-term deposit rates

At the end of 2012 the currency splt of cash and cash equivalents was US dollar 47% (2011 31%), sterling 25%
(2011 38%), euro 3% (2011 8%) and other 25% (2011 23%)

Cash and cash equmvalents have fair values that approximate to their carrying value due to thewr short-term nature

Cash and cash equnalents include the following for the purpose of the cash flow statement

All fgures in £ milions 012 201t
Cash and cash equivalents — continuing operations 1,062 1,369
Cash at bank and in hand classified within assets held for sale 15 -~
Bank overdrafts — continuing operations {33) (78)
Bank overdralfts classdied within liabiities held for sale " -

.137 1,291
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i8 Financial iabihues ~ Borrowings

The Group's current and non-current borTowings are as follows

135

ARl Sgures in £ midvens 012 204
Non-current
5 5% Global Dollar Bonds 2013 (nominal amount $350m) ) ) - 233
5 7% US Dollar Bonds 2014 (nominal amount $400m) 264 286
7 0% Sterling Bonds 20/ 4 (nomunal amount £250m) 256 257
6 0% Sterling Bonds 2015 {(nominal amount £300m) 298 298
4 0% US Dollar Notes 2016 (nominal amount $350rm) 219 238
& 25% Global Dollar Bonds 2018 (nominal amount $550m) 402 419
4 615% US Dollar Notes 2018 (nomunal amount $300m) 2147 224
3 75% US Dollar Notes 2022 (nominal amount $500m) 3i5 -
Bank lozns and overdrafts 2 -
Finance lease habihues 7 9
2010 1,964
Current
Oue withtn one year or on-demand
S 5% Global Dollar Bonds 2013 (nominal amount $350m) 219 -
Bank loans and overdrafts 33 78
Finance lease llabilities 10 9
262 87
Total borrowings — contnuing operavons 227 2.05/I
Bank overdrafts classified within labirties held for sale _ 7 -
Total borrowings 2,279 2,051

Included in the non-current borrowings above 18 £11m of accrued interast (2011 £12m) Included m the current

borrowings above 1s £2m of accrued interest (2011 £ nil)

The matunty of the Group's nen-current borrowing is as follows

Al fpures in £ millions Wi W
Between one and two years 524 24|
Batween two and five years 552 1,080
Over five years 934 643

2010 1,964
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18 Financial habiliues — Borrowings continued

The carrying amounts and market values of borrowings are as follows

2012 211
Effective imerest Carryng Market Carryrg Marker
Af figures in £ melions rate ke valoe value vaue
Bank loans and overdrafts n/a 55 55 78 78
5 5% Global Dollar Borkds 2013 576% 219 218 233 237
5 7% US Dollar Bonds 2014 588% 264 260 286 280
7 0% Sterling Bonds 2014 720% 256 274 257 282
6 0% Sterling Bonds 2015 627% 298 337 298 340
4 0% US Dollar Notes 2016 426% 229 233 238 237
6 25% Global Dollar Bonds 2018 6 46% 402 410 419 409
4 625% US Dollar Notes 2018 4 69% 217 209 224 206
3 75% US Dollar Notes 2022 394% S 313 - -
Finance lease liabilties n/a 17 17 18 18
Conunuing operations 27 2,326
Bank overdrafts classified within habiliues held
for sale n/a 7 7 - ~
2,279 2,333 2,051 2,087

The market values stated above are based on clean market prices at the year end or, where these are not available,
on the quoted market prices of comparable debt issued by other companies The effectrve interest rates above

refate to the underlying debt instruments

The carrying amounts of the Group's borrowings are denomunated in the following currencies

All fgures tn € mulions 1012 2011

US dollar 1,684 1,488

Stecling 873 563

Other 22 -
2,279 2,051

The Group has the following undrawn capacity on rts committed barrowing facilities as at 31 December

AN fgures n £ rrefions W12 1)

Floating rate

— expintng within one year - -

— expiring beyond one year 1,077 1,126
1,077 1,126

In addition to the above facdiues, there are a number of short-term facihues that are uuised in the normal course

of business

All of the Group’s barrowings are unsecured In respect of finance lease obligations, the mights to the teased asset

revert to the lessor in the event of default.
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I8 Firancial habiliwes — Borrowings continued

The matunty of the Group’s finance lease obligatons is as follows

Al figyres wy £ muBions 012 2061

Finance lease habilities — mimimum lease payments

Not later than one year 10 9
Later than one year and not later than two years 4 8
Later than two years and not later than three years 3 1
Later than three years and not later than four years - -
Later than four years and not later than five years - -
Later than five years - -
Future finance charges on finance leases - =
Present value of finance lease liabilwes |7 18

The present value of finance lease habilities 15 as follows

All fgures in £ mithons 012 2011
Not later than one year 10 9
Later than one year and not later than five years 7 9

Later than five years - -

The carrying amounts of the Group's lease obliganions approximate their fair value
19 Financial nsk management

The Group's approach to the management of financial risks together with sensitvity analyses of its financial
mnstruments Is set out below

Treasury policy

The Group holds financial instruments for two prinaipal purposes to finance its operatons and to manage the
interest rate and currency risks arising from its operations and its sources of finance The Group finances its
operattons by a muxture of cash flows from operauons, short-term borrowings from banks and commercial paper
markets. and longer term loans from banks and ¢capital markets The Group borrows prnncipally in US doflars and
steriing, at both floating and fixed rates of interest, using dervative financral nstruments {*denvauves’), where
appropriate, to generate the desired effectve cumrency profile and interest rate basis The dervatives used for
this purpose are principally rate swaps, rate caps and collars, currency rate swaps and forward loreign exchange
contracts The maim risks ansing from the Group’s financial instruments are interest rate risk, hquidiyy and
refinancing nisk, counterparty risk and foregn currency risk’ These risks are managed by the chief financial officer
under policies approved by the board, which are summarsed overleal All the wreasury policies remained
unchanged throughout, except for revisions to the Group's bank counterparty nisk imits and related approval
processes and minor amendments to reflect the consolidaton of the Group’s treasury operavons into one
location

The audit committee recewves reports on the Group's treasury activities, policies and procedures The treasury
department s not a profit centre and its activities are subject to regular internal audit
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19 Financial nsk management continued

Interest rate risk management

The Group's exposure to interest rate fluctuations on its borrowings 1s managed by borrowng on a fixed rate
basis and by entering into rate swaps, rate caps and forward rate agreements The Group's policy objective has
continued to be to set a target proportion of its forecast borrowings (taken at the year end, with cash netted
aganst floating rate debt and before certain adjustments for 1AS 39 ‘Financial Instruments Recognition and
Measurement’) to be hedged (1e fixed or capped at the year end) over the next four years. subject to a maximum
of 65% and a minimum that starts at 40% and falls by 10% at each year end At the end of 2012 the fixed to floating
hedging ratio, on the above basis, was approximately $5% A simuitaneous | % change on | January 2013 in the
Group's variable interest rates i US dollar and steriing taking inta account forecast seasonal debt, would have a
£6m effect on profit before tax

Use of interest rate dervatives

The policy described in the secuon above creates a group of derivauves, under which the Group 1s a payer of fixed
rates and a receiver of floaung rates The Group also aims to avoid undue exposure to a single interest rate setting
Reflecung this objective, the Group has predominantly swapped its fixed rate bond issues to floating rate at therr
launch This creates a second group of derivauves, under which the Group 1s a receiver of fixed rates and a payer
of floaung rates The Group’s accounting objective in ns use of Interest rate denvatives 1s to mimimise the impace on
the income statement of changes in the mark-to-market value of ts derwmative portfolio as a whole [t uses duration
calculations to estimate the sensitvity of the derivatives to movements in market rates The Group also identfies
which denvatives are eligible for fair value hedge accounting (which reduces sharply the income statement impact
of changes in the market value of a derivative) The Group then balances the total portfolio between hedge-
accounted and pooled segments, so that the expected movement on the pooled segment 1s minimal

Liquidity and refinancing risk management

The Group's objective 1s to secure continuity of funding at a reasonable cost To do this it seeks to arrange
commited funding for a vanety of matunues from a diversiy of sources The Group’s policy objective has been
that the werghted average maturity of its core gross borrowings (treating short-term advances as having the final
matunity of the faciliues available to refinance them) should be between three and ten years At the end of 2012
the average maturity of gross borrowings was 3 9 years (2011 4 0 years} of which bonds represented 97%
(201! 95%) of these borrowings

The Group beheves that ready access to different funding markets also helps to reduce its bquidity nsk, and that
published credit ratings and pubhshed financial policies improve such access All of the Group's credit ratings
remained unchanged during the year The long-term ratings are Baal from Moody's and BBB+ from Standard &
Poor's, and the short-term raungs are P2 and A2 respecuvely The Group’s policy Is to stnve to maintain a rating
of Baa |/BBB+ over the long term The Group will also contnue to use internally a range of ravos to montor

and manage s finances These include mterest cover, net debt to operating profit and cash flow to debt measures
The Group also maintains undrawn commutted borrowing faciliues At the end of 2012 the committed faciliies
amounted to £1,077m and their weighted average matunity was 2 9 years
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19 Financial nsk management conunued

Analysis of Group debt, including the :mpact of dervatives
The following tables analyse the Group's sources of funding and the impact of dervatives on the Group’s debt
mnsruments

The Group's net debt position 5 set out below

ALl fgores n £ mlvons pllbd 201

Cash and cash equivalents 1.062 1.369

Marketable securities 6 9

Derwative financial iInstruments 178 174

Bank loans, overdrafts and loan notes (55) (78)
Bonds (22000  (1.955)
Finance lease liabihties (7 (18
Continuing operations (1.026) (499)
Cash & cash equivalents classified within assets held for sale 15 -

Bank loans, overdrafts and loan notes classified within habiliues held for sale ) -
Net debt (318) {(49%)
The split of net debt between fixed and floating rate, stated after the impact of rate denvatives, is as follows

Al figures in € mattions. 1012 2001

Fixed rate 499 510
Floating rate 419 (1N
Total 918 499

Gross borrawings, after the impact of cross-currency rate derivatives, analysed by currency are as follows

All fgures v £ mollions 01 2011
US dollar 1.905 1.687
Sterling 353 343
Other 2t 21
Toual 2,279 2051

As at 31 December 2012 the exposure of the borrowings of the Group to interest rate changes when the
borrowings re-price & as follows

Lass chan One More dan
Afl figures n £ milhons one year five yean. five yeary Toud
Re-pncing profile of borrowings 29| 1 054 934 2,279
Effect of rate derwaywes 1,314 (480) (831} -
Tozal 1.602 574 103 2279
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19 Financral risk management continued

The matunty of contracted cash flows associated with the Group's financial liabiities are as follows

2012
AJ fgares in £ milions usD GBr Other Toal
Not later than one year 489 126 142 757
Later than one year and not later than five years 726 357 21 1104
Later than five years B&3 - - 863
Total 2,078 483 163 2,724
Analysed as
Bonds 1,837 639 - 2,476
Rate denvatives — inflows (326) (264) - (590)
Rate dernvatives — outflows 328 3 22 353
Trade payables 239 105 141 485
Total 2,078 483 163 2,724
2011
Al figures n € miaons usD cap Other Touwd
Not later than one year 261 124 156 541
Later than one year and not later than five years 984 378 25 1,387
Later than five years 563 - - 563
Total 1.808 502 181 2,491
Analysed as
Bonds 1.553 675 - 2228
Rate denvauves - inflows {292) 8l) - (373}
Rate dervatves — outflows 321 5 27 353
Trade payables 226 103 154 483
Tozal 1,808 502 181 2491

All cash flow projections shown above are on an undiscounted basis Any cash flows based on a floating rate are
calculated using interest rates as set at the date of the last rate reset. Vhere this s not possible, floaung rates are
based on mterest rates prevalling at 3! December in the relevant year All derrvative amounts are shown gross,
although the Group net settles these amounts wherever possible

Any amounts drawn under revolving credit fachies and commercial paper are assumed to mature at the maturity
date of the relevant facility, with interest calculated as payable in each calendar year up to and including the date of
matunty of the facilny

Financial counterparty risk management

Counterparty credit limits, which take published ¢redit raung and other factors nto account, are set to cover our
total aggregate exposure to a single financial insttuon The hmits applicable to published credit ratings bands are
approved by the chief financia! officer within guidelines approved by the board Exposures and imits applable wo
each financial msttution are reviewed on a regular basis
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19 Financial nsk management contnued

Foreign currency risk management

Although the Group  based in the UK, it has its most significant mvestment in overseas operations The most
significant currency for the Group Is the US dollar The Group's palicy on routine transactional conversions
between currencies (for example, the collecton of recevables, and the settlement of payables or interest) remains
that these should be transacted at the relevant spot exchange rate The majonty of the Group's operations are
domestic wathin thew country of operation No unremitted prafits are hedged with foreign exchange contracts,

as the company dges 1t inappropnate to hedge non-cash flow translatonal exposure with cash flow nstruments
However, the Group does seek to create a natural hedge of this exposure through its policy of ahgning
approximately the currency compasiion of its core net borrowings (after the impact of cross-currency rate
derivatives) with its forecast operaung profit before depreciation and amoruisation This pelicy aims to soften the
impact of changes in foreign exchange rates on consohdated interest cover and earnings The pohcy above applies
only to currencres that account for more than 15% of Group operating profit before depreciaucn and amorusation,
which currently 15 only the US dollar The Group stll barrows small amounts i other currencies, typically for
seasonal working capital needs Our policy does nat require existing currency debt to be terminated to match
declines i that currency’s share of Group operating profit before depreciation and amortisanon [n addition,
currencies that account for less than |5% of Group operaung profit before depreciation and amorusation can be
included in the above hedging process at the request of the chief financial officer

Included wathin year end net debt, the net barrowmgs/{cash} in the hedging currencies above (taking into account
the effect of cross-currency swaps) were US dollar £1,354m, sterling £58m and South African rand £(17)m

Use of currency debt and currency derwatives

The Group uses both currency denominated debt and dervative instruments to implement the above policy

Its intention 15 that gans/losses on the dervatives and debt offset the losses/gains on the foregn currency assets
and income Each quarter the value of hedging instruments s monitored against the assets in the relevant currency
and, where pracucal, a decision 1s made whether to treat the debt or denvative as a net investment hedge
(permitting foreign exchange movements on it to be taken to reserves) for the purposes of IAS 39

Financial instruments — fair value measurement
The following table provsdes an analysis of those financial instruments that are measured subsequent o iniual
recognition at far value, grouped into levels | to 3, based on the degree to which the fair value 15 observable

Level | farr value measurements are those derived from unadjusted quoted prices i active markets for idenucal
assets or habilities,

Level 2 farr value measurements are those derived from inputs, other than quoted prices included within level |,
that are observable for the asset or Labihty, either directly {as prices) or ndirectly (derwed from prices), and

Level 3 far value measurements are those derived from valuation techniques that include inputs for the asset or
hability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable nputs)
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19 Financial nsk management continued

Financial mstruments — fair value measurement continued

012 2011
AD Sgures in £ rulkany Levd | Levd2 Ll Total Levell Lol Leweld Touad
Financial assets at fair value
Derwvauve financial assets - 178 - 178 - 177 - 177
Marketable securities - 6 - 6 - 9 - 9
Avatlable for sale financial assets
Investments in unlisted securities —
continuing operations - - 30 30 - - 26 26
Investments in unlisted securities classified
within assets held for sale - - | I — - - -
Financial habihicies ac fair value
Derwative financial habilities - - - - - (3) - (3)
Other financial liabiliues — put options over
non-controlling interest - - (68) (68) - - (86) (86}
Total — 184 {37y 147 - 183 (60} 123
The following table analyses the movements in leve! 3 fair value measurements
2012 01
fnvesonencs in nvestments n

unisted  Other Snancl wunlsted  Other Enanaal
All figures m £ mellions securTues Iakines earmes habeiines
At beginning of year 26 (86) 58 (25)
Exchange differences 93] S - 3
Additions 10 - 13 (63)
Farr value movements - (25) - M
Transfer to assets classified as held for sale (H - - -
DOrsposals @) 38 (45) -
At end of year 3l (68) 26 (86)

The far value of the investments in unhsted secuntes s determined by reference to the financial performance of

the underlying asset and amounts realised on the sale of simdar assets The far value of other financial habilites

represents the present value of the estimated future habiiry
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19 Financial nsk management conunued

Ftnancial inscruments — sensitivity analysis

143

As at 31 December 2012 the sensmivity of the carrymng value of the Group's finanaial nstruments to fluctuations in

nterest rates and exchange rates is as follows

mpeof X kmpactof IX  bmpactof 10X Impact of 10%

ncrerie n derreasa o sreagthening in kereng n

Al fgares in € mdltons Cyrymgvalue e s imerestrated surhng sterling

{nvestments in unlisted securibes — continuing

operations 31 - - 3) 4

Investments in unhsted securities classified wathin assets

held for sale | - - - -

Cash and cash equivalents — canunuing operations 1.062 - - (75) 92

Cash and cash equivalents classified within assets held

for sale 1s - - ()] 4

Marketable securiues 6 - - - -

Dernvatrve financal instruments 178 (66) 65 7 9)

Bonds (2 200) &4 (63) 149 (183)

OCther barrowings — continuing operations (72) - - 5 (6)

Other borrowings classified within labilities held

for sale (7) - - I {n

Put options over non-controlling interest (68) - - 7 1))

Other net financial assets — continuing operations 546 - - (43) 52

Other net financial assets classified within assets and

habibues held for sale 101 - - (10) 12

Total financial nstruments (307) @) 1 34 {42)

The table shows the sensitivities of the far values of each class of financial nstruments to an isclated change n
either interest rates or foreign exchange rates The class ‘Other net financial assets” comprises trade assets less

wrade liabilities

The sensitvities of derivative instruments are calculated using established estimation techniques such as discounted
cash flow and option valuauon models Where modelling an interest rate decrease of 1% led to negatve mterest
rates, these points an the yield curve were adjusted to 0% A large proportion of the movements shown above
would mpact equrty rather than the income statement. due to the focation and funcuonal currency of the entities
in which they arise and the avadability of net investment hedge treatment The changes in valuations are estimates
of the mpact of changes in market variables and are not a predwtion of future events or anucipated gains or losses
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20 Intangible assets - Pre-publication

Al figures m £ miions Wiz wn
Cost

At beginning of year 1,965 1,863
Exchange differences 74 6
Additions 364 331
Disposals (188) (249)
Acquisition through business combination 14 14
Transfer to property, plant and equipment (3) -
Transfer to assets classified as held for sale {202) -
At end of year 1.876 1,965
Amorusation

At beginning of year (1319 (1.218)
Exchange differences 55 {(n
Charge for the year (316) (331)
Disposals 188 249
Acquisition through business combination (8) (6)
Transfer to assets classified as held for sale 186 =
At end of year (1.210) (1.315)
Carrying amounts

At end of year 666 650

Included m the above are pre-publicanion assets amounung to £431m (2011 £413m) which will be reabsed in more

than one year

Amorusation is included (n the iIncome statement m cost of goods sold In 2012 £33m (2011 £39m) relates to

discontinued operations

2| Inventories

Al tgures n € nubbons 012 1011
Raw materrals 13 24
Work in progress I 20
Finushed poods 37 363

261 407

The cost of nventones relating to continuing operations recognised as an expense and tncluded in the income
statement m cost of goods sold amounted to £512m (2011 £585m) In2012 £71m (2011 £63m) of inventory

provisions was charged n the incame statement None of the inventory s pledged as secunty
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22 Trade and other recevables

Al figures in L rulions 0 011
Current
Trade recenvables 868 1,048
Royalty advances 16 107
Prepayments and accrued income 81 20
Other recevables 139 141
1,104 1.386
Non-current
Trade recewables 15 13
Royalty advances 13 88
Prepayments and accrued income 33 34
Other recevables L 16
79 151

Trade recewvables are stated at fair value, net of prewvisions for bad and doubtful debts and anticipated future sales
returns The movements on the provision for bad and doubtful debts are as follows

All fgures i £ mulions 2012 2001
At beginning of year {102) (83}
Exchange differences 4 |
Income statement movements @n (30
Uulised 53 i7
Acquisition through business combmation (1 (8)
Dusposal through business disposal - 2
Transfer to assets classified as held for sale 12 -
At end of year (55) (102)

Concentrauons of credit nsk with respect to trade recevables are imted due to the Group's large number of
customers, who are internationally dispersed

The ageing of the Group's trade recevables s as fallows

M figures m £ melflions 2012 2011

Within due date 774 1,079

Up to three months past due date 231 289
Three to six months past due date 43 37
Six to nne months past due date 10

Nine to |2 months past due date 7 3

More than |2 months past due date 5 -
Toual rrade recevables 1,070 1412
Less provision for sales returmns (187) (351)
Net trade receivables 883 1,061

The Group reviews its bad debt provision at least twice a year following a detasled review of recervable balances
and histonc payment profiles Management believe all the remaining receivable balances are fully recoverable
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23 Prowisions for ather hiatilivres and charges

Ocferred
Al dgures on £ mullions conaderabon Property Legd and other Tetad
At | January 2012 97 17 49 163
Exchange differences (3) - )] @
Charged to income statement - 2 45 57
Released ro ncome statement - (1) ) {3)
Deferred consideration on acquisition 6 - - 6
Acquisition through business combmation 3) - 4 [
Utlised 31) 0] (®) (40)
Transfer to habilives held for sale 2) {1 (26) 2%
At 3| December 2012 64 26 58 148
Analysis of provisions
012
Octorred
Al fgures in £ malions conmdernuon Property Legal and ocher Toul
Current 6 12 20 38
Non-current 58 14 38 ALY
64 26 58 148
2011
Current 12 5 1 48
Non-current ) 65 2 38 115
97 17 49 163
Deferred consideration primanly relates to the formauon of a venture in the US Professional business in 201 |
Legal and other mcludes provisions 1n relation to legal claims, contract dsputes and potental contract losses
24 Trade and other labilities
Al figures in £ mulrons W12 wn
Trade payables 337 483
Socual security and other taxes 30 25
Accruals 440 544
Deferred income 714 678
Interest payable 21 18
Put options over non-controliing nterest 68 86
Other liabilities 228 232
1,838 2,066
Less. non-current poruon
Accruals 18 25
Deferred ncome 147 147
Put cpuons over non-controlling interest 25 62
Interest payable 13 6
Other kabdives 79 85
282 325
Current portion 1.556 1,741

The carrying value of the Group's trade and other labilities approximates 1ts fair value
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24 Trade and other habilities continued

The deferred income balance comprises principally multi-year obligauons te deliver warkbooks to adopuon
customers in school businesses, advance payments in assessment, testing and teaching businesses, subscrnpuon
income in school and newspaper businesses, and obligatons to deliver digital content in future penods

The put opuons over non-controfling interest are the farr value of options held by the non-controlling interests
in the Group's Southern African and Indan businesses

25 Reurement benefit and other post-retirement obligations

Background

The Group operates a number of defined benefit and defined contributen retirement plans throughout the worid
For the defined benefit plans, benefits are based on employees’ length of service and final pensionable pay Defined
contribunion benefits are based on the amount of contribytions paid in respect of an ndmidual member, the
investment returns earned and the amount of pension this money will buy when a member retires

The largest plan is the Pearson Group Pension Plan (UK Group plan’) with both defined benefit and defined
contribution sections From | November 2006, all secuons of the UK Group plan were closed to new members
with the excepuon of a defined contribution section that was opened in 2003 This sectronis available to all new
employees of parucipaung companies

At 31 December 2012 the UK Group plan has approximately 27,000 members, analysed in the following table

k3 Acove Deferred Pensoners Toal
Defined benefit 3 26 32 61
Defined contnbution 18 21 - 39
Total 21 47 32 100

The other major defined benefit plans are based in the US Other defined contribution plans are operated
principally overseas with the largest plan being in the US The specific features of these plans vary in accordance
with the regulations of the country n which employees are located

Pearson also has several post-retirement medical benefit plans (PRMBs}, principally in the US PRMBs are unfunded
but are accounted for and valued similarly to defined benefit pension plans

Assumptions
The principal assumpuions used for the UK Group plan and the US PRMB are shown below Weighted average
assumptions have been shown for the other plans, which primanly refate to US pension plans

2012 011
UK Group Other UK Greup Other

% pln phns PAMB plan plars PRMB
Inflauen 30 25 25 30 25 25
Rate used to discount plan habikties 44 e 36 49 42 42
Expected returmn on assets 58 55 - 57 64 -
Expected rate of increase in salares 3is ie - 40 40 -
Expected rate of increase for pensions in 23 14

payment and deferred pensions tos1i - - to43 - -
Inuial rate of increase in healthcare rate - - 80 - - 75
Ulumate rate of increase m healthcare rate - - 50 - - 50

The UK discount rate 1s based on the annualsed yield on the iBoxx over 15-year AA-rated corporate bond mdex.
adjusted to reflect the duration of habiliies The US discount rate s set by reference to a US bond portfoho
matching model
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25 Reurement benefit and other post-reurement obligations continued

The inflation rate for the UK Group plan of 3 0% reflects the RP) rate In line with changes to legislavon in 2010,
certain benefits have been calculated with reference to CP as the inflavonary measure and in these mstances a rate
of 2 5% has been used

The expected rates of return on categones of plan assets are determined by reference to relevant indices
The overall expected rate of return is cakulated by weighung the indvidual rates in accordance with the
antwipated balance in the plan’s investment portfoho, plus a diversfication presium

The expected rate of increase In salaries has been set at 3 5% for 2012 with a short-term assumption of 3 0%
for three years

For the UK plan, the mortality base table assumptions have been derved from the SAPS ‘all pensioners’ tables
for males and the SAPS 'normal health pensioners’ tables for females, adjusted to reflect the observed expenence
of the plan, with medium cohort improvement factors A | 5% improvement floor on the medium cohort s
apphed for males, and | 25% for females. with tapering

For the US plans, the RP2000 table is used. reflecting the mortality assumption most prevalent in the US In 2010
a ten-year projection was added

Using the above tables, the remainng average life expectancy in years of a2 penstoner retinng at age 65 con the
balance sheet date for the UK Group plan and US plans is as follows

UK us

012 2011 012 1011

Male 230 226 192 192
Female 242 235 21 PN

The remaining average iife expectancy in years of a pensicner retinng at age 65, 20 years after the balance sheet
date, for the UK and US Group plans is as follows

UK us
2042 2010 w12 011

Male 251 252 192 192
Female 261 256 21 ) 211
Financal statement information
The amounts recognised i the Income statement are as follows

012

Drefined
UK Group benefiz Defned

A Ageres i £ mulbons pbn ocher Sub towd contributaon PRMB Toal
Current service ¢ost 23 3 26 78 4 108
Total operaung expense 23 3 26 78 4 108
Expected return on plan assets () 8) (119) - - (119
Interest on plan liabiives 26 7 103 - 3 106
Net finance (income)/expense {I5) {1) {16) - 3 {13)
Net income statement charge 8 2 10 78 7 95

Actuadl return on plan assets 146 5 161 - - 16)
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w01

Defined

UK Group benefn Defred

All Sgures n £ mions plan ather Subtowd  contbuten PRIMB Teaad
Current service cost 21 3 24 69 3 9%
Total operaung expense 21 3 24 69 3 96
Expected retum on plan assets {107} @) (114 - - (114
Interest on plan habilties 100 8 108 - 3 L

Net finance {income)/expense {7 ) {6} - 3 (3)
Net income statement charge 14 4 18 69 6 93

Actual return on plan assets 161 S 166 - - 166

Included within the 2012 results are discontinued operations consisung of a £4m charge 2011 £4m charge)

relaung to defined benefit schemes and a £7m charge (201} £7m charge) relaung 1o defined contribuuon schemes

The amounts recognised in the bafance sheet are as follows

012 2011
Orher Ordver Qrher Other
UKGroup  funded  ununded UKGroup  hinded  wnfunded
Al figures in € mullions ehn plans plans Towal plan plams plans Tozul
Fair value of plan assets 2,162 165 - U327 2008 149 2,157
Present value of defined benefit
obligation 2.181) (198} (24) (2401) (1.983) (173 (24) (2,180)
Net pension asset/(hability) (19) (3n (24) 74) 25 (249) (24) {23)
Other post-retirement
medical benefit obligation (89) (85)
Other pension accruals (35} (33)
Net retirement benefit obligations (198} (141)
Analysed as
Retirement benefit assets - 25
Retrrement benefit oblgations (198} (166)

Included within the 2012 reurement benefit obhgation is a hability of £26m which relates to Penguin and 1s classified

as held for sale

The following losses have been recognised m other comprehensive income

Al figures in { millicns 012 011
Amounts recognised for defined benefit plans {19 (47)
Amounts recognised for post-retrement medical benefit plans {5) {9)
Total recognised in year {119) {56)
Cumulative amounts recognised (351) (232)
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25 Reurement benefit and other post-retirement obligations contnued

The fair value of plan assets compnses the following

012 01

Orher Other

UK Group funded UK Group funded
% phan phany Towl plan pham Toul
Equities 32 2 34 7 3 30
Bonds 38 3 41 48 3 51
Properties 9 ! 10 3 - k)
Other 14 | 15 15 | 16

The plan assets do not include any of the Group's own financial instruments, or any property occupied by

the Group

The table below further disaggregates the UK Group plan assets into additional categories and those assets which

have a quoted market price 1n an active market and those that do not

w012 201
Quoted No quoted Quotd No quoted
% marker pnge  market prce market price mark e prce
UK equities 6 | 1 ]
Non-UK equities 25 3 23 3
Fixed-interest secuntes 21 - 29 -
Index-hnked securities 19 - 23 -
Property - 10 - 3
Other [ 14 1 16
Total 72 28 77 23
The hguidity profile of the UK Group plan assets is as follows
% 7012 2011
Liquid — calt <1 month 73 78
Less hquid — call 1- 3 months 2 6
lliquid — call > 3 months 25 16
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25 Reurement benefit and other post-reurement obligations continued
Changas in the values of plan assets and habiltzes of the retirement benefit plans are as follows '

017 2010
UK Group Other UK Growp Other

Al figores wn £ owlions plan plans Towl plan plans Touwd
Fair value of plan assets
Opening farr value of plan assets 2,008 149 2,157 1.847 135 1 982
Exchange differences - (5) (5). - | |
Expected return on plan assets N 8 119 107 7 14
Actuanal gains/(losses) 35 7 42 54 ()] 52
Contnbuuons by employer 72 2 74 71 8 89
Contrbutions by employee 2 - 2 3 - 3
Benefits paid . 78) (1) (89) (74) (19) (84)
Acquisition through business combination 12 15 27 - ~ -
Closing fair value of plan assets 2,162 165 2,327 2,008 149 2,157
Present value of defined benefit obligation
Opening defined benefit obligation (1.983) (197) (2.180)  (1.852) (178)  (2,030)
Exchange differences - 7 7 - - -
Current service cost (23) (3) 26) @n {3 (24)
Interest cost (96) 7 (103) {100) (8) (108)
Actuarial losses (144) (12) (156) (81) {18) {99)
Contnbutions by employee @) - 2) £)] - 3)
Benefits pard 78 I 89 74 10 84
Acguisition through business combination (i 1) {19) (30) - - -
Closing defined benefit obligavon (2.181) (220)  (2.400) {1,983 {197) (2,180}
Changes in the value of the US PRMB are as follows
AR fgures in £ mafhons 012 011
Opening defined benefit obligation (85) (72)
Exchange differences o 4 )
Current service cost (4 (3
Interest cost (3) (3)
Actuanal losses ) (%)
Benefits paid 4 4
Closing defined benefic oblgation (89) (85)
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25 Reurement benefit and other post-reurement obliganons conunued

The history of the defined benefit plans is as follows

All fgures in £ mellions 2012 2001 2010 2009 2008
Fair value of plan assets 2,327 2,157 1,982 1.727 1.578
Present value of defined benefit obligation (2.401) (2.180) {2,030) (1.967) {1.594)
Net pension (lab hity)/asset 74) {23) (48) (240) {16}
Experience adjustments on plan assets 42 52 90 56 {268)
Expenence adjustments on plan habilives (156) (99) (15) {351) 194
Funding

The UK Group plan s self-administered with the plan’s assets being held ndependently of the Group The trustees
of the plan are required to act in the best mterest of the plan’s beneficanes The most recent triennial actuarial
valuation for funding purposes was completed as at | January 2012 and this valuation revealed a funding shordall
The Group has agreed that the funding shortfal will be eliminated by June 2017 In20§2 the Group contributed
£48m (2011 £48m) towards the funding shortfall Following the completion of the tnennial funding valuation the
Group has agreed to contnbute £4Im per annum unt! 2017 1 excess of regular contributions In addition,

a mecharism has been agreed for the Group to make supplementary payments up to a maximum of £15m per
annum If such payments are made they are expected to accelerate the end date for exunguishing the deficit
Regular contributions to the plan are esumated to be £23m for 2013

The Group expects to contribute $80m n 2013 and $84m in 2014 to s US pension plans

Future benefit payments

The following table shows the expected benefit payments from the defined benefit plans over the next ten years
These use actuarial assumpuons as at 31 December 2012 These represent payments from the pension funds
to pensioners and others entitled to benefits, and are not an indication of payments frem the company

For company funding requirements, refer to the prior section

Delned
UK Group benefit
All dgures in £ mitions other Tom!
Expected future benefit payments
2013 77 27 104
2014 80 24 104
2015 85 2 107
2018 87 23 L0
2017 9) 18 109

2018 to 2022 combined 503 76 579
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25 Reurement benefit and other post-retirement obligations continued

Sensitivities

The net reurement benefit obligations are calculated using a number of assumpuons, the most significant being the
discount rate used to calkulate the defined benefit obligaton The effect of a one percentage pomnt increase and
decrease mn the discount rate an the defined benefit obligauon and the total penston expense « as {ollows

2041
AR figores an £ imellions 1% unerease X decraase
Effect an
{Decrease)/increase in defined benefit obligaton — UK Group plan (311 7) 3881
Decrease of aggregate of service cost and interest cost ~ UK Group plan o1 (12)
{Decrease)/increase in defined benefit obligation — US plan {11 &) 139
The effect of members living one year more or one year less on the defined benefit obligation 1s as follows
™3

| year | year
AR figures sn f meBions increase decreaase
Effect on
Increase/(decrease) in defined benefit obligation — UK Group plan 767 (739)
Increase/(decrease) in defined benefit obligation — US plan 21 21

The effect of a2 one percentage point increase and decrease in the assumed medical cost trend rates is as follows

2012
A3 fgures In £ melons MK noreme 1% decrene
Effect on

Increase/{decrease) in post-retirement medical benefit obligaton 29 26)
Increase/(decrease) of aggregate of service cost and interest cost 0l {0 1)
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26 Share-based payments
The Group recognised the fotoming charges n the rcome statement n respect of ds equity-settled share-based payment plans

Al fgures in £ melrons 012 2011
Pearson plans 28 36

Share-based payment charges included n discontinued operations amounted to £4m (2011 £4m)
The Group operates the following equity-settled employee opuon and share plans

Worldwide Save for Shares Pian Since 1994, the Group has operated a Save-As-You-Eam plan for UK employees
In 1998, the Group mtroduced a Woridwide Save for Shares Plan Under these plans employees can save a
portion of their monthly salary over periods of three, five or seven years At the end of this period. the employee
has the option to purchase ordinary shares with the accumulated funds at a purchase price equal to 80% of

the market price prevailing at the ume of the commencement of the employee’s participation in the plan

Options that are not exercised within s months of the end of the savings penod lapse uncondionally

Employee Stock Purchase Plan In 2000, the Group established an Employee Stock Purchase Plan which allows all
employees n the US to 5ave a poruon of their momthly salary over six-month periods At the end of the penod
the employee has the option to purchase ADRs with their accumulated funds at a purchase price equal to B5%
of the lower of the market price prevaling at the beginning or end of the period

Long-Term Incentve Plon This plan was first ntroduced in 2001, renewed in 2006 and again 12011 The plan
consists of restricted shares

The vesung of restricted shares 1s normally dependent on continuing service over a three to five-year perod, and in
the case of senior management upon the sausfaction of corporate performance targets over a three-year period
These targets may be based on market and/or non-market performance cntena Restncted shares awarded

to senior management n May 201 | and May 2012 vest dependent on relatve total shareholder return,

retrm on invested capital and eamings per share growth The award was split equally across all three measures
Other restricted shares awarded in 201 | and 2012 vest depending on conunuing service over a three-year penod

Annual Bonus Share Matching Plan This plan permits executive directors and semor executives around the Group to
invest up to 50% of any after tax annual bonus in Pearson shares If these shares are held and the Group meets an
earnings per share growth target, the company will match them on a gross basss of up to one matching share for
every invested share 1 e the maximum number of matching shares 15 equat to the number of shares that could
have been acquired wath the amount of the pre-tax annual bonus taken n nvested shares

The number and weighted average exercise pnces of share options granted under the Group’s plans are as follows

112 011
Weighied Weighted

Nunber of average Number of average

thare CPUGNS  EXENCISE HrIEe thyre OPOONS  EXEIER® prKe

0003 4 000s [ 4

Outstanding at beginning of year 3,203 715 8.878 1020
Granted dunng the year 1,321 9 0% 1.157 892
Exercised dunng the year _ (840) 559 (2.323) 727
Forferted during the year (294) 784 (457} 854
Expired dunng the year - (7 560 (4 052) 1412
Outstanding at end of year 3.373 824 3.203 715
Options exercisable at end of year 106 558 64 5 54

Options were exercised regularly throughout the year The werghted average share price dunng the year was
£1201 (2011 £11 14) Early exercises arising from redundancy, retirement or death are treated as an acceleravon
of vesting and the Group therefore recognises in the ncome staternent the amount that otherwise would have
been recognised for services received over the remander of the original vesung period
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The options outstanding at the end of the year have weighted average remamning contractual lives and exercise

prices as follows

2012 201)
Waessghted Weghed
Number of avenags Number of average
shars comrctudl share contracal
Range of exerase prices opucas hie opaons Wfe
£ 000s Yan [0 Years
0-5 - - - -
5-10 3,373 256 3,203 251
>0 - - — -
3.373 256 3.203 251
in 2012 and 201 ) options were granted under the Worldwide Save for Shares Plan The weighted average
estmated far value for the aptions granted was calculated using a Black-Schales option prnang mode!
The weghted average estimated fair values and the inputs nto the Black-Scholes mode! are as follows
2012 201)
- Waghted Wesghtad
average average
Fair value £2 38 £297
Woeighted average share price £11 51 £1) 47
Wesghted average exercise price €909 £892
Expected volaulity 23 62% 27 50%
Expected Ife 38years 40years
Rusk free rate 074% 191%
Expected dividend yreld 365% 337%
Forfesture rate 33% 35%

The expected volatlity is based on the historic volatility of the company's share price over the previous three to

seven years depending on the vesung term of the options

The {ollowng shares were granted under restricted share arrangements

2012 2011

Weghied Weghted

Number of average MNumber of average

thares farr value shares far value

0o0s £ 0005 ‘

Long-Term Incentive Plan 4,503 11 56 4,854 i0 44
Annuz| Bonus Share Matching Plan 237 b 52 285 1129

The fair value of shares granted under the Long-Term Incentrve Plan that vest unconditionally 1s determmed using
the share price at the date of grant The number of shares expected to vest s adjusted, based on historical
experience to account for potenual forfertures Restricted shares granted under the Annual Bonus Share Matching
Plan are valued using the share pnce at the date of grant Participants under both plans are enutled to dividends

duning the vesung pertod and therefore the share price 1s not discounted

Restricted shares with a market performance conditton were valued by an independent actuary using a Monte
Carlo mode! Restricted shares with a non-market performance condiwon were fair valued based on the share
price at the date of grant Non-market performance conditions are taken into consideration by adjusting the
number of shares expected to vest based on the mast likely cutcome of the relevant performance cntera
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27 Share capital and share premium

Number Ordnary Share

of thares shares premaum

000s m &

At | January 201 | 812,677 203 2,524
Issue of ordinary shares — share option schemes 2.949 [ 20
At 31 December 2011 815626 204 2,544
Issue of ordinary shares — share option schemes 1 417 — M
At 3| December 2012 817,043 204 2,555

The ordinary shares have a par value of 25p per share (2011 25p per share) All ssued shares are fully pad
All shares have the same rights

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entiues in the Group will be able (o conunue as a going concern
while maximising the return to shareholders through the opumisanon of the debt and equity balance

The caprtal structure of the Group consists of debt (see note 18), cash and cash equivalents (see note 17) and
equity attributable to equity holders of the parent comprising ssued capital, reserves and retained earnings

The Group reviews its capital structure on a regular basis and will balance 1its overall capstal structure through
payments of dvidends, new share isues as well as the issue of new debt or the redemption of existing debt
in line wath the financial nsk policres outdined in note 19

28 Treasury shares

Pearson pk
. Number
efshares
000s &n
At | January 201 | 14,009 137
Purchase of treasury shares 5,387 60
Release of treasury shares {4.731) {48)
At 31 December 201 | | 4,665 149
Purchase of treasury shares - -
Release of treasury shares (4 563) (46)
At 31 December 2012 10,102 103

The Group holds Pearson ple shares in trust to satisfy its obligations under its restnicted share plans (see note 26)
These shares, representing | 2% (2011 | 8%) of called-up share capttal, are treated as treasury shares for
accounting purposes and have a par value of 25p per share

The nominal value of Pearson plc treasury shares amounts to £2 Sm (2011 £3 7m)

At 3| December 2012 the market value of Pearson plc treasury shares was £1200m (2011 £177 4m)
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29 Ocher comprehensive mcome

All figares i £ mlsons

Amnbunable to equey holders of the Company

Transhion
rEarve

Retwned
amngs

Net exchange differences on translation of foreign operations
Actuanal losses on reurement benefit obligations — Group
Actuanal fosses on reurement benefit obligations - associate
Tax on items recognised In other comprehensive iIncome

36)

(119)
@)
55

Total other comprehensive expense for the year

236)

(67)

Al figures in £ mihons

Anonbuuble to equty holders of te Company

Transation
restrve

Retaned
[T

Net exchange differences on translauon of foregn operations
Actuanal gains on reurement benefit obligations — Group
Actuanal gains on reurement benefit obligations — associate
Tax on nerns recognised in other comprehensive income

(38

5o

®)
3

Total other comprehensive expense for the year

(38)

{61)

30 Business combinations

On {6 May 2012 the Professional business acquired Certiport, Inc Certport 1s based in the US and 15 a leading
prowvder of certification and assessment programmes in [T and digrtal Iteracy On 5 July 2012 the International
Education business completed the purchase of GlobalEnglish Carporanan, a leading provider of cloud-based,
on-demand business English learning, assessment and performance support software On 19 July 2012 Penguin
announced the acquistion of Author Solutions, Inc , the world's leading provider of professional self-publishing
services and on 2| Nevember 2012 the North American Educauon business acquired EmbanetCompass, a leading
provider of technology enabled online learning solutions The Group acquired a 100% interest in all of the

investments noted above
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30 Business combinations conunued

Prowvisional values for the assets and habthties arising from these and other acquismions completed in the year
together with adjustments to prior year acquisitions are as foliows

912 201
Authvor Global  Embanes
Ceruport  Solutons Engah  Compasa Ocher Toml Towl

AR figeres m € mulsons Notes  farvaue  farvie  frvilue  farvalue  farvilue fier valie fair viloe
Property, plant and equipment 10 - ! - 3 6 10 2!
Intangible assets " 49 35 36 74 Bé 280 375
Intangible assets — Pre-publication 2 5 - I - - 6 8
Inventores - - - - | ! 2
Trade and other recervables 5 8 8 13 - 34 58
Cash and cash equivalents (exduding overdrafts) 2 - 8 I8 6 34 151
Financal labihues — Borrowings - - - - - - (3)
Net deferred income tax habilities 13 (20) 3 3 @2 (9 (67) {96)
Retrement benefit obligations - - - - (2 2) 4
Provisions for other labilities and charges B - - - - (0 ) 78
Trade and other Inbihites (i) 28) () Q6) (4 () (M9
Current mcome tax habilipes - - {1 - - )] (2)
Non-controlling interest - - - - - - U]
Net assets acquired at fair value 30 13 i7 61 62 183 310
Goodwill " 58 56 46 150 (s} 505 620
Fair value of previously held interest arsing
on stepped acquisition - - - ~ - - {I5)
Total 88 69 63 411 57 688 9l5
Sausfied by
Cash (88) (6%9) (63) (#11) (51) (682) (913)
Deferred consideration - - - - (&) (6} -
Net prior year adjustments - - - - - - {2)
Total considerauon (88) (69) (63) (411} (57) (s88) (91%)

The goodwill ansing on these acquisitions results from substanual cost and revenue synergies and from benefits
that cannot be separately recognised, such as the assembled workforce

Intangible assets in other acquisitions includes £6%m relaung to pnor year acquisiions

The fair value of trade and other recervables 1s £34m and includes trade recervables with a far value of £26m
The gross contractual amount for trade recesvables due 15 £27m of which £ Im 1s expected to be uncollectable

A provisional value of £nil of goodwill arsing on 2012 acquisitions 1s expected to be deductible for tax purposes
(011 £1m)

Intangible assets acquired in 2012 have the followng useful economic hives Ceruport customer hsts and
relavonships 3-20 years, Author Solutions customer lists and relauonships 5 years trademarks and brands

20 years, other intangbles 7-20 years, Global English other intangibles |0 years As EmbanetCompass was
acquired 1n late 2012 the useful econome fves of iIntangible assets acquired are prowvisional and not yet finalised
Intangible assers acquired wath alt other acquisitions have useful economu Iives of 2-20 years
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30 Business combinations continued

AR Ggures in € melions w02 0N
Cash flow on acqusiuons _ U

Cash — Current year acquisitions } (682) (913)
Deferred payments for prior year acquisiions and other items @31 (5)
Cash and cash equwvalents acquired 34 151
Acquisition costs and ather acquisition iabilities paid (37 (2)
Net cash outflow 716) {779

Acquisitions in 2012 contributed £45m 1o sales and £5m to operating profit before acquisiiton costs and
amortisauon of acquired intangibles from the date of acquisiuon to the balance sheet date Of these amounts,
Ceruport contributed £20m of sales and a profit of £4m, Global English contributed £14m of sales and £2m
of profit and EmbanetCompass contnbuted £7m of sales and £1m of profit

If the acquisitions had completed on | January 2012, the Group estmates that sales for the period would have
been £5,168m and profit before tax would have been £444m

31 Disposals including busmess closures

Al figures o £ malsons MNotes 2012 W
Disposal of subsidiaries

Property, plant and equipment 10 3 -
Intangible assets n (45) (4)
Inventones - (7)
Trade and other recevables = &)
Cash and cash equrvalents {exciuding overdraks) - (&)
Net deferred income tax hiabilites ”3 N )
Retirement benefit obliganons - |
Trade and other liabiluies - 2
Current income tax l:abilizies - !
Non-controlling interest N /
Auttnbutable goodwill 1) (50) (4)
Net assets disposed 87) (14)
Costs (26) -
Loss on disposal (113) (14)
AD figures n £ millions 002 2011
Cash flow from disposals

Cash and cash equrvalents disposed - &
Costs pad {11} -
Net cash outflow an O]

The disposal in 2012 includes the write down of assets resulting from the closure of Pearson in Practice
The disposal in 201 | relates to Longman Nigena
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Notes to the consolidated finanaal statements continued

32 Held for sale

Assets classified as held for sale relate to Pengumn as a result of the announcement by Pearson and Bertelsmann

to combine Penguin and Random House

Al fgures 10 £ mions. Notes 2012 1011
Property, plant and equipment 10 40 -
Intangible assets " 404 -
Investments in joint ventures and associates 1 27 -
Deferred income tax assets 13 8 -
Orher financial assets 15 | -
Trade and other recenvables ) 451 -
Intangible assets - Pre-publication 0 16 -
Inventones 80 -
Cash and cash equivalents (excluding overdrafts) 17 il5 -
Assets classified as held for sale bI172 -
Financial abilives — Borrowings 18 7

Deferred income tax liabiliues 13 (20) -
Retirement benefit obligations 15 (26) -
Provisions for other abiies and charges 3 (29) -
Trade and other liabiities (234) —~
Liabilives directly associated with assets classified as held for sale (316) -
Net assets classified as held for sale 856 -

33 Transacuons with non-controlling interest

In 2012 the Group increased its investments 1 its subsidiaries m China 2t a cost of £4m In 2011 the remaning

non-controlling interest in Sistema Educzcional Brasifeiro was acquired for £108m
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34 Cash generated from operations
Al figures in £ millions Noxes 012 W01 E
Profit 329 956
Adjustments for
Income tax 167 199
Depreciation 0 80 70
Intangible charges n 183 139
Amortisation of other muangible assets H 54 48
Net finance costs 6 gl 7t
Share of results of joint ventures and associates 1 (%) (33)
Loss/ (profit} on disposals 113 (435)
Acquisition costs 2] 12
Costs on formation of Pengum Random House 32 -
Net foreign exchange adjustment from transactions 2 24
Share-based payment costs % 1 40
Pre-publication (55) 2
Inventores 49 5
Trade and other recewables 94 *)
Trade and other labilities - 31
Retirement benefit obligations (40 (65)
Provisions for other hlabihities and charges (5) 28
Net cash generated from operations 216 1.093
Drvidends from jont ventures and associates 27 30
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (78) (67)
Purchase of intangible assets 73 77
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment | 9
Proceeds from sale of intangible assets 3 3
Finance lease principal payments (8) (8)
Operating cash flow 788 983
Operating tax pad (65) (s
Net operating finance costs paid (66) (60)
Free cash flow 857 772
Dwvidends pard (ncluding to non-controlling interests) __(348) (319}
Net movement of funds from operations 309 453
Acquisitions and disposals (net of tax) (780} (420}
Purchase of treasury shares - (60)
New equity it 21
Other movements on financial instruments - (8)
Net movement of funds (460) (4
Exchange movements on net debt 41 (55)
Tortal movement i net debt 419 (69)
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Notes to the consohdated financial statements continued

34 Cash generated from operations conunued

Net cash generated from operations is uranslated at an exchange rate approximating to the rate at the date of
cash flow The difference between this rate and the average rate used to translate profit gives rise to a currency
adjustment in the reconciliauon between net profit and net cash generated from operations This adjustrment
reflects the timung difference between recognition of profit and the related cash receipts or payments

Operating cash flow, operaung free cash flow and total free cash flow are non-GAAP measures and have been
disclosed as they are part of Pearson’s corporate and operating measures

In the cash flow statement, proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment compnise

All figures In £ maltions 2012 200t
Net book amount | 9
Loss on sale of property, plant and equipment — -
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment [ 9

The principal other non-cash transactions are movements in finance lease obligations of £nit (2011 £10m)
35 Contngencies

There are contingent Group labilites that anse in the normal course of business in respect of ndemnives,
warranties and guarantees In relation to former subsidianes and in respect of guarantees in relation to subsidianes,
joint ventures and associates In addition there are contingent habilites of the Group in respect of legal clams,
contract disputes, royalties, copyright fees, permissions and other nghts None of these claims are expected o
result in a material gan or loss to the group

36 Commitments
There were no commitments for capital expenditure contracted for at the balance sheet date but not yet incurred

The Group leases various offices and warehouses under non-cancellable operating lease agreements The leases
have varying terms and renewal nghts The Group also leases vanous plant and equipment under operating lease
agreements, also with varying terms The lease expenditure charged to the income statement during the year 1s
disclosed in note 4

The future aggregate mimmum lease payments n respect of operatng leases are as follows

AD Sgures in £ maMaons 012 2001
Mot later than one year 186 179
Later than one year and not later than two years 174 164
Later than two years and not later than three years 158 149
Later than three years and not later than four years 137 134
Later than four years and not later than five years 124 19
Later than five years 899 980

1,678 1,725
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37 Related party transactions

Jont ventures and associates

Amounts advanced to joint ventures and associates during the year and at the balance sheet date are set out
in note 12 There are no materal amounts falling due from joint ventures and associates In December 2011,
the Group disposed of ns 50% interest in FTSE Internavonal Ltd and details of this transaction are also shown
n note 12

Key management personnel

Key management persannel are deemed to be the members of the board of directors of Pearson ple 1t s this
board which has responsibility for planmng, direcung and controlling the acovities of the Group Key management
personnel compensation 1s disclosed in the directors’ remuneration report

There were no other materal related party transactons
No guarantees have been provided to related parties
38 Events after the balance sheet date

In January 2013, the Group completed the purchase of a 5% equity investrnent in NOOK Media, LLC for $89 5m
NOOK Media 1s a new company consisung of Barnes & Noble's digital businesses including its NOOK e-reader
and tablets, the NOOK digitai bookstore and its 674 college bookstores across Amerka

In February 2013 the Group completed the purchase of the remaming minonty mterest in Tutorvista, the
Bangalore based tutoring services company, for £17m
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Notes to the consohidated financial statements continued

39 Accounts and audit exerptions

Following a change In legislavon in 2012 the Pearson ple subsidiary companies listed below are exempt from the
requirements of the Companies Act 2006 relatng to the audit of indvidual accounts by virtue of section 475A

Company number Company number
Aldwych Finance Ltd 04720439 Pearson Education Ltd 00872828
ASET Lid 04231636 Pearson Educavon Holdings Ltd 00210859
ASET Group Lid 03964551 Pearson Heinemann Lid 03099304
ASET Management Ltd 03139404 Pearson n Practice ATA Ltd 07679091
ASET Solunions Lid 03849880  Pearson i Practice Holdings Ltd 06337129
Blue Wharf Ltd 04344573 Pearson in Pracuce Skills Based Learning Ltd 03755464
Burmeda Investments Ltd 03060487 Pearson in Practice Technology Ltd 03786989
Edexcel Ltd 04496750 Pearson International Finance Lwd 02496206
Educauon Development Internauonal plc 03914767 Pearson Loan Finance Unhd 05144467
Embankment Finance Ltd 04460625 Pearson Loan Finance No 2 Unld 05632021
eNVQ Lid 03985948 Pearson Luxembourg Holdings Ltd 05052661
EQL Assessment Ltd 05224778 Pearson Luxembourg Holdings No 2 Ltd 02635107
Financial Times Group Ltd 00879531 Pearson Management Services Lid 00096263
Fronter UK Ltd 05737591 Pearson Overseas Holdings Lid 00145205
FT Business Informaton Ltd 00758738 Pearson Professional Holdings Lid 00149375
FT Labs Ltd 04701650 Pearson Services Lid 01341060
FT Personal Finance Ltd 03855520 Pearson Shared Services Ltd 04623186
Goal Ltd 03566588 Peter Honey Publications Ltd (03754757
Green Wharf Ltd 07009228 Sector Traning Ltd 05342448
Hoxtan Holdings Ltd 05052993 St Clements Press (1988) Ltd 02174119
lcodeon Lid 05068195 Testchange Lxd 02496240
Inframation Ltd 04581107 The Coaching Space Ltd 05333023
Joint Examining Board Ltd 03278422 The Financial Times {(Beneluwd) Ld 01613899
Longman Group (Overseas Holdmgs) Ltd 00690236 The Financizl Times (France) Ltd 00867316
MergerlD Led 07031999 The financal Times (Japan) Ltd 01613900
Midlands Educanonal Technology Ltd 01448842 The Ftnancial Times (M-M UK) Ld 01398449
Pearson Amsterdam Finance Lid 03041245 The Financial Times (SCP) Ltd 00519261
Pearson Austraha Finance Unlrd 05578463 The Financal Times (Spam) Ltd Q1214411
Pearson BOP Investments Lid 08038068 TQ Catalis Lid 07307543
Pearson Canada Finance Unhd 05578491 TQ Clapham Lid 07307925

Pearscn College Ltd 07967446
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39 Accounts and audit exempuons contnued
Followng a change in legistauon in 2012 the Pearson plc subsidiary companies listed below are exempt from the
requirements of the Companies Act 2006 to prepare indmdual accounts by wvirtue of section 394A

Company cumber Company number
Exec-Appointments Ltd 04010964 Mandatewire Ltd 03855296
FO! Intelligence Ltd s NI1C40129 The Finanaial News Lid 00507228
Financial Times Business Ltd 0202281 The Finanaal Times (Switzerland) Lid 01613901
Financial Times Electronic Publishing Ltd 02749250 The Financial Times (Zhongwen) Ltd 01900030
Financial Times Investor Ltd 04005565 Throgmorton Publications Lud 00905696
Fundex Ltd 00931507
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Company balance sheet
As at 31 December 2012

Al figures in £ ewlions Noces 012 2011
Assets . 5
Non-current assets
Investments in subsidianes 2 9.108 9,056
Amounts due from subsidranes 2,021 318
Financial assets — Dervauve financial instruments 6 174 177
11,303 9,551
Current assets
Amounts due from subsidaries 578 2,944
Prepayments 4 4
Financial assets — Dervative financial instruments 6 4 -
Cash and cash equivalents {excluding overdrafts) 4 643 469
1,229 3417
Total assets 12,532 12,968
Luabitities
Non-current liablines
Amounts due to subsidharies (4.227) {1,370)
Financial Irabilines — Borrawings 5 {473) (481)
Financial liabihities — Derrvative financial instruments 6 — )
(4700) (1.853)
Current liabilies
Amounts due to subsidiaries (1.953) (5.850)
Current income tax habilires {13) (10)
Financral habiltves - Borrowings 5 (618) (703)
Financial habihtres - Dervative financial instruments 6 - {1)
(2 584) (6.564)
Toral habiliuies (7.284) (8.417)
Net assets 5,248 4,551
Equiry
Share capnal ? 204 204
Share premwm 7 2555 2,544
Treasury shares ] Q27 (94)
Special reserve 447 447
Retained earnings 2,069 1,450
Total equity attributable to equity holders of the company 5.248 4,551

These financial statements have been approved for 1ssue by the board of directors on 7 March 2013 and signed

on its behalf by

Robin Freestone Chief financial officer
7 March 2013

2
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Company statement of changes in equity
Year ended 31 December 2012

Equaty atmbutabls to equity halders of the company

Share Share Treasury Speca Retzmed

All figures m £ qulhons apal premum shares reserve emng Toa)
At | January 2012 204 2,544 (94) 447 1,450 4551
Prafit for the year - - - - (001 1,011
Issue of ordinary shares under
share option schermes* - ! - - - 11
Contributions from subsidiaries
for treasury shares - - 21 - - 21
Release of treasury shares - - 45 - (46) -
Dwidends - — - -~ (346) {346)
At 3| December 2012 204 2,555 (27) 447 2,069 5,248

Equity attnbutable to equity holders of the company

Share Share Treasury Special Retained

Al figures in £ madbons capital préaum shares reserve arrungs Toul
At | January 2011 203 2,524 (82) 447 727 3819
Profit for the year - - - - 1,089 1,089
lssue of ordinary shares under
share option schemes* | 20 - - - 21
Purchase of treasury shares - - (60) - - {60)
Release of treasury shares - - 48 - (48) -
Dwvidends - - - -~ (3i8) (318)
At 31 December 2011 204 2.544 (94) 447 1.450 4.551

The special reserve represents the cumulative effect of cancellation of the company's share premium account

Included within retained earmimngs 1s an amount of £131m (2011 £131m) relating to profit on intra-group disposals

that is not distnbutable

* Full details of the share-based payment plans are disclosed in note 26 to the consokdated financial statements
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Company cash flow statement
Year ended 3| December 2012

AD Bgures n £ milhons Noxes 2012 2080

Cash flows from operaung activities

Net profit 1,011 1,089

Adjustments for

Income tax 39) {39
Net finance costs 103 85

Amounts due to subsidiaries (427) (217)
Net cash generated from operations 648 218

Interest pawd (93) (£12)
Tax recerved 43 57

Net cash generated from operaung acuvities 598 163

Cash flows from mvesung acuvities

Acquisition of subsidanes net of cash acquired - {114)
Interest recerved I -

Net cash received from /(used m) invesung activities I (14
Cash flows from financing acuviues

Proceeds from issue of ordinary shares 7 1 21

Net purchase of treasury shares - (60)
Repayment of borrowings {\ (307
Dwvidends paid to company's shareholders (346) (318)
Net cash used in financing acuvives {336) (664)
Effects of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 4) (29)
Net increase/(decrease) 1n cash and cash equivalents 259 (644}
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year {234) 410

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year * 25 (234)
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Notes to the company financial statements

| Accounung policies

The financial statements on pages | 66 to 174 compnise the separate financial statements of Pearson plc
As permitted by section 408 of the Companies Act 2006, only the consclidated ncome statement and statement
of comprehensive income has been presented

The company has no employees

The accounting policies apphed in the preparation of these company financial statements are the same as those
set out n note | to the consolidated financial statements with the addiuon of the following

Investments
Investrments in subsidianes are stated at cost less provision for impawrment, with the excepuon of certain hedged
investments that are held in a foregn currency and revalued at each balance sheet date

2 Invesuments in subsidiaries

AB figures i £ multhons w12 001
At beginning of year 9.056 9.180
Subscription for share capital in subsidiaries 110 279
Disposals/liquidations - (413)
Currency revaluations {58) 10
At end of year 9.108 3.056

3 Fwancial nsk management

The company's financial instruments comprise amounts due to/from subsidiary undertakings, cash and cash
equivalents, dervative financial instruments and current and non-current borrowings  Dernatve financial
mnstruments are held at fair value, with all other financial mstruments held at amortsed cost The company’s
approach to the management of financial nsks 1s consistent with the Group’s treasury policy, as discussed
in note 19 to the consolidated financial statements The company believes the value of its financial assets

to be fully recoverable

The company designates certain of its qualfying denvatve financial instruments as hedges of the far value of
its bonds (fair value hedges) Changes in the fair value of these derwvauve financial instruments are recorded

n the income statement, together with any change in the farr value of the hedged hability attnbutable to the
hedged rsk

The carrying value of the company's financial instruments 1s exposed to movements In interest rates and foregn
currency exchange rates (primarily US dollars) The company esumates that a |% increase in interest rates would
result in a £55m decrease in the carrying value of its financial instruments, with 3 1% decrease in interest rates
resulung in a £54m mncrease in their carrying value The company also estimates that a 10% strengthening in sterling
would decrease the carrying value of its financial instruments by £12ém, while a 10% decrease in the value of
sterling would increase the carrying value by £154m These increases and decreases in cammying value would be
recorded through the income statement Sensitivities are calculated using estimation techniques such as discounted
cash fliow and opuen valuation models Where modelling an interest rate decrease of 1% led to negauve interest
rates, these points on the yreld curve were adjusted to 0%
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Notes to the company financial statements conunued

3 Financra! risk management continued

The matunty of contracted cash flows on the company's barrowings and all of its denvatwe financial nstruments

are as follows

012
A fgares 1 £ mullons uso GpP Other Totwl
Nat later than one year (26) 3 | 22)
Later than ane year and not later than five years 105 21 21 147
Later than five years 155 - — 153
Toral 234 24 22 280
Analysed as
Bonds 232 285 - 517
Rate derivatives —inflows (326) (264} - (590)
Rate derivatives — outflows 328 3 22 353
Total 234 24 22 280
2011
Al fgures n £ mdkons UsD GBe Other Tout
Mot later than one year (24) 3 2 (19)
Later than one year and not later than five years 128 24 25 \77
Later than five years 176 — - 176
Toral 280 27 27 334
Analysed as
Bonds 251 303 - 554
Rate derwatives — inflows 297y (281} - (573
Rate denvauives —~ outllows 321 S 27 353
Total 280 27 27 334

All cash flow projections shown above are on an undiscounted basis Any cash flows based on a floaung rate are
calculated using interest rates as set at the date of the last rate reset. Where this is not possible, floating rates are
based on nterest rates prevaling at 3| December in the relevant year All derwative amounts are shown gross.

although the company net settles these amounts wherever possible

Any amounts drawn under revolving credit facilities and commercral paper are assumed to mature at the maturity
date of the relevant facily, with interest caleufated as payable in each calendar year up to and including the date

of matunty of the facility
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4 Cash and cash equivalents {excluding overdrafts)

71

Al Sgures w £ mibions w12 204
Cash at bank and i hand 1 -
Short-term bank deposits 642 469

643 469

Short-term bank deposits are invested with banks and earn interest at the prevailing short-term deposit rates

At the end of 2012 the currency spit of cash and cash equivalents was US dollar 63% (2011 2%) and sterling 37%

@011 98%)

Cash and cash equivalents have far values that approximate to thewr carrying amounts due to their
short-term nature

Cash and cash equivalents include the following for the purpose of the cash flow statement

AY figures in £ mullons w2 2011

Cash and cash equivalents 643 469

Bank overdrafts . (618) (703)

15 {234)

5 Financial liabilities — Borrowings

All figurea in £ mullsons 2002 2011

Non-current

7 0% Sterling Bonds 2014 (nominal amount £250m) 256 257

4 625% US Dollar Notes 2018 (nominal amount $300m) 217 224
473 481

Current _

Due within one year or on-demand

Bank loans and overdrafts 618 703
618 703

Total borrawings .09} 1.184

Included in non-current borrowings above 5 £3m of accrued interest (2011 £4m) Included in current borrowings

above 15 £nil of accrued interest (2011 £nil)
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Notes to the company financaial statements conunued

5 Financial habilites — Borrowings continued

The matunty of the company’s non-current borrowings 1s as follows

AN Sgures in £ mellions 012 200t
Between one and two years 256 -
Between two and five years ) - 257
Over five years 217 224

473 48|

As at 31 December 2012 the exposure to interest rate changes of the borrowings and amounts due to subsidiaries

when the borrowings re-price is as follows

Less than Ona to More than
Al figores w £ miluons. oAe year five yean five years Tord
Re-pnang profile of borrowings 618 256 217 1.091
Amounts due to subsidiaries 1,953 3,286 94| 6.180
Effect of rate dervatives 1,311 {480) (831) =
3,882 3,062 327 7.271
The carrying amounts and market values of borrowings are as follows
012 2011
Effectrve Carrymyg, Market Campng Market
Al figares in £ mulkons InTerest rate amount vaha e, value
Bank loans and overdrafts n/a 618 618 703 703
7 0% Sterling Bonds 2014 720% 256 274 257 282
4 625% US Dollar notes 2018 4 69% 217 209 224 206
1.091 1,100 1,184 1,191
The market values ire based on clean markex prices at the year end or, where these are notavailable on the
quoted market prices of comparable debt 1issued by other companies The effective interest rates above relate
to the underlying debt mstruments
The carrying amounts of the company's borrowings are denominated in the following currencies
AY fgures o £ mufhons. 2012 01
S dollar 255 373
Sterling 826 802
Euro 10 9
1.091 1,184
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6 Derwatve financial instruments

The company’s outstanding dervatve financial instruments are as follows

173

2012 011
Gross noucnal Gross novond

All figares in £ mlons amounts Aszets Liabtlues ANGUNES Astes Liabiroes

Interest rate derivatives —

in a fair value hedge relatronstup 234 35 - 43 35 -

Interest rate derivatives —

not in a hedge relatonship 1,292 109 - 1,030 119 -

Cross-currency denvatives 220 34 - 220 23 (3)

Tozal 1,746 178 - 1,493 177 (3)

Analysed as expining:

In less than ane year 215 4 - - - 4}

Later than one year and not |ater

than five years 701 69 - 946 81 (2)

Later than five years 830 105 - 547 96 —

Total 1,746 178 ~ 1,493 177 (3)

The carrying value of the above dervative financral instruments equals their fair value Fair values are determined
by using market data and the use of established esumauon techniques such as discounted cash flow and optien

valuation madels

7 Share capital and share premium

Number of Ordaary Share

shares shares premum

000s m m

At | January 201 | 812,677 203 2,524
Issue of ordinary shares — share option schemes 2,949 | 20
At 31 December 2011 B15626 204 2,544
Issue of ordinary shares — share option schemes 1417 - i
At 31 December 2012 817,043 204 2,555

The ordinary shares have a par value of 25p per share (201 |
All shares have the same rights

5p pershare) All issued shares are fully pad
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Notes to the company financial statements contnued

8 Treasyry shares

Number of
shares
000 im
At | January 2011 14,009 82
Purchase of treasury shares 5.387 60
Contnbuton from subsidiaries - -
Release of treasury shares (4,731) (48)
At 31 December 2011 14,665 94
Purchase of treasury shares - -
Cantnbuvon from subsidiaries - {10
Release of treasury shares (4.563) {46)
At 31 December 2012 10,102 27

The company holds 1its own shares in tust to satisfy its obligations under its restncted share plans These shares
are treated as treasury shares for accounting purposes and have a par value of 25p per share The nominal value
of the company's treasury shares amounts to £2 Sm (2011 £3 7m) At 3| December 2012 the market value of

the company’s treasury shares was £1200m (2011 £177 4m)

9 Contingencies

There are contingent liabiliues that arise in the normal course of business in respect of indemnities, warranbes

and guarantees in relation to former subsidiaries and i respect of guarantees in relation to subsidiaries n addition
there are contngent labiities n respect of tegal ctams None of these claims are expected to result in a matena
gain or loss to the company

10 Audit fees
Statutory audst fees relating to the company were £35.000 (201§ £35,000)
|} Related party transactions

Subsidianies
The company transacts and has outstanding balances with its subsidiaries Amounts due from subsidiaries
and amounts due to subsidianes are disclosed on the face of the company balance sheet

These loans are generally unsecured and interest is calculated based on market rates The company has interest
payable to subswiaries for the year of £171m (2011 £176m) and nterest recervable from subsidiarres for the
year of £64m (2011 £54m) Management fees payable to substdiaries in respect of centrally provided services
amounted to £47m (2011 £17m) Dividends recewved from subsidiares were £1,124m (2011 £1,47 1m)

Key management personnel

Key management personnel are deemed to be the members of the board of directors of the company

It 15 this board which has responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the actmviuies of the company
Key management personnel compensation is disclosed in the report on directors’ remuneration in the
consoldated financal statements

There were no other material ralated party transacuans




Secuon 6 Financul staternents 175

Principal subsidianes

The prinaipal operaung subsidianes at 31 December 2012 are bsted below They operate manly 10 the countnes
of incorporatcn or registration The investments are in equity share capital and they are all |00% owned

Country of NEHTPOMILGH OF MEgriinalon

Pearson Educauon

Pearson Education Inc us
Pearson Education Ltd England

NCS Pearson Inc Us

FT Group .

The Financial Times Ltd England

Mergermarket Lid England
The Penguin Group* _

Penguin Group (USA) Inc us

The Penguin Publishing Company Ltd England

Dorting Kindersley Holdings Ltd™ England

* The Penguin Group comparues have been included in disconumred operations

** Direct mvestment of Pearson pk

The company has taken advantage of the exempuon under Secuon 4 10(2) of the Comparies Act 2006 by
providing information only in relauon to subsidiary undertakings whose results or financial posiuon, in the opinion

of the directors, pnnapally affected the financial statements A complete list of subsidiary and associated
undertakings wall be included in the next Pearson plc annual return filed with the Registrar of Companies
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Five year summary

Al figures in £ millions 2008 2009 2010 ot 2012
Sales

North Amencan Education 2,002 2,470 2,640 2,584 2,658
Internatnional Education 866 1.035 1,234 1.424 1,568
Professional 144 275 313 382 320
Educauon 3412 3,780 4,207 4390 4616
FT Group 390 358 403 427 443
Continuing 3.502 4,138 4610 4817 5.059
Disconunued 1,317 1,486 1,349 1 (45 1,053
Total sales 4819 5.624 5,959 5.862 6,112
Adjusted operatmg profit

Nerth American Education 303 403 469 493 536
Intemavonat Educauon 135 141 171 196 216
Professional 36 43 51 66 37
Education 474 587 691 755 789
FT Group 74 39 60 76 49
Continuing A 548 626 751 83l 838
Discontnued 214 232 187 1l 98
Towl adjusted operaung profit 762 858 918 942 936
Operaung margin = conunuing 156% 15 1% 16 3% 17 3% 16 6%
Adjusted earmngs

Total adjusted operating profit 762 858 938 942 936
Net finance costs (88) o7 (85 (52) {52)
Income tax (178) (194) (215) (199) (204)
Non-controlling interest (36) (44 (17) | (3)
Adjusted earmings 460 523 621 692 677
Weighted average number of shares (millions) 7970 7993 8012 8002 8043
Adjusted earnings per share 57 7p 65 4p 77 5p 86 5p 84 2p
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AD fgures in £ muliana 2008 2005 2010 W 012
Cash flow .

Operating cash flow 796 913 1.057 983 788

Operaung cash conversion 104% 106% 113% 104% B4%
Operating free cash flow 631 723 904 772 657

Operaung free cash flow per share 79 2p 90 5p 1128p 96 5p 817

Total free cash flow 631 723 904 772 657

Total free cash flow per share 79 2p 90 Sp 112 8p 96 5p 817

Net assets 5.024 4,636 5.605 5.962 5710

Net debt 1,460 1.092 430 499 918

Return on nvested capial (gross baws)

Total adjusted operating profit 762 858 938 942 936
Cash tax pad (8%) (103 (85) (151) (65)
Return 673 755 853 791 871

Average invested capital 7.337 8.504 8315 8.731 9.578
Return on invested capital 9 2% 8 9% 103% 91% 9 1%
Dividend per share 338p 355p 387p 42 0p 45 Op
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Corporate and operating measures

Pearson's corporate and operaung measures include the results of Pengumn throughout 2012 as the business was
wholly owned during that period

Sales — underlying and constant exchange rate movement

Sales movement for continuing operations excluding the impact of 2cquisitions and disposals and movements
in exchange rates

All igeres o £ midivons 112
Underlying decrease 4)
Pordolo changes 318
Exchange differences 7
Tocal sales increase 250
Underlying decrease (%
Constant exchange rate Increase 5%

Adjusted ncome statement

Reconcthation of the consolidated income statement to the adjusted numbers presented as non-GAAP measures
n the financial statements

012
Ocher ner

Sacwory Odher net finance Tax Adpsted

ncome Drcontmued  pans and Acepmiton Intanghle mcomad  amoroRuon ncome

Adl fgures in £ mithons sauement operagons tosses costs charges cosu benefit  smtement

Operating profit 515 98 123 20 180 - — 936

Net finance costs (81) - - - - 29 - (5

Profir before tax 434 98 123 20 180 29 - 884

Income tax (148) (32) - {5) (54) {1} 36 (204)
Profit for the year from

continuing operations 286 66 123 15 126 28 36 680

Profit for the year from

discontinued operatoons 43 (66) 20 ! 2 - - -

Profit {or the year 319 - 143 16 128 28 36 680

Non-controlling interest 3) - - - — - - (3)

Earnings 326 — 143 16 128 28 36 677
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Wi
Qther net
Sattory COrher net fnance Tax Adugad
O Descontnued  gaans and Adgueinon Intanpible ncome/ aImonoon ncome
Al fgares i £ mulliong 1ntement Operapons lotses o charges cosTs beneft  smtement
Operaung profit i,118 It (435) 12 136 - - 942
Net finance costs {71) - - - - 19 - (52)
Profit before tax 1.047 11 (435) 12 136 19 - 890
Income tax (162) (38) 19 4 (43) (5) 34 (199
Profit for the year from
CONUNUING cperatons 885 73 (416) 8 93 14 34 651t
Profit for the year from
disconunued operations 71 73) - - 2 - - —
Profit for the year 956 - (418) 8 95 14 34 691
Non-controlling interest | - - - - - - !
Earnings 957 - (416) 8 95 14 34 692
Adjusted operatmng profit — underlying and constant exchange rate movement
Operating profit movement excluding the impact of acquisitions, disposals and movements in exchange rates
All figures m € miflions 012
Underlying decrease (14)
Portfolio changes 19
Exchange differences (1
Total adjusted operaung profit increase (6)
Underlying decrease (2%
Constant exchange_rate Increase 1%

MIAYIAG

FINVYHNGCINI4 400

|

ALTIOS NO LIVWLMWI NNO

ADINYNNIACD

SLNIMUILVLE IVIDNYHL




180 Pearson pk Annua) report and accounts 2012

Corporate and operaung measures contnued

Free cash flow per share

Operating cash flow for conunuing and discontnued operations before tax and finance charges, dvided by the

weighted average number of shares i issue

Al figures i £ rmthans 002 2011
Adjusted operaung profit 936 942
Cash conversion 84% 104%
Operating cash flow 788 983
Operating tax pad (65) (151
Net operaung finance costs pad {66) (60)
Total operaung free cash flow 657 772
Non operating tax pad - -
Total free cash flow 657 772
Weighted average number of shares in ssue (midlions) 8043 8002
Operating free cash flow per share Bl 7p 96 5p
Total free cash flow per share 81 7p 96 S5p
Return on invested capital

MNex mvesied caprat Gross nvested caputd
Al figures in £ millians 012 2041 w2 2001
Total adjusted operating profit 936 942 936 942
Intangible charges (183) (139) - -
Operating tax paid (65) (151) (65) (151)
Return 688 652 871 791
Average goodwill and other intangibles 6,371 5,680 8.550 7,684
Average net operating assets 1.028 1.047 1,028 1,047
Average invested capital 7.399 6,727 9.578 8.731
Return on invested capital 93% 9 7% 9 1% 9 1%

Return on invested capital is calcutated using two methods

Gross basis — total adjusted operaung profit less operatng cash tax paid expressed as a percentage of average
gross mnvested capial Gross invested capital ncludes the ongmal unamortised goodwil and intangibles

Net basis — tota! adjusted operating profit less intangible amorusavon and operating cash tax pad expressed as
a percentage of average net invested capital Net invested capital ncludes the carrying value {after amortsation) -

of goodwill and intangibles




Shareholder information

Pearson ordinary shares are listed on the London
Stock Exchange and on the New York Stock Exchange
n the form of American Depositary Receipts

Corporate website

The investors’ section of our corporate website
www pearson com/investors provides a wealth of
information for shareholders It is also possible to
sign up to recerve emat! alerts for reports and press
releases relaung to Pearson at

www pearson com/investors/announcements/
email-aterts

Shareholder information online

Shareholder information can be found on our website
www pearson com/investors/shareholder-
information

Our registrar, Equiniti also provides a range of
shareholder information online You can check your
holding and find practical help on transferring shares or
updating your details at www shareview ¢o uk For
more information, please contact our registrar,
Equinu, Aspect House, Spencer Road, Lancing, West
Sussex BN99 6DA Telephone 0871 384 2233* or, for
those shareholders with hearing difficulties, textphone
nurnber 0871 384 2255*

Information about the Pearson share price

The company’s share price can be found on our
website at www pearsgn com |t also appears in the
financial columns of the national press

2012 Dividends

Payment date Amdunt per share
Interim 14 September 2012 15 pence
Final 3 May 2013 30 pence

Payment of dividends to mandated accounts

Should you elect to have your dividends pawd through
BACS, this can be done directly into a bank or building
society account, with the tax voucher sent to the
shareholder’s registered address Equinits can be
contacted for information on 087 | 184 2043+

Dividend remvestment plan (ORIP)

The DRIP gives shareholders the right to buy the
company’s shares on the Londoen stock market
with their cash dwvidend For further imformaton
please contact Equiniti on 0871 384 2268*

Section 6 Fmanoal statements 18}

Indvidual Savings Accounts (ISAs)

Equinit offers ISAs in Pearson shares For more
informaucn, please go to www shareview co uk/dealing
or call customer services on 0845 300 0430*

Share dealing facihities

Equinit offers telephone and internet services

for dealing in Pearson shares For further

nformauon, please contact ther telephone dealing
helpline on 08456 037 037 (weekdays only) or. for
online dealing, log on te www shareview co uk/dealing
You will need your sharehalder reference number

as shown on your share certificate

A weekly postal dealing service 1s also avarlable
through Equinits Please telephone 0871 384 2248* for
details or Jog on to www shareview co uk to download
a form

ShareGift

Shareholders with small holdings of shares, whose
value makes them uneconomic to sell, may wish to
deonate them to ShareGift, the share denauon chanty
(registered charity number 1052686) Further
information about Share Gt and the charmes it has
supported may be obtaned from ther website,
www ShareGift org or by contacting them at

17 Carlton House Terrace, London SW1Y 5AH

American Depositary Receipts (ADRs)

Pearson’s ADRs are listed on the New York Stock
Exchange and traded under the symbol PSO Each ADR
represents one ordinary share For enquines regarding
registered ADR holder accounts and dvidends,

please contact The Bank of New York Melicn,

PO Box 43006, Providence, R) 2940-3006,

telephone | (866) 259 2289 (toll free within the US)
or 001 201 680 5825 (outside the US) Alternatively,
you may e-mail shrrelatrons@bnymellon com, or log
on to www bnymellon com/shareowner Voung nghts
for registered ADR holders can be exercised through
The Bank of New York Mellon, and for beneficial
ADR holders (and/or nominee accounts) through
your US brokerage mstitution Pearson will file with
the Securiies and Exchange Compmussion a Form 20-F
*Calls to these numbers are charged at 8p per minute plus

network extras Lines open 8 30am to 5 30pm Monday
o Fnday
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Shareholder information continued

Share register fraud protecting your investment

Pearson does not contact sts shareholders directly to
prowvde recommendauon advice and neither does it
appoint third parties to do so As required by law, our
shareholder register 1s avatlable for public inspection
but we cannot control the use of nformauon obtamned
by persons inspecting the register Please treat any
approaches purporung to ongmate from Pearson

with caution

For more informauion, please log on to our website at
www pearsen com/investors/shareholder-
nformauon/managing-your-shares and

www pearson com/shareholderfags

Tips on protecting your shares

» Keep any documentation that containg your
shareholder reference number in a safe place and
shred any unwanted documentanon

» Inform our registrar, Equinit promptly when you
change address

» Be aware of dividend payment dates and contact the
registrar if you do not recerve your dvidend cheque
or better sull, make arrangements to have the dividend
paid directly nto your bank account

» Consider holding your shares electromcally in a CREST
account via a nominege

2013 Financial calendar

Ex-dmdend date 3 Apri
Record date S Apnil
Last date for dvidend reinvestment

elecuon 12 Aprd
Annual General Meetng 26 April
Payment date for dmdend and share

purchase date for dwvidend reinvestment 3 May
Interim results 26 July

Payment date for interim dwidend 13 September




Principal offices worldwide

Pearson plc
80 Strand,
London WC2R ORL, UK
-T +44 (0)20 7010 2000
F +44 (0)20 7010 6060
firstname lastname({@pearson com
www pearson com

Pearson Inc

1330 Avenue of the Americas,
New York City,

NY 10019, USA

T+1212 641 2400

F+1212 &4 2500

firstname lastname@pearson com
Www pearson com

Pearson North America

One Lake Streer, -
Upper Saddle River,

NJ 07458, USA

T +1 201 236 7000

F+1201236 3222

firsthame tastname{@pearson com

www pearsoned com

Pearson Internacional

190 High Holbomn,

London WCIV 7BH, UK

T +44 (0)207190 4190

F +44 (0)20 7190 5700

firstname lastname@pearson com
WWW pearson com
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Financal Times Group (UK)
Number One Southwark Bridge,
London SEI 9HL, UK

T +44 (0)20 7873 3000

F+44 (0)207873 3922
firstname lastname@ft com
www ft com

The Penguin Group (UK)

80 Strand,

London WC2R ORL, UK

T +44 (0)20 7010 3000

F +44 (0)20 7010 6060

firstname lastname@uk penguingroup com
www penguin co uk

The Penguin Group (USA)

375 Hudson Street,

New York City,

NY 10014, USA

T+ 212366 2000

F+1212366 2666

firstname lastname@us penguingroup com
US PENGUINZrOUP COM

Pearson ple
Registered number 53723 (England)
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Notes

Reliance on this document

Qur Business Review on pages 02 to 43 has been
prepared n accordance with the Directors’ Report
Business Review Requirements of secuon 417 of the
Companies Act 2006 It also incorporates much of
the gurdance set out in the Accounting Standards
Board's Reporung Statement on the Operating and
Financial Review

The mtention of this document Is to provide
mformation to shareholders and 15 not designed 1o be
relied upon by any other party or for any other
purpose

Forward-looking statements

This document contains forward-looking staternents
which are made by the directors in good faith based
on information avadable 1o them at the nme of
approval of this report In particular, all statements that
express forecasts, expectations and projections with
respect to future mauters, including trends in results of
operations, margins, growth rates, overall market
trends, the impact of interest or exchange rates, the
avalabilny of financing, anucipated costs savings and
synergies and the execution of Pearson’s strategy, are
forward-looking statements

By their nature, forward-looking statements involve
risks and unzertamnties because they relate to events
and depend on circumnstances that will occur in the
future There are a number of factors which could
cause actual results and developments to differ
materially from those expressed or implied by these
forward-looking statements, includng a number of
factors outside Pearson’s control Any forward-looking
statements speak only as of the date they are made,
and Pearson gives no undertaking to update forward-
looking statements to reflect any changes in its
expectations with regard thereto or any changes to
events, condiions or circumstances on which any such
statement is based -




Graphi removed

Deagn and Producoon, Radiey Yeldar (London) ww £y com
Prine Pureprint Group

Pearson has supported the planting of 550 square metres
o new naove woodland wath the Woodland Trust helping
w remove 21 wnnes of Carbon doxide smesaons
generated by the prodution of s repore.

Thus report has been pnnted on Edwon Challenger
Offyet which is FSC® cernfied and made kom 100%
Bemental Chlonne Free (ECF) pulp The mdl and the
pnnter are both cerufied to SO 11001 environmental
manigement syytem and registered 1o EMAS the eco
manzgement Audit Scheme. The report was prnted
ving vegttable based nks by a CarbonNeural® proter




Learn more at www.pearson.com

Pearson plc

B0 Strand

London

WC2R ORL

T +44 (0y20 7010 2000
F +44 (0)20 7010 6060

ALWAYS LEARNING
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